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of the prisoners, a large Indian by the name of Wolf Skin, who was very 
talkative, tried to make his escape by running, but his guard at that time be­
ing the fleetest runner in the command, overhauled his prisoner in 100 yards 
distance and brought him back to camp. After this the prisoners were all 
tied until morning. 

Early dawn revealed the fact that half of Five Crow's army was on the 
hills surrounding camp, which substantiates without a doubt the narrative 
related by the young Nez Perce prisoner. 

On the morning of the 7th of December, 1855, commenced the battle of 
Walla Walla. Companies Band H crossed the Touchet and formed in line 
on the plain; companies I and K soon fell into line, companies A and F being 
ordered to take charge of the baggage train and prisoners. The Indians had 
been gathering in considerable numbers on our left and front, and before 
any movements were made the report of a gun was heard on our left. This 
seemed to be the signal to charge, as the companies formed in line and dash­
ed forth, opening a heavy fire on the enemy as they ran. A running fight en­
sued across the hills eastward to the Walla Walla river, the volunteers pur­
suing the Indians at the top of their speed, shooting whenever an opportuni­
ty presented itself. Those having the fastest horses sped away, leaving 
others behind, until they became widely scattered. The horse I rode was a 
small, heavy-set cayuse, which seemed, when jumping over the sagebrush, 
to be going up one side and down the other. The consequences were, I didn't 
get along as fast as some, but I soon found I was nearing the front from the 
sound of musketry and the deafening yells of the Indians. The forces of the 
enemy kept increasing in numbers from the time the skirmish commenced 
until we reached the La Roche (LaRoque) cabin, on the Walla Walla river, 
while the forces of the volunteers were growing less. Here the enemy 
became more stubborn and slow to move along. This gave the volunteers 
who had been left behind an opportunity to come to the front. The Indians 
were driven almost at the point of the bayonet only a short distance above 
the La Roche cabin, two miles below Whitman's station, and eight miles 
from the place where the fight commenced. 

By this time their whole force became engaged in the battle, and estimates 
were made by different ones, ranging from 600 up to 2000. My own 
estimate, put down in my diary at the time, was 1000. Colonel Kelly, in his 
official report, estimated the number of warriors engaged in the fight at 600. 

From Governor Stevens' report (1000 to 1200 warriors) my estimate is 
low; but, be this as it may, their numbers became so overwhelmingly in ex­
cess of ours that our forces were checked. The hills were on our left and the 
Walla Walla river on our right. Here they formed a line across the plain, 
from the foothills to the river, it being partially covered with brush, while 
the hills were covered with mounted hostiles, who played an active part, 
commanded by leaders of matchless skill and daring. Their purpose was to 
leave no foes to rise behind them; their policy was the policy of extermina­
tion; their flags were the scalps of our people, murdered in cold blood, 
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whose gray locks floated from poles raised on every prominent point on the 
hills to our left, with a squad of those bloody fiends dancing the war dance 
around them. From the brush on the plain and the timber on the river they 
poured a murderous fire on the volunteers, who were compelled to fall 
back. This was the hottest place anywhere during the engagement. Here 
Henry Crow and S.S. Van Hagerman fell mortally wounded and several 
others were wounded. At this critical moment Lieutenant J.M. Burrows 
with a small detachment was ordered to cross the fence that surrounded the 
La Roche field and charge upon the Indians in the brush, the writer being 
one of the number who crossed, and when only a few steps beyond the 
fence the brave Burrows fell dead and Captain Munson and several others 
were wounded. A dispatch having been sent to Captain Wilson of Com­
pany A to come forward, he and his company came at full speed, dis­
mounted, and with fixed bayonets pushed their way through the brush, 
driving the enemy before them. In a short time Captain Bennett with Com­
pany F was on hand, and with these reinforcements the Indians were driven 
about one mile farther up the Walla Walla river, where they took posses­
sion of a house with a close built fence around it. In attempting to dislodge 
them Captain Bennett of Company F, and Private Kelso of Company A, 
were killed. 

Soon after this a howitzer, found at Fort Walla Walla, was brought to 
bear upon them by Captain Wilson, but having nothing but a sandhill to lay 
the piece on, when firing the fourth round it burst, wounding Captain 
Wilson, but dispersing the enemy from their stronghold. This was im­
mediately followed up by the volunteers, and the bodies of Bennett and 
Kelso were recovered. The baggage train and flag of truce prisoners had 
already arrived at the La Roche cabin, which was used as a hospital. Peu 
Peu Mox Mox, with his stentorian voice, began to cheer up his warriors and 
encourage them to be brave, receiving responses from them at short inter­
vals. Colonel Kelly had just rode from the front back to the hospital, when 
Frank Crabtree came in with his shoulder shattered and his arm dangling by 
his side, and reported Captain Layton wounded, and surrounded with five 
or six others on the hills at the front. Just at this critical moment the ques­
tion was asked, 'What shall be done with the prisoners7" Colonel Kelly took 
in the situation at once and said, ''My men are all needed at the front. Tie or 
kill them, I don't care a d-n which," and rode back to the front. Ropes were 
procured to tie the prisoners, but they refused, except one, a young Nez 
Perce, who crossed his hands and said he wanted to be tied. One very large 
Indian, known by the name of Wolf-Skin, who was very talkative and who 
tried to escape from the guard the night before, drew a large knife concealed 
in his legging, uttering a demon-like yell, and began to cut his way through 
the guard, wounding Sergeant-Major Isaac Miller severely in the arm. The 
others, except the Nez Perce, who had been tied, were trying to make their 
way through the guards and escape to the hills, but their efforts were futile. 
It was only the work of a moment, brought on by their own remorseless 
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hands, when they fell to the ground weltering in their gore. If the body of 
Peu Peu Mox Mox was mutilated, the act was brought on by a relentless 
foe, whose mode of warfare always was insensible to the feelings of others. 
At this time and place tho~e brave volunteers had their feelings wrought up 
to the highest pitch, and their excitement ran wild as they saw the scalp, 
perhaps of a brother, a sister, or some relative, flapping from the top of 
some pole planted on a prominent point on the hills to our left. A fair and 
candid mind could hardly look on the scene before him without exonerating 
the boys in all that was done. 

The contest lasted till after sundown, when the Indians withdrew and the 
volunteers returned to the La Roche cabin tired and hungry, having had 
nothing to eat since early morning. Camp fires were built, and camp kettles 
and coffee pots were hung over the blaze to prepare a scanty meal for the 
boys who had fought so nobly for us during the day. A guard of twenty, the 
writer being one, were on their way up the hillside to be stationed on duty. 
When about 300 yards from camp a ball from the enemy's gun came whiz­
zing by; the wind from it was forcibly felt. Over went the camp kettles and 
coffee pots to extinguish the fires, and all hands were on guard till morning, 
the enemy firing a few shots into camp during the night. 

Early on the morning of the 8th a hasty meal was prepared and partly 
eaten when the Indians came with increased forces, retaking all the posi­
tions they were driven from the day before. Lieutenant Pillow with Com­
pany A, and Lieutenant Hanan with Company H, were ordered to charge 
upon and drive them from the brush on the plain and the timber skirting the 
river, and hold these positions if possible. Lieutenant Fellows with Com­
pany F, Lieutenant Jeffreys with Company B, Lieutenant Hand with Com­
pany I, and Captain Cornoyer with Company K, were ordered to take 
possession of the most available points on the hills, and assail the enemy at 
other places if practicable. The Indians fought for their positions with all the 
skill and bravery of the previous day, especially in the brush, where they 
fought like demons. Three of Company H and one of Company A were 
wounded, but they were driven from their stronghold, where they shot with 
the skill and precision of a marksman. I saw Lieutenant Hanan while in a 
low place pull off his coat, hang it on the end of a pole, then place his hat on 
top and raise it above the brush; in an instant the brush was mowed around 
the object by bullets from the enemies' guns. But few shots were exchanged 
after darkness came on, and the warwhoop ceased as the Indians withdrew 
froin the field. That night a courier was sent with a dispatch to Fort Henriet­
ta for companies D and E to come in haste to the battlefield. On the morn­
ing of the 9th they were at their work again, but not so early as on the 
preceding morning. The volunteers being fatigued and nearly worn out, 
Colonel Kelly chose to act on the defensive and hold the position, the same 
as before, until Companies D and E from Fort Henrietta came to reinforce 
us. During the day attacks were made on Companies A and H in the brush, 
and B on the hills, whic~"!_esulted in great loss to the enemy. T~ther com-
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panies on the hills did good service in repelling the attacks made on them 
during the day. 

Early on the morning of the 10th it was discovered that the enemy _had 
possession of every available position that_ was held by u~ the _previous 
days. As soon as breakfast had been eaten Lieutenant McAuhff, with Com­
pany B charged on the Indians who had taken possession of the breastworks 
thrown up by them the day before, on the point of a hill, to protect them 
from the flying bullets from our guns. They had not taken such a deep hold 
in the brush as usual, on account of the severe loss they sustained the day 
before. Companies A and H soon recovered the brush, and drove them 
from the pits on the sand knoll. The companies from the hills made prepara­
tions for a charge, and as many as had horses suitable for the occasion were 
mounted, and gallantly charged the enemy in the face of a heavy fire, scat­
tering them in all directions, to return to the battlefield no more. 

Thus ended the long contested struggle between contending foes. Colonel 
Kelly in his official report says: '1 cannot say too much in p~aise of the co~­
duct of the officers of the several companies, and the soldiers under their 
command. They did their duty bravely and well during those four days of 
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The loss Company H sustained, killed and wounded dunng the engage-

ment, nearly equaled that of all the other companies, as will be seen fr~m 
the list of killed and wounded: Captain Charles Bennett, Company F, kill­
ed; Lieutenant J.M. Burrows, Company H, killed; privates Andrew Kelso, 
Company A, killed; S.S. VanHagerman, Company I, killed; Jasper Flemm­
ing, Company A, mortally wounded; Joseph Sturdevant, Company B, mor­
tally wounded; Henry Crow, Company H, morta~ly wound~d; Sergeant 
Major Isaac Miller, Company H, wounded; Captain A.V. Wilson, Co~­
pany A, wounded; Captain L.B. Munson, Company I, wounded; Captain 
Davis Layton, Company H, wounded; privates Casper Snook, Company 
H, wounded; T .J. Payne, Cotrtpany H, wounded; Frank Crabt~ee, Com­
pany H, wounded; Nathan Fry, Company H, wounded; John Smith, ~om­
pany H, wounded; A.M. Addington, Company H, wounded; Isaac Md~er, 
Company H, wounded; Frank Duval, Company A, wounded; G. W. Smith, 
Company B, wounded; J.B. Gervais, Company K, wounded. 
It's a difficult matter to get the exact number of Indians killed in time of bat­
tle. The bodies of 39 were counted on the battle field after it was all over, 
and it is estimated that at least 30 were carried off in time of battle and that 
many more were dragged away at night by putting ropes around their necks 
and pulling them with a horse. It was plain to see the trails where they were 
dragged away. At that time no one put their loss in the field at less than 100. 
The ratio of wounded to the number killed is generally estimated at two and 
a half to one. At this ration the killed and wounded during the battle would 
be 350. This would be at a close estimate one-third of all their warriors 
engaged in battle. 

On the 1st of June 1858, the volunteers were discharged by proclamation, 
and on the 8th of June I arrived at my place of residence in Linn County. a,1~ 
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qEORGE TOMPKINS POLLARD, a 

U 
farmer of Columbia .. county, was bo1:n 
in Shelby county, l\.entncky, June lo, 
1835, a son of Roger Baxter and Sarah 

Caldwell (Smith) Pollard. The paternal an­
cestors are of Encrlish origin and founders of 
the family in thi/'country, h~ving lo~ated in 
Yirofoia and the father of our su t,~cct was 
Lor~ in 'Richmond, that State. Th/~ mother 
was born in Rockingha_m connty, Yirgi 1!ia, and 
her parents ,,ere of German ancestry. Hoger 
B. Pollard, a carpenter by trade, mO\·ed from 
Yirainia to Shelby county, Kentncky, was there 
tna;;ied, and in 1841 located on the Platte pt~r­
chase, at St. Joseph, Bncbanan connty, Mis­
souri. At that time St. Joseph contained Lut 

one lwusc. Both l\fr. auJ Mrs. Polia1·<l Jfo<l at 
that city, the father in 1870, and the mother in 
1874. 

Georae T. the subJ·ect of this sketch, was 
0 ' f . . reared at St. Joseph from the age o six t? six-

teen years. In 1852 he cros~ed the plains to 
California with a company that started fro_m 
what is now Fillmore, in Andrew county, .M1s­
i::ouri and among whom ,vere the Rohrers. A 
man 'named Eilis was in command during the 
latter portion of the trip, their first_ captain 
havino- died at Ash Hollow, on the plarns, after 
whicl~his family retn;ued to the States .. Their 
route was by Forts Kearney and Laramie, As_h 
Hollow (where they buried se,·eral of. theu· 
party who had died from cholera), Fort Ilr1d~er, 
Salt Lake City, Ogden, Carson, and turnmg 
from the main road arrived at Volcano, Amador 
county, in the latter part of August. Mr. Pol­
lard began mining at that place, but was only 
moderately successfnl, as the winter was _severe 
and provisions high, flonr hadn~ be~n 7o ce?ts 
per pound, beef 50 cents, etc. ~)nrrng th~ fo~­
lowino- sum rner and winter ho nuncd at l\J 1ch1-
0'fin bar on the Cosumnes rirnr; on Jnly 3, 
b ' 
1855 procf:'eded to Portland, OreO"on, thence to 

' 
0 

l t'· I Salem, and next ,~ent to visit his brot ier, "'~ 1-

ard IL, in Linn county. While there the lndrnn 
outbreak occurred, in which Indian A.gent llo­
lancl was killed on the Yakima reservation. The 
~olclierti were deftmted and returned to the 
Dalles and when the Urccron ,,olnnteers were 
called ' for ::r.rr. Pollard ~ined Company F', 
under Captain Bennett, at Salem. They fought 
the Indians at the Yakima reserrntion, where 
Captain Bennett was also killed. That officer 
had promised Mr. Pollard that he should be 
gh·en hi:; discharae in time to return and l1old 
his claim in Califurnia, hut the Captain's death 
pre,·ented the carrying out of this agreement, 
and he therefore lost his mining claim in the 
Golden State. In the following spring, when 
Colonelti Wright and Steptoe took control, l\~r. 
Pollard was employed by them to carry supplies 
from the Dalles to the soldiers and Indians in 

the Yakima country, and afterward frei~hted 
from ·w alla Walin. In 1858 he went to Oregon 
and bouD'ht stock, but later took up 160 acres 
where he° now resides, near Hun t~,·ille, Colnm­
bia connty, ·washington. He now has 520 
acres of land in the home place, also a stock 
ranch of 320 acres in Lower Union Flat, in 
,vhitman county, lrnlf way between Pampa and 
Endicott, and two and n half miles from La 

Crosse. llo keeps about 100 head o! Shorthorn. 
and Holstein cattle, and about tlurty head of 
Percheron horses. His stock ranch is now leased 
to the Fudge Brothers. On the home ranch 
he raises wheat, rye, barley and corn, and usually 
summer-fallows about 200 acres each year. 

Mr. Pollard was married in Walla Walla 
county, Angust _12, 1860, _to Miss Harriet L. 
,viseman, a native of Indiana and a daughter 
of John ,v. and Catherine (Smith) Wiseman, 
the former a nath·e of Kentucky. The mother 
died when she was a mere child. She came 
from Linn county, Oregon, to \Valla WalJa. 
Mr. and Mrs. Pollard have ten children, namely: 
Melissa Ann, wife· of W. R. Bowyer; Mary 
Caldwell. wife of John Davis, of Elberton, 
Whitma~ county; Oliver W., who resides ?t 
Huntsville; Etta, wife of Joseph Franklm 
Brown also of Elberton; Ella, wife of Samuel 

' C L. Gilbreath, a farmer at the home place; or-
delia, Minnie, Geurge Franklin, llobert :1\Iaston 
and Roy Emerson. l\~r. and Mrs: Poll~rd are 
members of the H untsv1lle l\Iethod1st Episcopal 
Church. The former alrn affiliates with the 
Democratic party; has been many times a dele­
gate to county co1n-entio11s; has served as School 
Director about thirty years, and has done much 
toward givino- the school of his district its 
present rank ~s one of the best in Washington. 
.Mr. Pollard also l1as the honor of having been 
appointed one of the commissioner~ to organize 
Col nm bia county. 



lROHIMEDES HANAN.-Perhaps the 
most noteworthy character in Columbia 

JJ county, Washington, from the stand­r point of history, is he whose name heads 
this article, and a brief outline of his career is 
essential in this connection. 

He was born in Harrison county, Kentucky, 
about three milea \\"est of Cynthiana, Nornmber 
9, 1810, his parents being James Marshel and 
.Margaret (McFall) Hanan. His father was born 
in ,Vales, and his mother probably in Kentucky. 
The father was a patriot soldier dnrina the 
ll C) 

~evolutionary war, and was wounded at the 
battle of "White Plains. Dnrina the same strug­
gle the mother of our enhjec:t 7tnd her parents 

were captured by the British and Indians, and 
were taken to Montreal, but ,vere subseq nently 
returned. Two of our subject's brothers, John 
and James Hanan, were in the war of 1812, 
and the latter was at Fort Erie when it ,vas 
blown up. His mother's father located a large 
tract of land in Kentucky, and ga\·e all his 
children considerable property, but all sold out 
and left there except Mrs. Hanan, who resided 
on the place giv~n to her nntil her death, about 
18i2. Our subject resided on that homestead 
until one year after his mother's death, and then 
for a portion of one year lived with his eldest 
brother, John Hanan. After this he went to 
Missouri, in company with his younges-t brother, 
Thomas, who was killed by the Indians in Cali­
fornia in 1849. They located on what was 
known as Looking-glass prah-ie, and the house 
in which they lived occupied the highest in­
hal,itcd spot on the Missouri side of the .Mis­
sissippi river, eighteen miles below the month 
of the Des Moines. In this pioneer region, 
where far more Indians were to be seen than 
whites, he soon attained a fair command of the 
ln<lian dialect, and although then a mere lad 
hecitme acqnainted with Black Hawk and many 
other Indians whose names subsequently Le­
came well known in the history of that region. 

1 n the spring of 1827 he accompanied his 
hrothcr to the F.cene of the lead discoveries in 
Illinoi5, hut his 'brother soon returned to Mis­
souri, though he himself remained and was at 
Galena when that name was given to the little 
mining town which sprang up as if by magic. 
In the fall of the year he weut back to Missoari, 
an<l there found his eldest brother and his third 
brother, who had come out from Kentucky. 
The latter and the youngest brother went back 
to the Blne Grass State, and our snhject, with 
the other brother, \\:ent to Fulton county, Illi­
nois, and located at Canton, which then con­
sisted of four or five log cabins. In the follow­
ing spring he went back to· the mines at Galena, 
remained through the summer in that vicinity 
and in and around Mineral Point, and saw 
some of the effects of the war between the 
whites and the Winncbagoes. He sold out his 
interest in a lead mine at Mineral Point for 
8300 (on credit) to a man who a short time 
later sold ont at an advance and left, and young 
Hanan never realized a cent from his property. 
He spent that winter at Canton, ancl in the 
spring again went back to the mines, retnrning 
again in the fall to Canton. In 1829 he lived 

near Canton, in the family of a sister. and in 
the same home lfred a Presbyterian minister 
who gave him a Bible, which Mr. Hanan still 
retains. In 1830 he went back to the mines, 
and drove an ox team that season. He alternated 
between the mines and Canton until the Black 
Hawk wa1· broke out, when he was at Mineral 
Point with a team, and joined ·Dodge's scout­
ing party, consisting of twenty-seven, all told. 
He afterward joined the company commanded 
by John Hood. When the war closed he was 
at White Oak 8pringd fort. During his serv{ce 
in this sanguinary struggle, Mr. Hanan was on 
many occasions given special duty to perform, 
which in several incidence~ was of very hazard-
ous nature. · 

After the Black Hawk war was over, he went 
to t.he Iowa side of the river and mined there 
during the fall. This was again~t the Govern­
ment orders, but he and his party remained 
thero until spring, when the ice in the river 
broke up and a company of soldiers came to 
drive intruders away. He went to the Little 
Maquoketa and mined about Peru that summer. 
He went back to Canton that winter, and the 
next snmmer got an ox team and hauled min­
eral from Menominee diggings to the furnace. 
He wintered where Moline uow stands, and 
hauled logs across the .Mississippi on the ice 
with oxen, split rails, fenced thirty-five acres on 
the Iowa side, and in the spring planted corn in 
the inclosure. He boarded \Yith a man named 
Earl, who lived on the place of Emerson, who 
owned Dred Scott, of historic fame. He left 
there in the fall and afterward improved a farm 
on the Des Moines rh·e1·, in Van Buren county, 
and Ii ved therc two years. He made a farm in 
Illinois and broke sixty-fl ve acres of soil there. 
After this he went again to Rock Island county, 
but, selling out there, went to Henry county 
and took up another farm. He finally sold this 
place for 85 an acre. It consisted of 600 acres, 
all of which, except forty acres, was under 
fence. He also .. sol cf 1,000 sheep, for which he 
receh·ed Sl a hea~. Having disposed of all his 
interests there, he started for Texas. He got 
as far as Fayetteville, Arkansas, when he re­
ceived many adverse reports of Texas from men 
who had been there, and e"Ventually he was 
coaxed by hid brother-in-law to retnrn to Illi­
nois. Re went down to St. Louis, bought $4,-
500 worth of goods, and that winter carried on 
a merchandise business in Black Hawk's town, 
near Rock Island. 



In 1852 Mr. Hanan crossed the plains to 
Oregon and took up a <ll,nation claim of nearly 
a haJf section, near AlLan)', which he afterward 
Eold ont to a brother of General Gary. In 1864 
he remo\·ed to Albany, where he had property, 
and becan,e interested in a company formed to 
build a mill, which cost, before they got through 
with it, $26,000. He Eold his interest.in the enter­
prise with a loss of $5,000. He continued his 
residence at Albany until 1871, when he came 
to Colnmbia county, Washington, and bought 
480 acres of land on Whisky ereek. He sold 
tl,is property in 1877, to the ·Winnett family, 
for $10 an acre. He then bought, for $2,800, 
four aml th.ree-quarters acres in the vicinity of 
liis pre~cn t residence in Dayton, and resided 
there 111,til 1880, when his wife died. That 
yenr he sold this pr<1pe1:ty for 83,000, to George 
W. Young, who laid it ont iu lots, and l\lr. 
Hanan · bought back the block where he now 
li \'es, for 82,500 . 

.Mr. Hanan was married in Canton. Illinoi~, 
in 1837. to Mi:;s Ann Maria Van Winkle. They 
had no children of their own, hut reared from 
infancy J nlia Aun Terry, who afterward became 
Mrs. Lewis G. Ketchum, .l\Ir. Ketchum being 
now a residcn t of Everett, Washington. :Mr. 
and l\frs. Ketchnm's first-born, .ArchiJY1edes 
Ketchum, was reared by Mr. and Mrs. Hanan, 
remaining with them until his marriage to Miss 
Nettie Keoch. Mrs. Hanan departed this life 
April 28, 1880, after a ·happy married life of 
o,·er forty years. · 

l\Ir. Hunan now ]h-es in retirement at Day­
ton. He is a remarkably well-iuformed man, 
bis mind retaining a wonderful grasp on the 1 

a-ffuirs of this country for the greater part of the 
century, and his recital of events of national 
importance and the causes which led up to them, 
as well as his acquaintance with the men who 
were leading figures in connection therewith, 
show him to have be·en a close student of his 
country's history, and a man capable of profit­
ing by its lessons. In this northwestern por­
tion of the country he ,vas for many years 
recognized by the leuding men of affairs (with 
most of whom he was personally acquainted) as 
a sturdy and able character, and his was a well­
known figure in many Territorial and State 
conventions in Oregon. In the days of the old 
Whig party he was one of its stanchest advo­
cates, and three times he ca.st his vote for the 
great hero of that party, Henry Clay. His voice 
was always for the freedom of the shwes, nnd 

when the Republican party was orgauized he at 
once fell into line ·with its principles, and has 
eYer since adhered to them. In the Indian 
tfoubles of 1855 he was in Company H, com­
manded by Captain Leighton, and although 
opposed to serving in any official capacity, he 
was nnanimonsly elected First Lieutenant. He 
sen·ed, among other places, in the same portion 
of ,vashington with which he afterward became 
identified as a resident, and after the battle at 
the month of Mill creek, in which he partici­
pated, was for quite a while the only commis­
sioned officer \\:ho was able for duty. During 
most of liis service, howeYer, he was on special 
duty in various places, often being some dis­
tance from his command. His reminiscences of 
the details of the mo,·ements of the Yolunteere 
in this war are as clear as they could have been 
immediately after the occnrrences, and he is re­
garded as an authority ~2~ the events of those 

times. ~ ~ to1. 'f-, :i.. '-
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SAMUEL T. HA. .NAN, of Columbia 
county, Washington, was born iu Fulton 
county, Illinois, October 15, 1831, his 

p_!lrents being Samuel and Patsy (Pl'ice) Hanan. 
His father was born in Harrison county, Ken­
tucky, and his mother, also a nath·e of Ken­
tucky, was born in Logan connty. Buth were 
members ot' prominent old Kentucky families. 
They were married in Kentucky, whence they 
1·emoved to Fulton county, Illinofa, at an early 
day, and in 1837 went to Iowa, locating in Van 
Buren county, where they were also amono- the 
pioneers. Both died in Iowa, the fath~· in 
1852, the mother in 1853. 

S. T. Hanan was rearo<l in Iowa, and in 1854 
went from there to Ka11sas, being among the 
early settlers of what is now Douglas county. 
About tvrn years later he removed to ,vyan<lotte 
c:ounty, and fonr years after that took up his 
abode in Putnam county, :Missouri. His next 
move, two or three years later, was to Clark 
county, same State, and from there he went to 
Scotland connty, where he resided until 1873. 
In 1873 he removed to Oregon. He remained 
about six months in Linn county, nen1· Albany, 
and in the spring of 1874 went to Claekamas 
com~ty. From there he came to ,vashington in 
187t>, and took up a homestead of 160 acres 
about a mile and a half from his present resi­
dence. After he had Ii ved there something 
over fom· years he sold out, and on the same 
day bought the 230 acres of land where he no,v 
reside~. Of this he culti\--ate5 about 165 acres, 
raising wheat as the principal crop, and follows 
the system of summer-fallowing half of this 
acreage yearly. He also raises cattle and horses 
incidental to general farming. He followed the 
carpenter trade until recently. 

.Mr. Hanan has been thrice married, eacl1 
time in Scotland county, Misrnnri. His first 
wife was Jane Burn;, who died in Van Buren 
county, ·ro:wa. By this marriage there are two 
living children: :Mary E. and Samuel R. His 
eecoud wife was Hulda Lewis. She died in 
Putnam connty, Missouri, leaving two c11ildren, 
who are still living: Martha Jane and Hulda. 
His present wife was formerly .Martha I. All­
phin, a nati...-e of Schuyler county, Illinois, and 
a daughter of G. W. and Diana (Smith) All­
phin, the former a native of Kentucky, the )atter 
of Indiana. Her parents went to Schuyler 
county, 11lhiois, when tl1ey were young, and 
were there reared and married, afterward re­
mo1:ing to .Mis8onri, where her father lived 
thirty years, and died l\Iarch 18, 1886. Her 
mother is now a resident of Kansas. l\Ir. and 
Mrs. Hanan have children tts follows: Dixon 
,vhite, Thomas William, Guy Virgil, Henry 
Harvey, Roy Albert and Francis Ralph. 

Mr. Hanan is a veteran of the Civil war, hav­
ing enlisted at Fort Leavenwortl1, January 25, 
1863, in Company II, Sixteenth Kansas Cav­
alry. He ren·ed principally in Kansas and on 
the frontier, fighting Indians, among his <'am­
paigns being the movement after Prico on the 
occasion of his last raid, and the Powder river 
Indian expeuition. When mustered ont, at 
Fort Leavenworth, in 1866, he was .Dnty Ser­
geant. 

l\lr.1Iana~1 is a member of Alfred Sn1ly Post, 
G. A. R, Dayton. Politically, he is a stanch 
Republican. He has never been an office-seeker, 
but has taken an acti\·e interest in school mat­
ters, and has been a Director of district No.17. 
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The memorable event of 1877 was the Nez 
Perce Indian war. Although to a certain ex­
tent it affected the whole of Eastern ·wash­
ington, so far as the war per St!, was concerned, 

Columbia county had but little connection with 
it except to furnish a company of stalwart 
\·olunteers. June 22d, soon after the massacre 
in Idaho, a man named Ritchie was killed north 
of Snake river by a renegade Snake Indian. 
This originated the report that all northern 
Indians were on the war path. Exposed settle­
ments were deserted, and in the towns prepara­
tions were rapidly made for defense on an ex­
tended scale. All kinds of sanguinary stories 
were afloat on the wings of rumor. Absurd 
and improbable tales were readily believed. It 
was soon demonstrated that these reports that 
had caused great agitation, stagnation of busi­
ness and obstruction of travel, were false; the 
people quieted down; settlers returned to their 
homes and the tumultuous country resumed its 
normal condition. The war never crossed 
Snake river; it was confined to Idaho and l\Ion­
tana. 

It is undeniable, ho\\'ever, that settlers east 
of the Tucanon were in great trepidation: 
Leaving their homes they congregated at 
Lewiston, Dayton and \Valla \Valla. It was 
not so much Chief Joseph's band they feared; 
it was reasoned that his outbreak might en­
courage other tribes to rise, slaughter and burn. 
Volunteers came forward from Dayton, \Valla 
\\"alla and the Pataha country, and served for 
several weeks with the troops in Idaho, and 
in scouting through the exposed sections of 
,vashington. April 20, 1877, a conference 
with General Howard was held at vValla \ Valla. 
The Yolunteers from this town were com­
manded by Captain Paige, a little more than 
20 strong. The company from Dayton num­
bered 45 young men; they had elected Colonel 
Geo. Hunter their captain. Levi ,vatrous was 
their lieutenant. In his book Colonel Hunter 
says: 

"They said they "·ottld go to the assistance 
of the North Idaho people if I would lead 
them. \ Vhen this transpired I was some 40 
miles a,vay, attending to some business for the 
Patrons of Husbandry, and had not heard 

~ 
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Perce Indian war. Although to a certain ex­
tent it affected the whole of Eastern ,vash­
ington, so far as the war per se, was concerned, 

Columbia county had but little connection with 
it except to furnish a company of stalwart 
,·olunteers. June 22d, soon after the massacre 
in Idaho, a man named Ritchie was killed north 
of Snake river by a renegade Snake Indian. 
This originated the report that all northern 
Indians were on the war path. Exposed settle­
ments were deserted, and in the towns prepara­
tions were rapidly made for defense on an ex­
tended scale. All kinds of sanguinary stories 
were afloat on the wings of rumor. Absurd 
and improbable tales were readily believed. It 
was soon demonstrated that these reports that 
had caused great agitation, stagnation of busi­
ness and obstruction of travel, were false; the 
people quieted down ; settlers returned to their 
homes and the tumultuous country resumed its 
normal condition. The war ne\'er crossed 
Snake river; it was confined to Idaho and l\Ion­
tana. 

It is undeniable, however, that settlers east 
of the Tucanon were in great trepidation~ 
Leaving their homes they congregated at 
Lewiston, Dayton and \Valla Walla. It was 
not so much Chief Joseph's band they feared; 
it was reasoned that his outbreak might en­
courage other tribes to rise, slaughter and burn. 
Volunteers came forward from Dayton, \Valla 
\Valla and the Pataha country, and sen·ed for 
several weeks with the troops in Idaho, and 
in scouting through the exposed sections of 
\Vashington. April 20, 1877, a conference 
with General Howard was held at vValla \Valla. 
The Yolunteers from this town were com­
manded by Captain Paige, a little more than 
20 strong. The company from Dayton num­
bered 45 young men ; they had elected Colonel 
Geo. Hunter their captain. Levi \Vatrous was 
their lieutenant. In his book Colonel Hunter 
says: 

"They said they would go to the assistance 
of the North Idaho people if I would lead 
them. \Vhen this transpired I ,vas some 40 
miles a,rny, attending to some business for the 
Patrons of Husbandry, and had not heard 

~ 

~ 

'-,I 



"I 

Judge Thomas C. Shaw 
Judge Shaw was a member of the 

Oregon Mounted Volunteers, 
citizens enlisted from the Willamette Valley 

to punish the perpetrators of the Whitman Massacre. 

n December, 1847 - when all the fall and early winter work had been 
completed and the crops sown, and the people were taking a little rest, the 
immigration of 1847 having all arrived in the Willamette Valley, except a 
few who had been compelled to stop at Dr. Whitman's mi~sion on the Walla 
Walla river in eastern Oregon, and were employed by him in making im­
provements at the mission-our country was beginning to prosper and it 
was fast developing into a splendid stock and farming country. There being 
peace and plenty in the land, it was just the thing to expect that the residents 
of this beautiful country would be ready to say as one did of old, 'soul take 
thine ease.' While we were ready to do so and to enter into the full enjoy­
ment of the fruits of the land, not knowing what had happened some 300 
miles east of us, to our great surprise a courier arrived, bringing us the 
startling intelligence that Dr. Whitman, a missionary under the auspices of 
the Presbyterian church, his wife (who was a refined lady) and some twelve 
or fourteen American citizens (who were engaged at the mission) were, 
without any provocation whatever, on the 27th day of November, 1847, 
ruthlessly murdered in cold blood by the Cayuse Indians, who were then his 
charge. 

''This news threw the country into a great fever and everything you could 

hear was about the war which was inevitable. The Indians had not only kill­
ed the missionaries and those in their employ, but had taken ~evera_l yo~ng 
women and girls and abused them in a horrible manner. The first t~mg t en 
to be done was to get these girls and young women from the l~d1ans. 

"It was reported to us that the bodies had all been decently interred by 
those sent to attend to this matter by the Hudson Bay Company, but I was 
shocked when I went to the place called the grave of those wort~y dead, an~ 
found that the bodies had been disinterred by the wolves, and pieces of their 
bodies were strewn around as if they had been of no ~ore v~l~e than those 

f 'Id b ts Dr Whitman's body was almost entirely d1smterred, and 
o w1 eas • · 'f I Id I f M 
what shocked the writer most was to see the beauti u 8? en cu~ s O rs. 
Whitman scattered promiscuously over the gro~nd as 1f the evil one ha~ 
done his best to destroy every vestige of what this good a~d noble won:ia 
had done for the last ten years, and had succeeded in scattenng her beautiful 

Id h . JF =l trophy to the wind and sand of the Walla Walla Val~e~. go en air \_ . _ ,. . . . , . 

.-\~;,.~ 

"I must be permitted right here to express my a1sgust at tn1s, one ot the 
most revolting and blood-curdling scenes of my life. My blood first ran cold 
then hot, and my rage, and that of my comrades, became almost 
unbearable at times, and the only satisfaction that we could hope to attain, 
was the pleasure of seeing in the engagements that followed with our 
enemies that our unerring rifles had done their work well when we saw 
some red men of the forest tumble to the ground. And we never saw such an 
occurence as this without a sweet sensation of revenge. When we were in an 
engagement we invariably thought of her who had worn that beautiful 
golden hair, and took a great pride in avenging her wrongs, for we well 
remembered that she was one of two noble women that left father, mother, 
brothers and sisters and all else to them that seemed dear, and made the trip 
across the plains in the year 1836, and all for the purpose of carrying the 
good news of the gospel to those red men, who had at first received them 
kindly, but by some unaccountable change in their minds had become the 
murderers of those that would be their benefactors. 

'We found everything around the mission in bad condition. Fences were 
all down, and almost everything of value had been destroyed and ap­
propriated and there was nothing left to represent the thrift that this mission 
had in the year 1844 when our immigration came by on its way to thE 
Willamette Valley. As soon as our command arrived we took possession of 
what was left and immediately commenced to build a fort out of the debri! 
that was left. 

"Our officers found it too hard a task to fight and guard the stock that WE 

had taken, and they ordered it all turned out. This I hated, for I saw some of 
the oxen in this herd that hauled the Sager family from the Missouri river tc 
Whitman station. This Sager family was a family that came across tht 
plains in the year 1844. They lost their father in Green river with the cam1 
fever and their mother near Fort Hall with the same dread disease. MJ 
father, Capt. William Shaw, brought the family to Dr. Whitman's, anc 

their father and mother being Presbyterians, Dr. Whitman and wife kindly 
agreed to take the children and do the best they could for them, and when 
the massacre took place, John and Frances Sager were murdered, and the 
Sager girls, five I think in number, were taken prisoners by the Indians. 
Frances Sager was the only person in the whole number that was murdered 
that attempted to fight when the Indians set upon Dr. Whitman to murder 
him. This boy being about thirteen or fourteen years of age, drew a small 
pistol and would have dispatched an Indian with it but for the interference 
of some trackers who still had some hopes that they would be spared." 

G'rv-'t'- 1o 
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A.B. Roberts 
Roberts, a veteran of the 1855-56 
Yakima Indian Wars, tells about 

his experiences as a volunteer soldier. 

This story is not intended to be a history of the Indian wars of the North­
west Country, but only a statement of the facts, the causes and the res~lts 
of the most serious conflicts which had occurred b~tween the_ races dunng 
the settlement of this interesting country by the white men. It is a fa~t to be 
noted, that there were more wars and conflicts between th~ races dunng !he 
settlement of Oregon than in any other portion of the Umted States dunng 
the settlement of the Far West. . 

Beginning with this Cayuse war in 1847 we find the two R~gue river 
wars, the great Yakima war that covered all of Oregon and Washington, the 
Madock war, the Joseph war (Nez Perce) and the Bannock war. 

The greatest of all these wars was the Yakii:1'a war of 1855-56. 
Previous to this time the Oregon and Washington settlements were con­

fined to the West side of the great range, the Cascades, but in the win~er of 
1854 the administration took up the idea of opening the Inland Empire or 
the intermountain country for settlement and accordingly called all the In­
dians east of the Cascades and north of the Blue Mountains and _as far east 
and to include the Nez Perces to meet in council in ~alla Walla m ~une for 
the purpose of making treaties for the purchase of their lands. To this coun­
cil the Government sent commissioners consisting of Gove~or I.I. St_evens 
of Washington; General Palmer, Superintendent of Indian Affairs of 
Oregon, and Colonel Cummins of the army. . 

The council was fully attended, the meeting place bemg exactly where the 
city of Walla Walla now stands. To be more particular, it began on the 
north side of Mill Creek about where the N.P. depot stands and after a few 
days was moved to the south side to about the grounds oc~pied by the 
Y.M.C.A. building and the Christian church, where the treatle~ were co~­
pleted and fully signed, excepting one only of all of the gre~t chiefs. To this 
one name "hangs a tale" worthy of being told at another time. 

Now, to continue this story we must explain the facts that lead up to the 
ignoring of the great treaties of Walla Walla in June, 18~5. . 

Soon after treaties were signed settlers began to locate m the fme valleys 
and the Indians began to realize that the greatest portion of their domain 
was now in the hands of the white man. 

Years ago the West side from California to British Columbia had been 
relinquished and now the intermountain country was gone. 

The firs;,--,yment was to be made in cash the following September, and 
for 20 ye\_ Jther a~; .. uities were to be paid in cash. At o~::1'; were 
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taken by the Indians to ignore those treaties, but the other party- the white 
man - was not called to their councils. But the Chiefs of all the tribes of the 
Coast country and all the East side were finally assembled on the Umatilla 
in the early part of September and at that grand council representing all of 
that country in which settlement had begun it was agreed that once more a 
united effort would be made to drive out the white settlers and a refusal of 
the payments and the ignoring of all treaties would be made. Only the great 
War Chief Lawyer and his sub-Chief Lapi of the Nez Perces and 
Winumsnoots and Timothy of the Umatillas held out, and through their 
great influence over their people prevented those two tribes from joining in 
the greatest of hostilities known as the Yakima war of 1855. It is awful to 
think, that if those two, the most powerful of the Inland tribes had joined 
with the great combine of hostile Indians, what the result might have been. 

How did I come into possession of these "state secrets"? I chanced to 
spend many years of my life in the most intimate and friendly terms with 
the two leading Chiefs referred to, both of them being Christian gentlemen, 
educated by the lamented Dr. Whitman, and it may be here remarked that 
the works of that martyr subsequently saved not only Oregon to the United 
States, but saved the unprotected settlements of that period from total an­
nihilation by the combined tribes. 

But to take up the ignoring of the treaties of 1855. 
The intentions and results of that council of Chiefs on the Umatilla were 

not published and the first that our people or Uncle Sam knew of them was 
when the Government agent, Mr. A. J. Bolan, who was sent in September 
to the Yakima country to pay to Kamiakin and his sub-chiefs of that tribe 
their cash annuity which was due at that time as per treaty stipulation, 
when he was foully murdered and his money taken, and about the same 
time Colonel Nathan Olney, agent for the Cayuses, Walla Wallas and 
others, went to those tribes for the same purpose and he was told in plain 
language that the treaties were ignored and that they would not kill him but 
to take back the money and immediately remove all of those settlers who 
had taken claims in the Walla Walla Valley, which he did at once. 

Now the commanding officer of the U.S. troops at Fort Columbia (The 
Dalles) sent Major Haller with the majority of the troops under his com­
mand over to the Yakima country to bring in the murderers of Agent Bolan 
and he was met by Kamiakin, and his troops completely routed and their 
horses and outfits captured and on foot and destitute they reached The 
Dalles and the Indians at their heels firing across the Columbia into the 
villages, when the Oregon volunteers came to their relief. 

Yes, the ball was opened and the greatest Indian war of the Pacific Coast 
had its first battle and the enemy was victorious. 

Now the Governor of Oregon Territory was called upon for volunteers 
and at once within twenty-four hours after the call was posted in Portland 
95 young men left their homes and employment and were at Jlle Dalles to 
drive back old I<amiakin and his victorious warriors. ~ '~ S7 



,-, An account of the battle of Walla Walla 
on the 8th of December, 1855, the day suc­
ceeding the killing of Peu-peu-mox-mox, is 
thus given by Colonel Kelly in his official re­
port : 

Early on the morning of the 8th, the Indians 
appeared with increased forces, amounting to fully 
six hundred warriors. They wei-e posted as usual 
in the thick brush by the river - among the sage 
bushes and sand knolls, and on the surrounding 
hills. This day Lieutenant Pillow, with Company 
A, and Lieutenant Hannon, with Company H, were 
ordered to take and hold the brush skirting the 
river and the sage bushes on the plain. Lieuten-
ant Fellows, with Company F, was directed to take 
and keep possession of the point at the foot of the 
the hill. Lieutenant Jeffries, with Company B, 
Lieutenant Hand, with Company I, and Captain 
Cornoyer with Company K, were posted on three 
several points on the hills, with orders to maintain 
them and to assail the enemy on other points of 
the same hills. As usual, the Indians were driven 
from their position, although they fought with 
skill and bravery. 

On the ninth they did not make their appear-
ance until about ten o'clock in the morning and 
then in somewhat diminished numbers. As I had 
sent to Fort Henrietta for Companies D and E, 
and expected them on the 10th, I thought it best 
to act on the defensive and hold our positions, 
which were the same as on the 8th, until we could 
get an accession to our forces sufficient to enable 
us to assail th'eir rear and cut off their retreat. 
An attack was made during the day on Companies 
A and H, in the brushwood, and upon Bon the 
hill, both of which were repulsed with great gal­
lantry by those companies with considerable loss 
to the enemy. Companies F, I and K also did 
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great honor to themselves in repelling all ap­
proaches to their positions, although in doing so 
one man in Company F and one in Company I were 

.------- severely wounded. Darkness, as usual, closed the 
combat, by the enemy withdrawing from the field. 
Owing to the inclemency of the night the com-
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panies on the hill were withdrawn from their 
several positions, Company B abandoning its rifle 
pits which were made by the men of that company 
for its protection. At early dawn of the next day 
the Indians were observed from our camp to be 
in possession of all points held by us on the pre­
ceding day. Upon seeing them, Lieutenant Mc­
Auliff, of Company B, gallantly observed that his 
company had dug those holes, and after breakfast 
they would have them again; and well was his 
declaration fulfilled, for in less than an hour the 
enemy was driven from the pits and fled to an 
adjoining hill which they had occupied the day 
before. This position was at once assailed. Cap­
tain Cornoyer, with Company Kand a portion of 
Company I, being mounted, gallantly charged the 
enemy on his right flank, while Lieutenant Mc­
Auliff with Company B dismounted, rushed up 
the hill in face of a heavy fire and scattered them 
in all directions. They at once fled to return to 
this battlefield no more, and thus ended our long 
contested fight. 

In making my report I can not say too much 
in praise of the conduct of the officers of the sev­
eral companies and most of the soldiers under 
their command. They did their duty bravely and 
well during those four trying days of battle. To 
Second Major Chinn, who took charge of the compa-
nies in the bush by the river, credit is due for brav­
ery and skill; also to Assistant Adjutant Monroe 
Atkinson, for his efficiency and zeal as well in the 
field as in the camp. And here, while giving to 
the officers and men of the regiment the praise 
that is justly due, I can not omit the name of Hon. 
Nathan Olney, although he is not one of the vol­
unteers. Having accompanied me in the capacity 
of Indian agent, I requested him to act as my aid 
on account of his admitted skill in Indian warfare; 
and to his wisdom in council and daring courage 
on the battle field, I am much indebted and I shall 
ever appreciate his worth. 

Companies D and E having arrived from Fort 
Henrietta on the evening of the 10th, the next 
morning I followed with all the available troops 
along the Nez Perce's trail in pursuit of the 
Indians. On Mill Creek, about twelve miles from 
here, we passed through their village, numbering 
one hundred and ninety-six fires, which had been 
deserted the night before. Much of their provis­
ions were scattered by the wayside, indicating 
that they had fled in great haste to the north. 
We pursued them until it was too dark to follow 
the track of their horses, when we camped on 
6 



Coppei creek. On the 12th we continued the pur­
suit until we passed some distance beyond the 
stations of Brooke, Noble and Bumford on the 
Touchet, when we found the chase was in vain, 
as many of the horses were broken down com­
pletely and the men on foot. We therefore re­
turned and arrived in camp on yesterday evening 
with about one hundred head of cattle which the 
Indians left scattered along the trail in their flight. 
On the 11th, while in pursuit of the enemy, I 
received a letter from Narcisse Raymond by the 
hand of Tintinmetzy, a friendly chief which I en­
close, asking our protection of the French and 
friendly Indians under his charge. 

On the morning of the 12th I dispatched Cap-
tain Cornoyer with his command to their relief. 
Mr. Olney, who accompanied them, returned to 
camp this evening, and reports that Captain Cor­
noyer will return tomorrow with Mr. Raymond and 
his people, who now feel greatly relieved from 
their critical situation. Mr. Olney learned from 
these friendly Indians what before we strongly be­
lieved, that the Palouses, Walla Wallas, Umatillas, 
Cayuses and Stock Whitley's band of Des Chutes 
Indians were all engaged in the battle on the 
Walla Walla. These Indians also informed Mr. 
Olney that after the battles the Palouses, Walla 
Wallas and Umatillas have gone partly to the 
Grande Ronde and partly to the country of the 
Nez Perces; and Stock Whitley, disgusted with the 
manner in which the Cayuses fought in the battle, 
has abandoned them and gone to the Yakima coun-
try to join his forces with those of Kamiakin. We 
have now the undisputed possession of the country 
south of Snake river, and I would suggest the pro­
priety of retaining such possession until such time 
as it can be occupied by the regular troops. The 
Indians have left much of their stock behind, 
which will doubtless be lost to us if we go away. 
The troops here will not be in a situation for some 
time to go to the Palouse country, as our horses 
at present are too much jaded to endure the jour­
ney, and we have no boats to cross Snake river, no 
timber to make therfl nearer than this place; but I 
would suggest the propriety of following up the 
Indians with all possible speed, now that their 
hopes are blighted and their spirits broken. Unless 
this is done they will perhaps rally again. 

Today {December 14, 1855), I received a letter 
from Governor Stevens, dated yesterday, which I 
enclose. You will see that he is in favor of a 
vigorous prosecution of the war. 



I must earnestly ask that supplies be sent for­
ward to us without delay. For the last three 
days none of the volunteers, except the two com­
panies from Fort Henrietta, have had any flour. 
None is here and but little at that post. We are 
now living on beef and potatoes, which are found 
en cache, and the men are becoming much dis-
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contented with this mode of living. Clothing for 
the men is much needed as the winter approaches. 
Tomorrow we will remove to a more suitable point, 
where grass can be obtained in abundance for our 
worn out horses. A place has been selected about 
two miles above Whitman's station, on the same 
(north) side of the Walla Walla, consequently I 
will abandon this fort, named in honor of Captain 
Bennett of Company F, who now sleeps beneath 
its stockade, and whose career of usefulness and 
bravery was here so sadly but nobly closed. 
Very respectfully your obedient servant, 
JAMES K. KELLY, 
Lieutenant Colonel Commanding Left Column, 

W. H. FARRAR, 
Adjutant of Regiment, O. M. V. 

One of the coldest and most trying winters 
ever known in this country was that following 
the battle of the Walla Walla. Among the 
volunteers the veterans have left on record 
accounts of their sufferings; they are strong 
testimony that war in an Indian country is by 
no means a summer day's picnic. W. C. 
Painter has graphically described the exper­
ience of sleeping, or trying to sleep, with 
scarcely any covering, and the mercury at 
twenty degrees below zero. 

As already noted Governor Stevens had 
negotiated a treaty with the Indians at Walla 
Walla in June. 1855. Thence he had passed 
on to the Blackfoot country, and into the lands 
of other tribes, where he was eminently suc­
cessful in closing treaties with a number of 
bands of erstwhile hostile savages. That por­
tion of Governor Stevens report as it bore on 
the situation in the Walla Walla valley, is as 



follows : 

The country between the Blue mountains and 
the Columbia was overrun with Indians, number-
ing one thousand to twelve hundred warriors, in­
cluding the forces at Priest Rapids under Ka­
maiakin, who had sworn to cut me off; it was 
completely blocked up. One effect of the campaign 
of the regulars and volunteers in the Yakima coun­
try under Major Rains, was to drive Kamaiakin 
and his people on our side of the Columbia river, 
and thus endanger our movement from the Spo-
kane to the Nez Perce country. Thus we had been 
hemmed in by a body of hostile Indians through 
whom we could only have forced our way with 

extreme difficulty and at great loss of life. We 
might all have been sacrificed in the attempt. To 
the opening of the way to my party, I am solely 
indebted to the Oregon volunteers. Peu-peu-mox­
mox, the celebrated chief of the Walla Wallas, en­
tertained an extreme hostility toward myself and 
party, owing to imaginary wrongs he supposed to 
have been inflicted upon him in the treaty con­
cluded with the Cayuses and Walla Wallas last 
June, and had been known repeatedly to threaten 
that I should never reach The Dalles. He was the 
first to commence hostilities by plundering Fort 
Walla Walla and destroying a large amount of 
property belonging to the United States Indian de­
partment. * * * 

At Walla Walla I found some twenty-five set-
tlers - the remainder having fled to The Dalles for 
protection. With these were one hundred friendly 
Indians. Special Indian Agent B. F. Shaw, colonel in 
the Washington Territory militia, was on the ground, 
and I at once organized the district, placed him in 
command and directed him, if necessary, to fortify, 
at all events to maintain his ground should the 
Oregon troops be disbanded before another force 
could take the field. The Nez Perce auxiliaries 
were disbanded and returned home. 

Thus we had reached a place of safety unaided, 
excepting by the fortunate movements of the Ore­
gon troops. Not a single man had been pushed 
forward to meet us, although it was well known 
we should cross the mountains about a certain 
time, and arrive at Walla Walla about the time we 
did. Why was this? Arrangements had been 
made with Major Rains by Acting Governor Mason, 
to push forward a force under Colonel Shaw to 
meet me at Spokane about the time of my arrival 
there. A company had been enlisted, organized and 



marched to Fort Vancouver to obtain equipments, 
rations and transportation, which Major Rains had 
promised both Governor Mason and Colonel Shaw 
should be promptly furnished them. Some little 
delay ensued, and in the meantime Major General 
Wool arrived who immediately declined equipping 
the company, as promised by Major Rains, and 
stated that he could not in any manner recognize 
volunteers or furnish them equipments or trans­
portation, and declined to supply their place with 
regular troops, of whom, at Vancouver, alone, were 
some three hundred and fifty men. * * * 

Mr. Secretary - Major-General Wool, command-
ing the Pacific Division, neglected and refused to 
send a force to the relief of myself and party, when 
known to be in imminent danger, and believed by 
those who were less capable of judging, to be com­
ing on to certain death, and this when he had at 
his command an efficient force of regular troops. 
He refused to sanction the agreement made be-
tween Governor Mason and Major Rains for troops 
to be sent to my assistance, and ordered them to 
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disband. It was reserved for the Oregon troops 
to rescue us. 

The only demonstration made by Major Rains 
resulted in showing his utter incapacity to com­
mand in the field. As has heretofore been said, 
his expedition against the Yakimas effected noth­
ing but driving the Indians into the very country 
through which I must pass to reach the settle­
ments. 

I therefore prefer charges aginst General Wool. 
I accuse him of utter and signal incapacity, of 
•criminal neglect of my safety. I ask for an inves­
tigation into the matter, and for his removal from 
• command. 

As a summary, having allowed Governor 
Stevens to tell his own story, vitriolic as it is, 
we may say that in the final struggle the In­
dians obtained something the best of it. They 
secured what they wanted and the great Walla 
Walla war of 1855-6 must go down in history 



as an Indian victory - a victory obtained in the 
main through the crass incapacity of Major 
General Wool. By Wool's order Steptoe issued 
a proclamation that no whites should return 
to Walla Walla, except Hudson's Bay people 
and missionaries. October 19th Wool issued 
a general order expressing the hope that 
Wright, "warned by what has occurred, will 
he on his guard against the whites and prevent 
further trouble by keeping the whites out of 
the Indian country." With his eyes partly 
•opened by the sensational events of the season 
Steptoe ventured to suggest that a good, in­
dustrious colony be permitted to settle in the 
Walla Walla valley On this suggestion Wool 
promptly stepped. rrThe Cascade range," he 
said, "formed, if not an impassable barrier, an 
excellent line of defense; a most excellent line 
of separation between two races always at war 
when in contact. To permit settlers to pass 
The Dalles and occupy the natural reserve is 
to give up this advantage, throw down the 
wall, and advance the frontier hundreds of 
miles to the east, and add to the protective 
labors of the army." 

This much did General Wool against the 
best interests of Walla Walla valley. And at 
the same time he was inveighing against wars 

in the eastern portion of the Territory, be­
tween Indians and whites, the savages west of 
the Cascades were preparing for a bloody series 
of uprisings, as if in mockery of the bombastic 
vaporings of a general who knew less about 
Indians and Indian fighting than the most 
humble private in the ranks of the Oregon 
volunteers. Thus, at the close of 1856 the 
Walla Walla valley was, by military order, 
remanded to barbarism. In 1857 the present 
Fort Walla Walla was established and a force 
in charge of Lieutenant Colonel Steptoe lay 
inactive at the fort. 

When, in 1855, Governor Stevens and 
party met in the Walla Walla valley to treat 
with the Indians, the governor at once re­
quested the military authorities to establish 
a fort in the valley. Says Hazard Stevens 
in his "Life of Isaac I. Stevens :" 

"The second day after reaching the valley 
Governor Stevens, hearing that Governor Wool 
had just arrived at Vancouver, wrote him a 
letter urging the importance of supplying the 



Walla Walla valley with a strong military 
force, preferably of cavalry, pointing out the 
central location of the point, and its strategic 
advantages for protecting the emigrant road, 
the trails to the Missouri on the east, the Puget 
Sound on the west, and for controlling the dis­
affected Indians, particularly the Cayuses and 
Snakes. This, like other sound and, indeed, 
necessary measures recommended by the gov-
ernor, was ignored by the self-sufficient Wool 
and his officers, until they were obliged to 
adopt them from necessity." 

At the council with the Walla Wallas, held 
in June, 1855, Governor Stevens had urged 
Colonel Wright to be present. He also re-
quested him to send three companies of regu-
lars, including all his mounted men, to the 
Walla Walla valley for that occasion. This 
courteous invitation to participate in the council 
was declined by Wright, but the latter signified 
his intention of sending Colonel Steptoe to 
Walla Walla for the purpose of establishing 
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a post in that country. Thus the fort was at 
last built, in 1857, on Mill Creek, one and one­
half miles west of the town of Walla Walla, 
and six miles from the junction of Mill Creek 
with the Walla Walla river. The necessary 
buildings were completed before November 
20th. 

It is needless to say that the autocratic atti­
tude of General Wool was extremely distaste-
ful to the whites. The following- resolution 
relative to citizens and settlers in Walla Walla 
county being driven from their homes and 
claims by the military authority of Washing-
ton Territory, was passed by the Legislative 
Assembly January 15, 1858: 

Whereas, Certain officers of the United States 
army, commanding in the county of Walla Walla, 
have unlawfully assumed to issue orders prohibit­
ing citizens of this territory from settling in cer-



tain portions thereof, and in accordance with said 
orders have driven citizens and settlers from their 
claims and homes, acquired under the laws of the 
United States, to their great injury; therefore, 
he it 

Resolved, by the Legislative Assembly of the 
Territory of Washington, That in our opinion the 
said orders are without the authority of law, and 
that the acts done under said orders are a high­
handed outrage upon the rights and liberties of 
the American people. 

Resolved, That the Governor be requested to 
give the proper authorities at Washington all 
necessary information on the subject of the out­
rageous usurpation of the military over the civil 
authority. 

Resolved, That we believe the above usurpation 
to be the very worst form of martial law, pro­
claimed by tyrants, not having feeling in common 
with us, nor interests identified with ours. 

Resolved, That a copy of the above resolutions 
be forwarded to our delegate in congress, and that 
he be requested to present the matter to the proper 
department at Washington City, to the end that 
the evil may be corrected. 

There was now, at this critical juncture, 
an impending change. September 13, 1858, 
the war department issued an order by which 
the department of the Pacific Coast was 
divided, the southern portion to be designated 
3.s the Department of California, although it 

included the Umpqua district of Oregon. The 
Department of Oregon was the name of the 
northern division. This embraced Oregon and 
Washington. Headquarters were at Van­
couver. To California General Clarke was as­
signed; General W. S. Harney, fresh from a 
campaign in Utah, assumed command of the 
Oregon department. 

October 29th the latter arrived in Oregon. 
He issued an order, two days later, opening 
the Walla Walla country to settlement. By 
the legislative assemblies of both Washington 
and Oregon resolutions were adopted con­
gratulating the people on the creation of the 
Department of Oregon, on the accession to 



command of General Harney, an old Indian 
fighter who understood the Indian character, 
and on the order reopening the country east 
of the Cascades to settlement, harmonizing 
with a recent act of congress extending the 
land laws of the United States over that por­
tion of the territories. Meanwhile the short 
but vigorous campaign of General Wright had 
effectually subjugated the hostile Indians of 
Eastern Washington, and secured peace. Im­
mediately the country commenced to develop. 
Along the lakes and streams rich tracts of land 
were taken by farmers; the extensive grazing 
lands were occupied by cattlemen. 

There was already a waiting population, 
and with the removal of the military interdict 
it poured into the Walla Walla valley. Public 
lands were surveyed. So early as April, 1859, 
1,000 people had become actual settlers. The 
whole of Eastern Washington was alive to 
opening opportunities. Mining discoveries 
awakened a keener interest, even, than agricul­
tural inducements. No intervening legislation 
had abridged the limits prescribed by the legis­
lative act of 1854 creating Walla Walla county. 
January 19, 1859, the legislature passed an 
act appointing officers for the county. This 
lawfully reorganized the county as an entity, 
though still unorganized, March 15, 1859, a 
quorum of the county commissioners named 
in the act appointed necessary officials to carry 
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on a county organization. Other officers were 
appointed at subsequent sessions of the board. 
Following is the text of the act of January 
19th: 

Sec. 1. Be it enacted by the Legislative As­
sembly of the Territory of Washington, That John 
Mahan, Walter Davis and John C. Smith be, and 
they are hereby appointed county commissioners 
lor Walla-Walla county, and Edward Pearce is hereby 
appointed sheriff of Walla-Walla county, and that 
R. H. Reighart be and he is hereby appointed audi-



tor of Walla-Walla county, and that Samuel D. Smith 
be and is hereby appointed probate judge for 
Walla-Walla county, and that J. L. Simms be and is 
hereby appointed justice of the peace in Walla­
Walla county. 

Sec. 2. The officers named in the foregoing sec-
tion shall, before entering upon the duties of their 
respective offices, qualify as required by the laws 
of this Territory, and shall hold their offices until 
the next annual election, or until their successors 
are elected and qualified. 

Sec. 3. This act to take effect and be in force 
from and after its passage. 

The county of Walla Walla was formally 
organized March 15, 1859. At last, after 
five years of war and delay, the county for 
"which provision had been made so early as 
1854, had at last a government. On the 15th 
there assembled in the town of Walla-Walla 
(the place is thus described in the record of 
the commissioners' proceedings, although it 
had first been called Steptoeville), John Mahan 
and Walter R. Davis, two of the county com­
missioners. Little business was transacted 
aside from the appointment of one or two of­
ficers, and setting the machinery in motion for 
the first county government in Washington 
Territory east of the Cascades. James Gal­
breath was appointed auditor and Lycurgus 
Jackson, sheriff. These officers having quali­
fied the board adjourned to meet March 26th. 

James C. Smith, the third county com-
missioner was present at the second meeting of 
the board. Mr. Mahan was elected chairman. 
Other county officials were appointed, mention 
of whom will be found in the political chapter. 
Into two precincts the county was divided; 

clerks of election were appointed. Whitman 
road district was created, and of this Narcisse 
Raymond was appointed road supervisor. This 
district included "the road as it now runs from 
Steptoeville to old Fort Walla Walla." 





panies on the hill were withdrawn from their 
several positions, Company 8 abandoning its rifle 
pits which were made by the men of that company 
for its protection. At early dawn of the next day 
the Indians were observed from our camp to be 
in possession of all points held by us on the pre­
ceding day. Upon seeing them, Lieutenant Mc­
Auliff, of Company 8, gallantly observed that his 
company had dug those holes, and after breakfast 
they would have them again; and well was his 
declaration fulfilled, for in less than an hour the 
enemy was driven from the pits and fled to an 
adjoining hill which they had occupied the day 
before. This position was at once assailed. Cap­
tain Cornoyer, with Company Kand a portion of 
Company I, being mounted, gallantly charged the 
enemy on his right flank, while Lieutenant Mc­
Auliff with Company B dismounted, rushed up 
the hill in face of a heavy fire and scattered them 
in all directions. They at once fled to return to 
this battlefield no more, and thus ended our long 
contested fight. 

In making my report I can not say too much 
in praise of the conduct of the officers of the sev­
eral companies and most of the soldiers under 
their command. They did their duty bravely and 
well during those four trying days of battle. To 
Second Major Chinn, who took charge of the compa-
nies in the bush by the river, credit is due for brav­
ery and skill; also to Assistant Adjutant Monroe 
Atkinson, for his efficiency and zeal as well in the 
field as in the camp. And here, while giving to 
the officers and men of the regiment the praise 
that is justly due, I can not omit the name of Hon. 
Nathan Olney, although he is not one of the vol­
unteers. Having accompanied me in the capacity 
of Indian agent, I requested him to act as my aid 
on account of his admitted skill in Indian warfare; 
and to his wisdom in council and daring courage 
on the battle field, I am much indebted and I shall 
ever appreciate his worth. 

Companies D and E having arrived from Fort 
Henrietta on the evening of the 10th, the next 
morning I followed with all the available troops 
along the Nez Perce's trail in pursuit of the 
Indians. On Mill Creek, about twelve miles from 
here, we passed through their village, numbering 
one hundred and ninety-six fires, which had been 
deserted the night before. Much of their provis­
ions were scattered by the wayside, indicating 
that they had fled in great haste to the north. 
We pursued them until it was too dark to follow 
the track of their horses, when we camped on 
6 



Coppei creek. On the 12th we continued the pur-
suit until we passed some distance beyond the 
stations of Brooke, Noble and Bumford on the 
Touchet, when we found the chase was in vain, 
as many of the horses were broken down com-
pletely and the men on foot. We therefore re-
turned and arrived in camp on yesterday evening 
with about one hundred head of cattle which the 
Indians left scattered along the trail in their flight. 
On the 11th, while in pursuit of the enemy, I 
received a letter from Narcisse Raymond by the 
hand of Tintirunetzy, a friendly chief which I en­
close, asking our protection of the French and 
friendly Indians under his charge. 

On the morning of the 12th I dispatched Cap-
tain Cornoyer with his command to their relief. 
Mr. Olney, who accompanied them, returned to 
camp this evening, and reports that Captain Cor­
noyer will return tomorrow with Mr. Raymond and 
his people, who now feel greatly relieved from 
their critical situation. Mr. Olney learned from 
these friendly Indians what before we strongly be­
lieved, that the Palouses, Walla Wallas, Umatillas, 
Cayuses and Stock Whitley's band of Des Chutes 
Indians were all engaged in the battle on the 
Walla Walla. These Indians also informed Mr. 
Olney that after the battles the Palouses, Walla 
Wallas and Umatillas have gone partly to the 
Grande Ronde and partly to the country of the 
Nez Perces; and Stock Whitley, disgusted with the 
manner in which the Cayuses fought in the battle, 
has abandoned them and gone to the Yakima coun-
try to join his forces with those of Kamiakin. We 
have now the undisputed possession of the country 
south of Snake river, and I would suggest the pro­
priety of retaining such possession until such time 
as it can be occupied by the regular troops. The 
Indians have left much of their stock behind, 
which will doubtless be lost to us if we go away. 
The troops here will not be in a situation for some 
time to go to the Palouse country, as our horses 
at present are too much jaded to endure the jour­
ney, and we have no boats to cross Snake river, no 
timber to make therfl nearer than this place; but I 
would suggest the propriety of following up the 
Indians with all possible speed, now that their 
hopes are blighted and their spirits broken. Unless 
this is done they will perhaps rally again. 

Today (December 14, 1855), I received a letter 
from Governor Stevens, dated yesterday, which I 
enclose. You will see that he is in favor of a 
vigorous prosecution of the war. 



I must earnestly ask that supplies be sent for­
ward to us without delay. For the last three 
days none of the volunteers, except the two com­
panies from Fort Henrietta, have had any flour. 
None is here and but little at that post. We are 
now living on beef and potatoes, which are found 
en cache, and the men are becoming much dis-
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contented with this mode of living. Clothing for 
the men is much needed as the winter approaches. 
Tomorrow we will remove to a more suitable point, 
where grass can be obtained in abundance for our 
worn out horses. A place has been selected about 
two miles above Whitman's station, on the same 
(north} side of the Walla Walla, consequently I 
will abandon this fort, named in honor of Captain 
Bennett of Company F, who now sleeps beneath 
its stockade, and whose career of usefulness and 
bravery was here so sadly but nobly closed. 
Very respectfully your obedient servant, 
JAMES K. KELLY, 
Lieutenant Colonel Commanding Left Column, 

W. H. FARRAR, 
Adjutant of Regiment, 0. M. V. 

One of the coldest and most trying winters 
ever known in this country was that following 
the battle of the Walla Walla. Among the 
volunteers the veterans have left on record 
accounts of their sufferings; they are strong 
testimony that war in an Indian country is by 
no means a summer day's picnic. W. C. 
Painter has graphically described the exper­
ience of sleeping, or trying to sleep, with 
scarcely any covering, and the mercury at 
twenty degrees below zero. 

As already noted Governor Stevens had 
negotiated a treaty with the Indians at Walla 
Walla in June. 1855. Thence he had passed 
on to the Blackfoot country, and into the lands 
of other tribes, where he was eminently suc­
cessful in closing treaties with a number of 
bands of erstwhile hostile savages. That por­
tion of Governor Stevens report as it bore on 
the situation in the Walla Walla valley, is as 



follows : 

The country between the Blue mountains and 
the Columbia was overrun with Indians, number-
ing one thousand to twelve hundred warriors, in­
cluding the forces at Priest Rapids under Ka­
maiakin, who had sworn to cut me off; it was 
completely blocked up. One effect of the campaign 
of the regulars and volunteers in the Yakima coun­
try under Major Rains, was to drive Kamaiakin 
and his people on our side of the Columbia river, 
and thus endanger our movement from the Spo-
kane to the Nez Perce country. Thus we had been 
hemmed in by a body of hostile Indians through 
whom we could only have forced our way with 

extreme difficulty and at great loss of life. We 
might all have been sacrificed in the attempt. To 
the opening of the way to my party, I am solely 
indebted to the Oregon volunteers. Peu-peu-mox­
mox, the celebrated chief of the Walla Wallas, en­
tertained an extreme hostility toward myself and 
party, owing to imaginary wrongs he supposed to 
have been inflicted upon him in the treaty con­
cluded with the Cayuses and Walla Wallas last 
June, and had been known repeatedly to threaten 
that I should never reach The Dalles. He was the 
first to commence hostilities by plundering Fort 
Walla Walla and destroying a large amount of 
property belonging to the United States Indian de­
partment. * * * 

At Walla Walla I found some twenty-five set-
tlers - the remainder having fled to The Dalles for 
protection. With these were one hundred friendly 
Indians. Special Indian Agent B. F. Shaw, colonel in 
the Washington Territory militia, was on the ground, 
and I at once organized the district, placed him in 
command and directed him, if necessary, to fortify, 
at all events to maintain his ground should the 
Oregon troops be disbanded before another force 
could take the field. The Nez Perce auxiliaries 
were disbanded and returned home. 

Thus we had reached a place of safety unaided, 
excepting by the fortunate movements of the Ore­
gon troops. Not a single man had been pushed 
forward to meet us, although it was well known 
we should cross the mountains about a certain 
time, and arrive at Walla Walla about the time we 
did. Why was this? Arrangements had been 
made with Major Rains by Acting Governor Mason, 
to push forward a force under Colonel Shaw to 
meet me at Spokane about the time of my arrival 
there. A company had been enlisted, organized and 



marched to Fort Vancouver to obtain equipments, 
rations and transportation, which Major Rains had 
promised both Governor Mason and Colonel Shaw 
should be promptly furnished them. Some little 
delay ensued, and in the meantime Major General 
Wool arrived who immediately declined equipping 
the company, as promised by Major Rains, and 
stated that he could not in any manner recognize 
volunteers or furnish them equipments or trans­
portation, and declined to supply their place with 
regular troops, of whom, at Vancouver, alone, were 
some three hundred and fifty men. * * * 

Mr. Secretary - Major-General Wool, command-
ing the Pacific Division, neglected and refused to 
send a force to the relief of myself and party, when 
known to be in imminent danger, and believed by 
those who were less capable of judging, to be com­
ing on to certain death, and this when he had at 
his command an efficient force of regular troops. 
He refused to sanction the agreement made be-
tween Governor Mason and Major Rains for troops 
to be sent to my assistance, and ordered them to 
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disband. It was reserved for the Oregon troops 
to rescue us. 

The only demonstration made by Major Rains 
resulted in showing his utter incapacity to com­
mand in the field. As has heretofore been said, 
his expedition against the Yakimas effected noth­
ing but driving the Indians into the very country 
through which I must pass to reach the settle­
ments. 

I therefore prefer charges aginst General Wool. 
I accuse him of utter and signal incapacity, of 
•criminal neglect of my safety. I ask for an inves­
tigation into the matter, and for his removal from 
• command. 

As a summary, having allowed Governor 
Stevens to tell his own story, vitriolic as it is, 
we may say that in the final struggle the In­
dians obtained something the best of it. They 
secured what they wanted and the great Walla 
Walla war of 1855-6 must go down in history 



as an Indian victory - a victory obtained in the 
main through the crass incapacity of Major 
General Wool. By Wool's order Steptoe issued 
a proclamation that no whites should return 
to Walla Walla, except Hudson's Bay people 
and missionaries. October 19th Wool issued 
a general order expressing the hope that 
Wright, "warned by what has occurred, will 
he on his guard against the whites and prevent 
further trouble by keeping the whites out of 
the Indian country." With his eyes partly 
•opened by the sensational events of the season 
Steptoe ventured to suggest that a good, in­
dustrious colony be_ permitted to settle in the 
Walla Walla valley On this suggestion Wool 
promptly stepped. "The Cascade range," he 
said, "formed, if not an impassable barrier, an 
excellent line of defense; a most excellent line 
of separation between two races always at war 
when in contact. To permit settlers to pass 
The Dalles and occupy the natural reserve is 
to give up this advantage, throw down the 
wall, and advance the frontier hundreds of 
miles to the east, and add to the protective 
labors of the army." 

This much did General Wool against the 
best interests of Walla Walla valley. And at 
the same time he was inveighing against wars 

in the eastern portion of the Territory, be­
tween Indians and whites, the savages west of 
the Cascades were preparing for a bloody series 
of uprisings, as if in mockery of the bombastic 
vaporings of a general who knew less about 
Indians and Indian fighting than the most 
humble private in the ranks of the Oregon 
volunteers. Thus, at the close of 1856 the 
Walla Walla valley was, by military order, 
remanded to barbarism. In 1857 the present 
Fort Walla Walla was established and a force 
in charge of Lieutenant Colonel Steptoe lay 
inactive at the fort. 

When, in 1855, Governor Stevens and 
party met in the Walla Walla valley to treat 
with the Indians, the governor at once re­
quested the military authorities to establish 
a fort in the valley. Says Hazard Stevens 
in his "Life of Isaac I. Stevens :" 

"The second day after reaching the valley 
Governor Stevens, hearing that Governor Wool 
had just arrived at Vancouver, wrote him a 
letter urging the importance of supplying the 



Walla Walla valley with a strong military 
force, preferably of cavalry, pointing out the 
central location of the point, and its strategic 
advantages for protecting the emigrant road, 
the trails to the Missouri on the east, the Puget 
Sound on the west, and for controlling the dis­
affected Indians, particularly the Cayuses and 
Snakes. This, like other sound and, indeed, 
necessary measures recommended by the gov-
ernor, was ignored by the self-sufficient Wool 
and his officers, until they were obliged to 
adopt them from necessity." 

At the council with the Walla Wallas, held 
in June, 1855, Governor Stevens had urged 
Colonel Wright to be present. He also re-
quested him to send three companies of regu-
lars, including all his mounted men, to the 
Walla Walla valley for that occasion. This 
courteous invitation to participate in the council 
was declined by Wright, but the latter signified 
his intention of sending Colonel Steptoe to 
Walla Walla for the purpose of establishing 
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a post in that country. Thus the fort was at 
last built, in 1857, on Mill Creek, one and one­
half miles west of the town of Walla Walla, 
and six miles from the junction of Mill Creek 
with the Walla Walla river. The necessary 
buildings were completed before November 
20th. 

It is needless to say that the autocratic atti­
tude of General Wool was extremely distaste-
ful to the whites. The following- resolution 
relative to citizens and settlers in Walla Walla 
county being driven from their homes and 
claims by the military authority of Washing-
ton Territory, was passed by the Legislative 
Assembly January 15, 1858: 

Whereas, Certain officers of the United States 
army, commanding in the county of Walla Walla, 
have unlawfully assumed to issue orders prohibit­
ing citizens of this territory from settling in cer-



tain portions thereof, and in accordance with said 
orders have driven citizens and settlers from their 
claims and homes, acquired under the laws of the 
United States, to their great injury; therefore, 
he it 

Resolved, by the Legislative Assembly of the 
Territory of Washington, That in our opinion the 
said orders are without the authority of law, and 
that the acts done under said orders are a high­
handed outrage upon the rights and liberties of 
the American people. 

Resolved, That the Governor be requested to 
give the proper authorities at Washington all 
necessary information on the subject of the out­
rageous usurpation of the military over the civil 
authority. 

Resolved, That we believe the above usurpation 
to be the very worst form of martial law, pro­
claimed by tyrants, not having feeling in common 
with us, nor interests identified with ours. 

Resolved, That a copy of the above resolutions 
be forwarded to our delegate in congress, and that 
he be requested to present the matter to the proper 
department at Washington City, to the end that 
the evil may be corrected. 

There was now, at this critical juncture, 
an impending change. September 13, 1858, 
the war department issued an order by which 
the department of the Pacific Coast was 
divided, the southern portion to be designated 
3.s the Department of California, although it 

included the Umpqua district of Oregon. The 
Department of Oregon was the name of the 
northern division. This embraced Oregon and 
Washington. Headquarters were at Van­
couver. To California General Clarke was as­
signed; General W. S. Harney, fresh from a 
campaign in Utah, assumed command of the 
Oregon department. 

October 29th the latter arrived in Oregon. 
He issued an order, two days later, opening 
the Walla Walla country to settlement. By 
the legislative assemblies of both Washington 
and Oregon resolutions were adopted con­
gratulating the people on the creation of the 
Department of Oregon, on the accession to 



command of General Harney, an old Indian 
fighter who understood the Indian character, 
and on the order reopening the country east 
of the Cascades to settlement, harmonizing 
with a recent act of congress extending the 
land laws of the United States over that por­
tion of the territories. Meanwhile the short 
but vigorous campaign of General Wright had 
effectually subjugated the hostile Indians of 
Eastern Washington, and secured peace. Im­
mediately the country commenced to develop. 
Along the lakes and streams rich tracts of land 
were taken by farmers; the extensive grazing 
lands were occupied by cattlemen. 

There was already a waiting population, 
and with the removal of the military interdict 
it poured into the Walla Walla valley. Public 
lands were surveyed. So early as April, 1859, 
1,000 people had become actual settlers. The 
whole of Eastern Washington was alive to 
opening opportunities. Mining discoveries 
awakened a keener interest, even, than agricul­
tural inducements. No intervening legislation 
had abridged the limits prescribed by the legis­
lative act of 1854 creating Walla Walla county. 
January 19, 1859, the legislature passed an 
act appointing officers for the county. This 
lawfully reorganized the county as an entity, 
though still unorganized, March 15, 1859, a 
quorum of the county commissioners named 
in the act appointed necessary officials to carry 
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on a county organization. Other officers were 
appointed at subsequent sessions of the board. 
Following is the text of the act of January 
19th: 

Sec. 1. Be it enacted by the Legislative As­
sembly of the Territory of Washington, That John 
Mahan, Walter Davis and John C. Smith be, and 
they are hereby appointed county commissioners 
lor Walla-Walla county, and Edward Pearce is hereby 
appointed sheriff of Walla-Walla county, and that 
R. H. Reighart be and he is hereby appointed audi-



tor of Walla-Walla county, and that Samuel D. Smith 
be and is hereby appointed probate judge for 
Walla-Walla county, and that J. L. Simms be and is 
hereby appointed justice of the peace in Walla­
Walla county. 

Sec. 2. The officers named in the foregoing sec-
tion shall, before entering upon the duties of their 
respective offices, qualify as required by the laws 
of this Territory, and shall hold their offices until 
the next annual election, or until their successors 
are elected and qualified. 

Sec. 3. This act to take effect and be in force 
from and after its passage. 

The county of Walla Walla was formally 
organized March 15, 1859. At last, after 
five years of war and delay, the county for 
"which provision had been made so early as 
1854, had at last a government. On the 15th 
there assembled in the town of Walla-Walla 
{the place is thus described in the record of 
the commissioners' proceedings, although it 
had first been called Steptoeville), John Mahan 
and Walter R. Davis, two of the county com­
missioners. Little business was transacted 
aside from the appointment of one or two of­
ficers, and setting the machinery in motion for 
the first county government in Washington 
Territory east of the Cascades. James Gal­
breath was appointed auditor and Lycurgus 
Jackson, sheriff. These officers having quali­
fied the board adjourned to meet March 26th. 

James C. Smith, the third county com-
missioner was present at the second meeting of 
the board. Mr. Mahan was elected chairman. 
Other county officials were appointed, mention 
of whom will be found in the political chapter. 
Into two precincts the county was divided; 

clerks of election were appointed. Whitman 
road district was created, and of this Narcisse 
Raymond was appointed road supervisor. This 
district included "the road as it now runs from 
Steptoeville to old Fort Walla Walla." 
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A detailed accowit of the December 
i855 -."Battle ·of Walla. Walla tt or 
sometimes Jmown as 11Fren~town 
Battle," has · come to light· in . a · 
collection of scrapbooks at Penrose 

· Memorial Library, WJ¥tman College. 
: Lawrence .L; · ·Dodd, curator- . of 
man~ripts · and special collections, 

: came a~ accounts from the diary 
:· of · a · soldier · in ·.that· battle ·while 
~ reading a· sc~p~k • compiled , by 
:M~n Eells, a son ofthe fowider of· 
~Whltirian ~liege~ ~ : ... : ........ ;_ • . ~- · . 
_. · Th~ .scrapbook ··was ·of: clipphlgs 
Jrom an 1892 issu~ of the Tacoma .. 
remember when· ,, •.. . . . .. . . . . - . 

™bune. Dodd also founii 1111.:~-: 
by the same author published bi a19051-. 
issue of the Walla Walla Union. . . 
t ._ The diary keeper and soldier .~as 
George .w.· Miller,· ·who:~ the 
fains at 20 with ms pcirents, ·to Unn · 

~unty,·Oregon, in· 1851. ~ei: turn~ 
toJ;inning, then sew~ on a do~tion 
land claim near Albany~ 1852.:· ~ .· ~ ·. · • 
.: 1n·1860 · · 'ollo .. th IQdliui'·wm, . .-.. .. . a&~me<l~n ... at:eu:~! 
service · · · · f becain ·--tne~Ci · 
ttmg~9JP~rvP~ ln~i{'Ma,1 
>f, · ~-:IJ!L. ... 1~•ot~~ 
~ ~~i~:a-'Jm.r1«(•1~•\· ~ '~~:? 
f _eret in fniite i>'ffia~~.es .· ., .. -; -~:s!•,.i ;,·,,.J! 

) 1 8D Ut:UI • .· ,.. J. • •.. 

Miller ·mecLat.84 ~at -~.;_bome)n 
~-1 ~~ ~19:14 ·.:•:···••.·-:-··.~ .• .;,a,!,~­
>cUeal, vn:::., • . ~-~~1!:l~c~j__s. 

This is ~oiie of a·fo~ ~ry 
>fthe batt•~dtbe.afterin.aQI ·~'it.:\:~ 
· 1n 0ctf. ~·m '¥~1~to:~, 
:all for a'-wimteJr~army":~~J 
,gainst · . .Indiaiis·•·.near,.,Fort,..Walla . 
vana- · ·lb .. ·eo1~bia m,)er"'~'· 
nlisted. ~~I, • e '° i.•' • t;;:• •t;AI~::;~~ .!•.I.Lfai '1: · . asapnva~.a ~~T-:· .. , ; ..• 
Officers . elected ·. by the- JDen ·m-

1uded Davis . .'Layton~::ca~;: :A., 
lanan, · ·1·;firj~ :-r:;lleiiten,~n~cJ~-~ 
3urtows, secbii~lietltei~#t'.anq_.W.~G: ~ 
laley, oraerlysergeant=Oii'~~ ·1:r,. · 
855, the vo. lunt~ \'too~ ~-.QW'~tr,' 
f marclf-'and:-were.--:mmietect,1-rJto :1: 
ervice m·Ponlaiid on the i7tlf'-'1~ot:J 
)ctober, ·1955~·as'0>inpany"H',!&°~Qnµ 
lounted .. Volunteers, second .: bat~ ... 
won, un·der· .cominand of-Maj.Marl:~ 
.. 0nnn.",:: ::.-:_·:::.~:·:._::: .· ~ ~~ ·:!: ;-.-.~~·_.: ~s-: 
The troop.s ni.arched to lhe hioiilh •of' ! 

andy River: .. -and, ~~m .Ui.ere· .w.,re · 
lken by_: ooano :nuP'bn~: :Her.e;: ~ 
1ey were jouiat b .. coml)iriies B~~d·' . 
and the :,line_-of ~ch :was-.ap~e 
tken for . Fort .. Walla Walla: ':'l1ief ·: 
?ached 1Wells _S~gs .. :'7j· -~4. ~~:; 
,uth of Boardman --:- Nov. 17::The . 
'iller ~ pi_~µp .th~ a~~ll!1~'t;.··; ~ 
• ·That .night, Johnny ~·. sof 

r William l'rfcBean, chief- Hudson'f 
lay Co. factor~ came into camp as i 
ourier from Narcisse Raymond, i 
?sid~t of the· Walla Wall~WalleY, 
ith a report that Pell1)eu-mox-m6i 
::mer of the Walla Wallas) had sent E . .. . ... 

..,_·awer mae. ot a·~ ~;.::.1 fftbe- ·surrounding -~ew-~:,.~:W.!I;!'.,;_. 

[~'.f!i:-~P~g"~cn'::~~m~~ . 
'""~

1
. ~~-- ·.• d • ··•~wara"1 

~-;_unmediate ~t,- ~ v~.Clng-:.~ "'::.~~l/ 

~=~,~~~~-\,)i,uie•- " · ·· ofthe · · · d and ordeted : 
f,to.haJt==or·~;·~· ·· ·-~} 
~ .., 'ho t"··truce~~-: r.ove'd~~to}.~ :·~ naL~.Wft. l.~ ... ~ ·· · · ---~·c:-:~n ··.·8·:~>>::-aJ 
-f!~~. Y~ow.,. "" --~, ~.~e,'.Jt~.~. Jim:: it:'.~=-'. ~l 

id.is@ver¢d tbat:a·"'.l~ge body 0( ·~·T­
:$'dfmi were· corrifng from tile dil:~oii; 
ffroin 'whfclr·tne chief had come~ ~A·.: 
~:~S:gnaJ _.,_giv~ and _th~ ~dv~clni·1 
•.party balted, .. ·every one .of .. w~~ ·: 
';,dismounted and~ by his horse.--~· .. ~~ 

, - • - •• ,• •. ·., . ..;.• 1 ... 

\~\•~, the old c,ilet asked if Na~~:~ 
;~()Jney, the_ Jndi~ _-_ag~t,. was ~!Ji ~ 
.• ~~-~~t~~be.•~•Abe~~ ~ •'"e An..:- to see bim.- messenaer-. :. ,lolJ .... ~'i'· •. ·- .;.;.a..: f-.;,,~•·~ 
'.W3.S sent back t~.report ·Wl1&1t UCI!-' •. 
' ' . ire,J at the front. 'llie. vol .. ·, 
~ .......... ······-·• .. ·~ 

teers were halted on the . hWsid~. li} . 
plain view of the flag of truce,~:. 
Col. Kelly and Agent Olney, with Johij . 

· McBean, Interpreter, went fol"Wm'.d ~:: 
•m~t the ·great ·WaJ,1~ ·W~µa cN.et.! 
· When they met, Peupemno:rmox,. fB J 
· an insolent manner, demanded) w! · ·an armed force had come to. Inv . -~ 
··his country:., . ··... :. ,; .. <·. ="i -~ 
~-'!:"Col. K~lly,-answering~ ~d he ~.J 
· come to chastise him and his peoi>f9-4 
for wrongs they ha_!! ~~u~.it 

· chief talked about ~ce nego~. _a?.>. . ;-
~:SS.yi,lg he bad committed ·no W1'.'0 :r 
~ ~.,\that he dt::m1di4\.lJ'wiivt:'w j,e· .

1 

with the whites. • • · ~ 
. ~- ; .. But, Col. J{elly · told him of~~ 
;- pillaging and destroying of Fo~, 
~ Walla Walla, the .seizing of gov~:­
-~Jnent·· property there, ~e . carrying 
:~ away·of the Hudson's Bay O>mi>M.Y:f 
fp,ds, the burning of. the· storehouse 
;i,.Of Walla Walla Valley ranchers Uoy4 
1.V. Btj>oke, John.F, Noble ~d ~o~ 
· .. <;:. Bonifon!, and. a~q~~ting:: · :r 
:.loom to th~ own~-. :1. .-• .- ·: · · · • •• ;f 
::::. •·"When .. confronted :·with-: th~: tc;:iminal. ·ads,--: Peiipeuniopnoj •. 
~\clenied ·having· done ·any'.-~.:~--
=things, but finally'admitted they W.er.!·­

~the cts"·of~bDi.~Oµzig'tilen •whOm.tie. ~ -·~.1 · -~- .... ~ t'Wlieri :infoniioo: .coill~.Qot}~ • ~..,. ••11.- .. , Ca ·•· 1 
"that =·~Howlis-"bW~pum,- a .· ~. •. 
~ef~~had,•i~ed·--~to:seeing him_: 
~ distr{l)iite the •"ooos to~ bis people witq : 1
~Lf.;• • ., . . 'i....'~.IJ' .• c1i1a:7i• Out 8 ar,l~t pile"; 
• IJ.lo' own.lJCIUws, . . . ~ ,.._ ...• 
-..:··r.blankets~ · · .. '9 ~- · ucdment for the •. o , . . . ,.as~ .. ~th- -.:r.:...: • ... ·.•· .• ;·~:to,.;Wn~Wl ·w.au· 1D a~-, 
l~:flii ~t°ei;.be•p;lB~-no~~,.; 
lbut-finallyj'offi.,.. to ~.his·peopl.e .: 
-testo·· ·iife~ - ··rar.:.as'they were: 
~abJ •-:_~• • ~ ·::-• I ~ • .:C--'eqffor,tlie ~balane,.~~-~"1fl':-·~ ... ,r:,,. · .... ~. ~-';.·:;;;::..-. ~ ce. ... :~~ ~~--~-·-•. •:.:,....-,· ·.: ....... ·,<t-

~~.,&.•CoJJCelli~~>ifilnecLio·· him ~t 
rthis:,.c::V:e>ulc;lf~.n.Qf :/b¢ ~ ,, slifficie~.t .. 
; temuiieration;::but that his men m~' 
,:-, . me ·. aiid .. ve.' · their arms 8J1d ;.-~ ~-.·- -,~¥ ·~•Jt :.the bid chief ~~::;;;~t,.i#~roi~~g "t~.aime•~:· 
.::; tbe· nm clay. ~ana :deliver up ~­
.;~rms'ariifammiirution.{d · ·. · ·· ·· ~!::; 
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~deportment ttuot-.-Pe•"""'mnoxmox oruy 
"d_-:.,..:"".:. .,;,J.~-·-, --r.-&'t'"·- alt . . :1 ~ wut: m'""'ich w,m e reartv 
~ i • . • ,,._:_.i, -~- . -.J!•~- ..•• ~ • ,_...,~.-ct~ _ ,or .Ud,ue... , ne .. ..,... .. ""' 
. hfs". iritepn#t·.-Jfo ,:eip!aln to . him 
' distinctzy thatbe'cowd take his flag of 
truce ~go back to bis village arid 
get ready foi:battle>but by so ~oin,g 
an . attack ';wowd"~be· "Jnade on·: his 

• villa e . imme<liat .. 1 :· ()n ~e .other · 
band~ it-he and bisz-~tes chose to 

. ·remain with the arJ!lY until the terms: 
of his proposed treaty-were Julfilled~-. 
his poeople would not be molested . . -,,. 

"Thus bard-pressed, the haughty· 
old chief consented to ·remain as ·a­

. hostage for the fu.lfillinent of bis. 
words; assuring Col. ~elly none of his. 
people would remove ; from their 

'. camp· during the night :and that he 
:.would haye ~ -people cook pltµ1fy _of . 

food for • the soldiers to . eat neit 
morning!' .. ,. ·- · ,_,,. "' • · 
~be continued). , 



Indians outnumbered volunteers 
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in WW battle 
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Principal scenes from the Battle qf Walla 
Walla - with present locations ...: include: (1 l 
Fort Walla Walla - later Wallula; (2) where 

. , •· 

. . 

~ ··;~·,~: ... . 

:0 111.ECOK 

Oregon Volunteers · met massed Indians at 
narrow canyon; (3) •la Rocque Cabin - o_ld 

. ... 

l"'ALLA~ ­-L, 

Clem Bergevin .home; . (4) Tellier cabin; (5) 
Whitman Mission; (6) Fort Curry. · 

llli . 
he Indians had been gathering in 

considerable numbers on our left and front, 
and before any movements were made the 
reporr of a gun was hea.rd on our left. This 
seemed to be the signal to charge, as the 

compa~ies formed in a line and dashed 
forth, opening a heavy fire on the enemy as 
they ran." 

,.:. 
- Diary of George W. Miller. 

Oregon Volunteers 



-

EDITOR'S NOTE: This is part two of a 
four-part sto ry detailing events of the 
Oecemher 1855 " Battle of Walla Walla." 
The details are lro m a dairy kept by George 
W . Miller, a soldier in the Oregon Volun­
Ieers who crossed the plains in 1851. 

When Ihe Indian wats were concluded, 
which reopened the region, Miller 
homesteaded at what later became Dayton; 
and he owned extensive holding in Gatfield 
CounIy. In part one. Miller told how the 
volunteer sold1e,s marched up Ihe Touchet 
River to a narrow canyon whete they met 
the forces led by Chief Peupeumoxmox of 
the Walla Walla tribe. 

• . 

-, l(ANC:.F:.QRC:.HARD 
··- :.,r- :-> 

Ol1heU--0,,.BtAlsta"I 

Col. Kelly, as night came on, saw he 
was being led by Peupeumonnox into 
the canyon and a possible ambush by 
the Walla Walla Indians. After calling 
a halt, he conferred with his officers 
and elected to camp for the night. : . 

It was lo be a miserable night for 
the soldier:s. 

They spent the riight without wood, 
water or food, Col. Kelly wanting to 

remember when· 
be extra cautious that none of the 
Indians made their escape, Miller 
notes. · 

During the night, Peupeumoxmox 
asked to send a man to the Indian 
camp, telling his people of the treaty 
terms. Col. Kelly agreed, although 
suspecting it was the last be would~ 
of the Indian. He WS!I right. 

t ·, ~ .. 

Miller again pick lip his account: · · 

"The young N~ ·Perce that was 
taken prisoner with him understood 
their language pretty well, and af­
terwards, related that when that wily 
old serpent instructed his messenger 
he told him to tell his women to pack 
up inhaste and go to the mountains." 

As if to add to the miseries of the 
volunteers, it snowed heavily that 
night, and all during the night Indians 
kept shouting messages from the hills 
to the prisoners in a language not 
understood by the interpreter . . 

"Next morning another Indian was 
captured which took the place of the 
messenger who failed to return the 
evening before, and the son of 
Peupeumoxmox was permitted to 
come into camp and talk with his 
father. 

"When the two met, the old chief 
said he wanted his people to come in 
and make a treaty of peace, but his 
son said they were waiting for Five 
Crows to come back before deciding 
what to do." 

This-proves another fact related by 
the yowig Nez Perce prisoner in his 

narrative to Col. Kelly after the 
battle. He said Peupeumoxmox had 
sent all _ his available force of 
warriors, under command of Five 
Crows, 60 miles distant to accomplish 
a feat of prowess over Major Cllinn's 
command at Fort Henrietta. 

"No doubt· but ·that the most ab-
. sorbing thoughts of his mind were 
that Five Q-ows ~ould obliterate the 
little band of volunteers and the soil of\ 
Umatilla drink up their blood as it 
were a sh~wer of rain. 

"When the volunteers were ready to 
start to the Indian camp, his whole 
purpose_ was delay. He knew that 
every moment he could delay Col. 
Kelly's movements, brought Five 
Crows that much nearer his relief. He 
was anxious to delay, saying his 
people needed time to prepare and 
cook food for so many soldiers, and he 
wanted it ready for them to eat, on 
their arrival at his village. · 

"Thus, he delayed our movements 
until nearly noon, when the voltm­
teers made a forward march toward 
the Indian camp, with a vague hope of 
having a sumptuous feast on their 
arrival. But, note their consternation 
at finding the camp deserted and only 
a few Indians to be seen on the 
surrounding hills to watch the 
movements of the volunteers. 

"This was in exact violation of the 
treaty of peace, betw~n him and Col. 
Kelly on the preceding day. 

"The command, being overcome 
with hunger and knowing they could 
not get a bite to eat until they reached 
Major Cllinn's camp at the mouth of 
the Touchet River, were soon on the 
march,'' arriving there at dusk," 
Miller says. 

Early dawn's Jght revealed Five 
Crow's men on the hills arowid the 
camp. The Indians were now poised 
for the three-day running battle. 

Miller's account details how the 
battle lines were established and the 
fighting which ensued: 

"On the morning of the 7th of 
December 18.55, commenced the 
battle of Walla Walla. 

"Companies B and H crossed the 
Touchet and formed in line on the 
plain; companies I and K soon fell 
into line, companies A and F being 

ordered to take charge of the baggage 
train and prisoners. 

"The Indians had been gathering in 
considerable numbers on our left and 
front, and before any movements 
were made the report of a gwi was 
heard on our left. This seemed to be 
the signal to charge, as the companies 
formed in line and dashed forth, 
opening a heavy fire on the enemy as 
they ran. A running fight ensued 
across the hills eastward to the Walla 

Walla River, ~e volunteers pursuing 
the Indians at the top of their speed, 
shooting V.:henever an opportunity 
presented itself. Those having the 
fastest ho~ sped away, leaving 
others behmd wttil they became 
widely scattered. 

"The horse I rode was a small, 
heavy-set cayuse, which seemed 

. when jumping over the sagebrush, t~ 
be going up one side and down the 
other. The consequences were I didn't 
get along as fast as some, but I soon 

·found I was nearing the front Crom the 
•• • • I • 

sound of musketry-and the deafening· 
yells of the Indians. . 

. "The. fo~ces of the enemy kept 
mcreasmg m numbers from the time 
the skirmish commenced until we 
rea~hed the La Roche (La Roque) 
cabm on the Walla Walla River, while 
the forces of the volunteers were 
gro~ing less. Here the enemy became 
more stubborn and slow to move 
along. TIIis gave the volunteeers who 
had been left behind an opportunity to 
come to the front. The Indians were 
driven almost at the point of the 
bayonet only a short distance above 

the La Roche cabin, two miles below 
Whitman's station, and eight miles 
from the place where the fight 
commenced. 

"By this time, their whole force 
became engaged_ in the battle, and 
estimates were made by different 
ones, ranging from 600 up to 2,000. My 
own estimate, put down in my diary 
at the time, was 1,000. Col. Kelly, in 
his official report, estimated the 
number of warriors •engaged in the 
fight at 600. , 

"From Gov.'Stevens' report (1,000 
to 1,200 warriors) my estimate is low·; 
but, be that as it may, their numbers 
became so overwhelmingly in excess 
of ours that our forces were checked. 
The hills were on our left and the 
Walla Walla River on our right. Here 
they formed a line across the plain, 
from the foothills to the river, it being 
partially covered with brush, while 
the bills were covered with mowited 
hostiles, who played an active part, 
commanded by leaders of matchless 
skill and daring. .. .; 

"Their purpose was to leave no foes 
to rise behind them; their policy was 
the policy of extermination... . , 

'·'From the brush on the plain and 
the timber on the river, they pow:ed a 
murderous Ure on the volwitcers, who 
were compelled to fall back. This was 
the hottest place anywhere during the 
engagement. Here, privates Henry 
Crowe and S. S. Van Hagerman fell 
mortally wounded and several others 
were wounded. ' 



EDITOR'S NOTE: This is part two of a 
foU1-pan story detailing events of the 
Decemher 1855 "Battle of Walla Walla." 
The details arc 1rom a dairy kept by George 
W. Miller, a soldier in the Oregon Volun· 
teers who crossed the plains in 1851. 

When the Indian wars were concluded, 
which reopened the region, Miller 
homesteaded at what later became Dayton; 
and he owned extensive holding in Garfield 
County. In part one. Miller told how the 
volunteer soldiers marched up the Touchet 
River to a narrow canyon whete they met 
the forces led by Chief Peupeumoxmox of 
the Walla Walla tribe. 

_, l(ANC::1:QRC::.HARD 
Of"'" \hen-llullom 

Col. Kelly, as night came on, saw he 
was being led by Peupeumonnox into 
the canyon and a possible ambush by 
the Walla Walla Indians. After calling 
a halt, he conferred with his officers 
and elected to camp for the night. ; . 

It was to be a miserable night for 
the soldiers. 

They spent the riight without wood, 
water or food, Col. Kelly wanting lQ 

remembe, when 
be extra cautious that none of the 
Indians made their escape, Miller 
notes. · 

During the itigh(· P~upemnomiox 
asked to send a man to the Indian 
camp, telling his people of the treaty 
terms. Col. Kelly agreed, although 
suspecting it was the last be would~ 
of the Indian. He wa:i right. 

~,; . 
Miller again pi_ckllp his account: '· 

. --~ ~ 
"The young Nez Perce that was 

taken prisoner with him understood 
their language pretty well, and af­
terwards, related that when that wily 
old serpent instructed his messenger 
he told him to tell his women to pack 
up inhaste and go to the mountains." 

As if to add to the miseries of the 
volunteers, it snowed heavily that 
night , and all during the night Indians 
kept shouting messages from the hills 
to the prisoners in a language not 
understood by the interpreter. . 

"Next morning another Indian was 
captured which took the place of the 
messenger who failed to return the 
evening before, and the son of 
Peupeumoxmox was permitted to 
come into camp and talk with his 
Cather. 

"When the two met, the old c.hief 
said he wanted his people to come in 
and make a treaty of peace, but his 
son said they were waiting for Five 
Crows to come back before deciding 
what to do.'' 

This-proves another fact related by 
the young Nez Perce prisoner in his 

I 

narrative to Col. Kelly after the 
battle. He said Peupewnoxmox had 
sent all _ his available force of 
warriors, tmder command of Five 
Crows, 60 miles distant to accomplish 
a feat of prowess over Major alinn's 
command at Fort Henrietta. 

"No doubi- but that the most ab-
. sorbing thoughts of his mind were 
that Five Crows ~ould obliterate the 
little band of voltmteers and the soil of \ 
Umatilla drink up their blood as it · 
were a sh!Jwer of rain. 

"When the volunteers were ready to 
start to the Indian camp, his whole 
purpose_ was delay. He knew that 
every moment he could delay Col. 
Kelly's movements, brought Five 
Crows that much nearer his relief. He 
was anxious to delay, saying his 
people needed time to prepare and 
cook food for so many soldiers, and he 
wanted it ready for them to eat, on 
their arrival at his village. · 

" Thus, he delayed our movements 
until nearly noon, when the voltm­
teers made a forward march toward 
the Indian camp, with a vague hope of 
having a swnptuous feast on their 
arrival. But, note their consternation 
at finding the camp deserted and only 
a few Indians to be seen on the 
surrounding hills to watch the 
movements of the volunteers. 

"This was in exact violation of the 
treaty of peace, bet ween him and Col. 
Kelly on the preceding day. 

"The command, being overcome 
~ith hlDlger and knowing they could 
not get a bite to eat until they reached 
Major ChiM's camp at the mouth of 
the Touchet River, were soon on the 
march,'' arriving there at dusk,'' 
Miller says. 

Early dawn's tight revealed Five 
Crow's men on the hills around the 
camp. The Indians were now poised 
for the three-day running battle. 

Miller's accolDll details how the 
battle lines were established and the 
fighting which ensued: 

"On the morning of the 7th of 
December 1855, commenced the 
battle of Walla Walla. 

"Companies B and H crossed the 
Touchet and formed in line on the 
plain; companies I and K soon fell 
into line, companies A and F being 

ordered to take charge of the baggage 
train and prisoners. 

' 'The Indians had been gathering in 
considerable numbers on our left and 
front, and before any movements 
were made the report of a gun was 
heard on our left. This seemed to be 
the signal to charge, as the companies 
formed in line and dashed forth, 
opening a heavy fire on the enemy as 
they ran. A running fight ensued 
across the hills eastward to the Walla 

Walla River, µie voltmteers pursuing 
the Indians at the top of their speed, 
shooting whenever an opportunity 
presented itself. Those having the 
fastest horses sped away, leaving 
others · behind until they became 
widely scattered. 

"The horse I rode was a small, 
heavy-set cayuse, which seemed, 

. when jumping over the sagebrush, to 
be going up one side and down the 
other. The consequences were I didn't 
get along as fast as some, but I soon 

· found I wa_s ~~ri~g the front from the 

sound of musketry-and the deafening· 
yells of the Indians. 

. "The. fo~ces of the enemy kept 
increasing m nwnbers from the time 
the skirmish commenced unW we 
rea~hed the La Roche (La Roque) 
cabin on the Walla Walla River, while 
the forces of the voltmteers were 
growing less. Here the enemy became 
more stubborn and slow to move 
along. This gave the volunteeers who 
had been left behind an opportunity to 
come to the front. The Indians were 
driven almost at the point of the 
bayonet only a short distance above 

the La Roche cabin, two miles below 
Whitman's station, and eight miles 
from the place where the fight 
commenced. 

"By this time, their whole force 
became engaged, in the battle, and 
estimates were made by different 
ones, ranging from 600 up to 2,000. My 
own estimate, put down in my diary 
at the time, was 1,000. Col. Kelly, in 
his official report, estimated the 
number of warriors •engaged in the 
fight at 600. .. 

·: 
"From Gov.'Stevens' report (1,000 

to 1,200 warriors) my estimate is low'; 
but, be that as it may, their numbers 
became so overwhelmingly in excess 
of ours that our forces were checked. 
The hills were on our left and the 
Walla Walla River on our right. Here 
they formed a line across the plain, 
from the foothills to the river , it being 
partially covered with brush, while 
the hills were covered with mounted 
hostiles, who played an active part, 
commanded by leaders of matchless 
skill and daring. 

.. ,, •i 
"Their purpose was to leave no foes 

to rise behind them; their policy was 
the policy of extermination ... 

"From the brush on the plain and 
the timber on the river, they poured a 
murderous fire on the volunteers, who 
were compelled to fall back. This was 
the hottest place anywhere during the 
engagement. Here, privates Henry 
Crowe and S. S. Van Hagerman fell 
mortally wounded and several others 
were wounded. · 
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"At this critical moment, U. John 
M. Burrows, with a small detach­
ment, was ordered to cross the fence 
that surrowided the La Roche field 
and charge upon the Indians in the 
brush, the writer being one of the 
number who crossed. When only a few 

. steps beyond the fence, the brave 
Burrows fell . dead and Capt. Lyman 
B. Munson and several others were 
wounded. 

"A dispatch having been sent to 
Capt. Alfred V. Wilson of Company A 
to come forward, he and his company 
came at full speed, dismounted, and 
with fixed bayonets pushed their way 

through the brush, driving the enemy 
before them. In a short time, Capt. 
Bennett with Company F was on hand 
and with these reinforcements the 
Indians were driven about nine miles 
farther up the Walla Walla River, 
where they took possession of a house 
(the Tellier cabin, located south of 
Whitm·an Station and on the north side 
of the Walla Walla River) with a close 
built fence around it. 

"In attempting to dislodge them, 
Capt. Bennett and Private E. B. Kelso 
of Company A were killed." 

Next week: The battle continues. 

Battle of Walla Walla 
claimed many lives 

By VANCE ORCHARD 
()( !he l.hon-S...n 

EDITOR'S NOTE: This is part three of a four-part story 
detailing events of the December 1855 " BaWe of ~alla 
Walla." The details are from a diary kept by a soldier of 
the Oregon Volunteers, George W. Miller._ Previous 
sections have told of the ~agement of the Indians under 
Qtlefs Peopeomoxmox and Five Crows ~d the h?l~g of 

"the former as a hostage. The battle raged Ill the vicuuty of 
the present Bergevin fann west of Walla Walla on U.S. 
· Highway 12, with the death of Capt. ~E:lt and ~vate 
: Kelso. Miller's account, drawing from his diary continues. 

~ '.'Soon after this a howitzer, found at Fort Walla Walla, 
:·was brought to bear upon them by Cap~. Wilson, but 
:having nothing but a sandhill to lay the piece on, when 
: firinS? the fourth round it b11:st, W?~ding C~t .. ~~r:1· 

l "I• 

;•but dispersing the em;my from theu- strongn~ld. 1llls 
~was immediately followed up by the vohmteers, an~ the 
'-boa.ies of Bennett and Kelso were recovered. The baggage 
~train and flag of truce· prisoners bad al!"~dy. ~v-~ -af 
;~ La Roche cabin (on the Bergevin place-;,Ed.). , which. 
:was used as a hospital .. Peopeoinoxmox, with his sten--_, 
,torian voice, began_·to cheer. up his. warriors and;~ri-: 
;-courgage them to be brave, recei~g· responses from: 
·them at short intervals, · ' . <, , • • • , 
· '.'Col. Kelly bad just.rode from the front back to the_ 
hospital, when Frank Crabtree came in with his shoulder~ 
shattered and his ann daruilin2 bv hi:i side. and reoorted' 
Capt. David Layton wounded and surroun_ded with five_or ·. 
six others on Uie bills at th~ front. ; :'.;. . .-, ~ -,; ,~ . :, :._. 
-: ; .. • -~ • • .. • • -} ~ I~ _t ) : .,-" • 

~ ·•."Just at this critical moment the questiori was asked:· 
1~What shall be done with the prisoners?' Col. Kelly took in 



-

rode back to the front/,. · :. : . · . :~.'-'• d _ '.: • • Tt:: 
. tRopes w~ p~_ur«:<f .~ :tle ilie prisoners: but they~ 
refu.5ed, except one, a young Nez Perce~ who crossed bis ; 
~ds and said __ he ~3_!1~ i;o be tieif"O!te)'ery large ~ 
dian, ~own by_th~ ~~e. of Wolf.Skin,:'l!bo .was.vecri 

, talkative ~d. tried to ~pe _from the· gwn:d ttie %gli'-( 
be!!lre, drew a ~ge knife·concealed.m his ieggfug;u'-1 
teting a demon-like yell, and began to cut his way thro~~; 
th~ guard, . wounding -Sergeant-~or:. Jsaac._- Miller!° 
~erely in the arni. • • . . -· . : · ·:: •· '17.~·. :-- ·-::-: 

-!"The others . ( six• .were' held captive) excepl · fl1e .. Nez 
. Perces (l~)'.ear~ld bo·y) wbo_had 1:>een:tt~ wete'tcying~ 
to make theu- way through the guards ·and escape' to \he· 
hills but their efforts were futile. It was only the work ofa 

·lI_loment, brought on. by their own remorseless bands 
. )-when thev fell to the·er:ound. welteriru?intheir eore:" }, l' 
" ."H the body of ~opeom~QX was mutilated, the·aa=· 
:. was brought on by a relentless fpe;-whose mode of warfare \ 
:always was insensible_.to the. feelin'gs of others. At this · 
"ti.me and place those brave volunteers had their feelings 
wrou£ht uo to the hil?hest oitch and their excitement ran· 

;,wild as th~y saw_ the . scalp,_~~~ of ~ brother, a 
.. s~ter, or some relative, flapping from the top of some pole 
,planted on a prominent point on the hills to our left. A fair . 
a~d candid mind could hardly look on the scene before 

;him without exonerating the boys in all that was done. ·. ·. 
....... .;,._. ..... • •• . • t ............. ••• .. . • -

:\;.~.,Ihe cont~last¢ till after sundown, when the Indians : 
• . ~th(lrew and the -volunteers returned to the La Roche · 
: : eal>iri tircil and hungry; having had· nothing to eat since ' 
.' :early·morning. Caplpfires we,re;.bUi.lt, and camp .kettles::~ 
,:and coffee pots were·hung over the:blaze to ·prepand:-~ 
• scanty mt:al for the boys who had fought ·so riobly for ·us-~ 

duiingtheday. -:. . . _-.;<: -~ . .- --~! . · :-,.-1 
... A guard of 20, the writer being orie, were on their way~' 

up the hillsidf: to be "stalioned on duty. ·When about -300-
yards from camp a ball from the enemy's gun came ·. 
whizzing by the wind from it_ was forcib1y felt. Over went ' 
the camp kettles and coffee pots to extinguish the fires, . 
and all hands were on·guard till motningrthe er,emy firing :: 
. a few shots into camp during the night: . · . · , ... , . · • 

"Early on the morning of the 8th, a hasty meal was 
prepared and partly eaten when the Indians ca.me with 
increased forces. retaking all the positions they wei-e 

: driven from the day before. U . Charles B. Pillow with 
Company A, and Lt. Adolph115 B. Hannah, with Company 
H, were ordered to charge upon and drive them from the 
brush on the plain and the timber skirting the river and 
hold these positions if possible. 

"U. Fellows with Company F, U. John T. Jeffries with 
. Company B, U. Hand. with Comoanv I and Capt. Cor-
·-noyer with.Company K;·were ordered to ta\~-p~Essron ~f­

the most.available points ori tJietiills and assail'the· enerri . 1 
at other·p· laces if-· i-acticaI 1be'Indian r. · •• · ·•, r,.,!. .Y •' . . . , . P •. s fotig}lt for, u1e1r . 
positions wi_th all th'e·skill mid lirav ' · ·of th · ~-••✓'~d- ·,·:1 

especiallyin the bncih;wbeieth~ ~gbt ~ rl~o···•~ 8! ~ · 
'.-'~ee of Company ffand on·e ·-of Corfi~·"·''A..'}8~eH{ : 

wounded, but they·were ' dri'veri from thelr'·sfuirigliQld: 
WMrP. thev · shcit · witn·•thf.· sk:i11. and or·eclsiori 'of -~•; 
~arksman. I ~w U: Hanan while in a low''place, "pull off 
his.coat, h~g_1t on the.end of a pole._then place his hat on ._ 
top and raise 1t above the brush; in an iristant, the brush 
was • mowed around the object by bullets froqi: the 

. ~emi~' gun's, and'the·warwboop ceased as- thelnaians:' 
withdrew from the'field.'•.,~ .~- -;_ -. . . .,._~_ ~, •., . .>) ~ .- . ~ . 

"'f1:1at nigh~ a co!Jri~ !¥~ sent ~th-a <lispatc_h ·to Fort"-· 
Henn~ f~r c?~panies D. ~d ~ W come in haste to the 
battlefield. · . •· .,. --.- -,, --; , ,_ ~ , · . · ·. 

"_On 'th·e·ID:Or~g ~(-the 9tb;they· (the~fudia~-) were al. 
their _work agam;b~ not SQ. early as on the preceding · 
morrung. The yol~~rs be_ing fatigued and nearly worn . 
~ut: ~I. Kelly chose to act on the defensive and hold the 
position, the same as before, until companies D and I from 
Fort Henrietta came to reinforce ·us. During the day, · 
attacks were made on companies A and H in the brush, 

rememoer wnen 

and B on the hills, which resulted in great loss to the 
enemy. The other companies on the hills did good service 
'in repelling the attacks made on them during the day. 

''Early on the morning of the 10th it was discovered that 
the enemy had possession of every available position that 
was held by us the previous days. As soon as breakfast 
had been eaten. U. James McAuliff (later. to be a mavor 
of Walla Walla-Ed.) with Company B, char~ed on the 
Indians who had taken possession of the breastworks 
thrown up by them the day before, on the point of a hill, to 
protect them from the flying bullets of our guns. They had 
not taken such a deep hold in the brush as usual, on ac­
count of the severe loss they sustained the day before . 

"Companies A and H soon recovered their brush, and 
drove them from the pits on the sand knoll. The companies 
from the hills made preparations for a charge, and as 
many as had horses suitable for the occasion were 
mounted, and gallantly charged the enemy in the face of a 
heavy fire, scattering them in all directions, to return to 
the battlefield no more . 

"Thus ended the long contested struggle between· 
contending foes. Col. Kelly in his official report says: "I 
cannot say too much in praise of the conduct of the officers 
of-the several companies, and the soldiers .under their 
command. They did their duty bravely and·well during 
those.four days of trying battle.' · · 

"The loss Company H sustained (Miller's comoanv­
Ed.) killed and wounded during the engagement nearly : 
equalled that of all the other companies, as will be seen 
from the list of killed and wounded: · 
- !'capt. Charles Bennett, ··eo. ~·F, ·killed; U: J. M. 
Burrows, Co. H, killed." privates · Aiidi-ew ·Kelso, Co. A, · 
killed; S.S. Van Hagerman, r, killed; Jasper Flemming, 
Co.· A. ' mortally wounded; · Joseph ·Sturdevant;-- Co. B, 
mortally wounded; Henry Crow, Co. -H, mortally wound-

··ed; Sgt. Maj .' Isaac Mill«;!', :Co. -H:, 'l:l'Oimded; Capt. A.V. 
Wi,Ison, Co. 'A, wounded; Capt. 1"LB.:· Miinsori; Co. I, 
wounded; Capt. Davis,Layto_n;_u;: H., ,wowigect; privates · 
Casper· Snook,· Co. H, · wounded;-'•1';n J. -Payne; Co. H, . 
wounded; Frank Crabfree; eo: H, '\founded; Nathan Fry, 
Co: H., wounded; John Smith, Co.1 H;wounded; A. M. 
Addington, Co. H, wounded. Isaac Miller, Co.-H, wounded; 
Frank Duva!, Company A, wounded; G. W. Smith, Co. B, 
wounded and J.B. Gervais, Co. K, wounded. 

"It's a difficult m?tter to get the. ex~ct nurpber of In­
dians 'killed in time of battle. The bodies of 39 were 

.. counted on the battlefield after it was an· over; .and it is 
estimated that at least 30 were carried off at night by 
putting ropes around their necks and pulling them with a · 
horse. It was plain to see the trails where they were 
dragged away. Al that time no one put their loss in the 
field at less than 100. The ratio of wounded to the-number 
killed is generally estimated at 21h to one. At this ratio, ~e 
killed and wounded during the battle_ W?ul_<:11:>e -350. ~his 



rode back to the front. · . · ·. : . · . ~~• .,~ -i!. '.! · • f t:~ 
·~•Ropes were procured. to . tie the prisoners: but they~ 

refused, except one; a yt>lmg°Nez Perce~ who crossetl bis; 
hands and said be wanted to be tied;Une· very large 1&1 

dian, known by the·.1iame ·of Wolf.Skm,:.wbo.was. v~'!: 
' talkative and.tried to 'escapejfrom the· ~ ·tlie W~tff 0

before, drew·a large lmife·roricealed..in hls .. legging;l%.:11 
tenng a demon-like y~, arid began to cut his waythrotigJ.ti 
the guard, . wounding _Sergeant-Major:.'lsaac- Miller. 
severely in the arni. . . . .. ' ' ·:· .. ~ •. :.,---

·:."Toe others .(six· .were' h~d captiv~) excepl" ffie' Ne-L. 
. Perces (IS-year-old oo·y) who bad 1>een:nec4 were ·tcyuig-: 
to make their way through .the guards 'arid escape' to \be' 
hills but their efforts were futile. It was only the work ofii 

·moment, brought on by their own remorseless MndsL 
.~•when thev fell to the'eround. welteriru!iri.thefr ~ore:"' }, ?r.'' 
, ."H the body of ~opeomoxmox was mutilated, tbe-'aa·· 
:.was brougnt on ~Ya relentless f~ose mode of warfare 1 
1always was insensible .to the. feelin'gs of others. At this 
'-time and place those brave volunteers had .their feelings 
wroUMt uo to the hil?.best oitch and their excitement ran· 

;,wild as th~y saw_ the . scalp,_ EM;r~~ of ~ brother, a 
.. sister, or some relative, flapping from the top of some pole 
planted on a prominent point on the hills to our left. A fair . 
al)d candid mind could hardly look on the scene before 

:him without exonerating the boys in all that was done. · · 
....... -.:.,_ .... , • • • . • 1 ........ - ···. .. .. • • • 

:•\;~j.'he conte~l~ till after sundown; when the Indians : 
' . with<irew and the -volunteers returned to the La Roche ., 
:. : c.atiui t.ireil and hungry, having bad· nothing to·eat since· 
~ :_early·morning. Campfires we,re;bhllti and camp kettles.:·~ 
.: · and coffee pots were· bung over the; Dlaze to ·prepare·a • ·! 
' · scanty mtal for the boys who had fought ·so riobly for us-~ 

duiingtheday.'. . /~:- -~.: .. ;:; • · " · _wl 

:•.• A guard of 20, the writer being otie, were on the.ir way~' 
up the hillside to be·stationed on duty. When about .30(). 
yards from camp a ball from the enemy's gun _came : 
whizzing by the wind from it_ was forcibly felt. Over went · 
the camp kettles and coffee pots to extinguish the fires, 
and all hands were on guard till mo'ntlngrthe er,emy firing :· 
.a few shots into camp during the night: . · . · , · .. -'· 

"Early on the morning of the 8th, a hasty in.ea! was 
prepared and partly eaten when the Indians canie with• 
increased forces. retakinJ? all the Positions they were 

: driven from the day before. Lt. Charles B. Pillow with 
Company A, and Lt. Adolph115 B. Hannah, with Company 
H, were ordered to charge upon and drive them from the 
brush on the plain and the timber skirting the river and 
hold these positions if possible. 

"U. Fellows with Company F, U. John T. Jeffries with 
. Company B, U. Hand. with Comoanv I and Capt. Cor-
·. noyer. with. Company K, ·were ordered to tak1t p~ess:t'on ~f· 
ih;e m~.~vaila~le.~,!nts .~-d ~e~ and assail.'~"e: ei:ierriy ~. 
at other places if·practicaf. '!be Indians fought for.'tneir : 
positions with all th'e'skill inid lirave. of th ' · C "'\us1d' .. ·:• 
especially in the bncih; where th..;,-~ght ldJ d~or·'? 3! ~ · 

"Three· of eo· . . .H1 ., d ~.::,{,. f eo' ·'·!.:J:l.·''···A:rµ,i ___ ,_,l ,·. .- . mpany an .one ~o m~!Y' . ·were · 
wounded, _ but th.ey · ~ · ~v¥ ffom their'·~~~9~<(. 
whf!rP. thev · sh!)t · witfi ·•the. ski1l and or·ecislon of a , 
~arksman. I ~w Lt: Hanan while fu a low place, ·ptil.1 off 
his .coat, h?°g _it on the end of a pole,. then place },tis hat on . 
top and raise 1t above the brush; in an instant the brush 
was mowed around the object by bullets ' from' the 

. ~errii~• gim's,'and'the·warwboop· ceased as the"Jridians'. 
withdrewfromthe'field:·.,i!" -~· · ,;_ ~ . .,.._ • .,/:• ·~-->> t .,.~. 

"Tl_lat night a ~o~~r ~~ sent ~th-a clispatc_h _·to Fort' . 
Hennetta for companies D and E to' come'in haste to the 
battlefield. ·' • • ; --."-,,-=,.; ... ~,, .. · -~• ·., 

"_On th·e fD:0r~g bHhe 9th;they.(the "rndian.i;) were af ' 
their .work agam,·b~ not s4 early as on the preceding 
morning. The yo1t1;n~rs ~ing fatigued and nearly worn . 
~ut: ~I. Kelly chose to act on the defensive and hold the 
position, the same as before, unW companies D and I from 
Fort Henrietta came to reinforce ·us. During the day, 
attacks were made on companies A and H.in the brush, 

rememoer wnen 

and B on the hills, which resulted in great loss to the 
enemy. The other companies on the hills did good service 
in repelling the attacks made on them during the day. 

' 'Early on the morning of the 10th it Yl'.as discove~ed that 
the enemy had possession of every available position that 
was held by us the previous days. As soon as breakfast 
had been eaten. U. James McAuliff (later. to be a mavor 
of Walla Walla-Ed.) with Company B, charged on the 
Indians who had taken possession of the breastworks 
thrown up by them the day before, on the point of a hill, to 
protect them from the flying bullets of our guns. They had 
not taken such a deep hold in the brush as usual, on ac­
count of the severe loss they sustained the day before. • 

"Companies A and H soon recovered their brush, a.nd 
drove them from the pits on the sand knoll. The companies 
from the hills made preparations for a charge, and as 
many as had horses suitable for the occasion were 
mounted, and gallantly charged the enemy in the face of a 
heavy fire, scattering them in all directions, to return to 
the battlefield no more . 

"Thus ended the Icing contested struggle between 
contending foes. Col. Kelly in his official report says: "I 
cannot s_ay too much in praise of the conduct of the office~s 
of-the several companies, and the soldiers .un.der their 
command. They did their duty bravely and well during 
those four days of trying battle.' ·· 

"The loss Company· H sustained (Miller' s comoanv­
Ed.) killed and wounded during the engagement nearly 
equalled that of all the other companies, as will be seen 
from the list of killed and wounded: 
· !'Capt. Charles Bennett," Co. •:F, · killed; U: J. M. 
Burrows, Co. H, killed. privates An.drew ·Kelso, Co. A, 
killed; S.S. Van Hagerman, r, killed; Jasper Fle'mming, 
Co. · A. mortally wounded; · Joseph ·Sturdevant;.• Co. B, 
mortally wounded; Henry Crow, Co. H, mortally wound­
·ed; Sgt. Maj: Isaac Miller, :Co. fl:, wounded; Capt. A.V. 
Wilson, Co. 'A, wounded; Capt. :LB:· Munson; Co. I, 
wdunded; Capt. Davis,Layto,n;_ Co:~-, ,wotinqed; privates · 
Casper· Snook, • Co. R, · wounded;~-T:',J. -Payne, Co. H, . 
wounded; Frank Crabtree; Co'. H, wounded; Nathan Fry, 
Co: H.,-wounded; Jolin Smith'; Co'.1 H, · wounded; A. M. 
Addington, Co. H, wounded. Isaac Miller, Co.·H, wounded; 
Frank Duval, Company A, wounded; G. W. Smith, Co. B, 
wounded and J.B. Gervais, Co. K, wounded. 

"It's a difficult matter to get the .ex~ct nwpber of In­
dians 'killed in time of battle . . The bodies of. 39 were 

"counted on the battlefield after it was all over, .and it is 
estimated that at least ~O were carrieq _off at nigh.t by 
putting ropes around their necks and pul)rng them with a · 
horse. It was plain to see the trails where they were 
dragged away. At that time no one put their loss in the 
field at less than 100. The ratio of wounded to the.number 
killed is generally estimated at 2½ to one. At this ratio, ~e 
killed and wounded during the battle. W?lli:~ ~ •350. 1:his 



Winter,l,~ought hardship~ 
-to-volunteers 

Valiant com_batants durin~ .the three-day Battle of Walla Walla eal in 
Decem_ber 1855, the Indians were.effectively dispersed that . t 
according to Oregon Volunteer soldie·r accounts. win er, 

EDITOR'S NOTE: This is part four . 
of a four-part story providing details rauons ana 1J1Suruciem ciotrung ana 
of the December 1855 " Battle of Walla bedding allotments. Miller tells of 
~alla." The details come from a those hardships that winter of 111$-56 · 
diary kept by a soldier of the Oregon as well as the pursuit of remnants of •. 
Vol~teers,_ George W. Miller. In this the Indians which had been so ' 
section, Miller describes the bitter thoroughly defeated in the pitched ~ 
cold and sparse meals as the troops battle of early December. , 
went into ~ter quarters. For the __ 
Volwiteers 1t was winter quarters By VANCE ORCHARD 
remindful of those of the 0111wu-,;,,,,.-.. 
Reyolutionary ·: War, · with short •. . . ,.,.. . . . ... 

.:;·"December 716th .we moved ·our '.'1 
. ·camp ' two miles . above Whitman~; 
~ Station, ·on·' the , north si!le of Mill\ 

Q-eek. Orr the •night of Dec. 21, the '; 
• snow fell f:rqm six to eight in<;h~.: 

·, deep, and the mercury stood about 20 :-i 
. degrees below zero. , · ~ ,. 

"Next morning itfell to my lot to go 
on guard. My raiment consisted of an 

. ·old s.louch hat, an old ~oat, a flannel 
· _shirt, a. threadbare pair of pants and 
· · an old pair of shoes without socks. 

.. "I bad run through. m_y shoes during 
the battle, but found. an old pair In a • 
cache whi~·.answered the purpose. I 

. donn,ed my raim~mt and tied a string 
. around my pants 1egs·to keep them 

·. from slipping above my knees, and at 
· 6o'clock was ready for duty." 

Coming off duty.-that night, Miller 
picked up the tracks of what be 
thought at first was a deer, but found 
it to~-a pig. He shot it and his group 
had good chow for a meal or two, he 
recounted. · · 

His duty was for six hours but his 
feet had suffered little from the in­
tense cold. Miller describes this and 
the conditions for others of his 
company. · 

"When I examined my feet, strange 
to say, they were not badly frozen, 
only that the tops and sides were 
raised up in blisters.· Several o! the 
boys who had no shoes took rawhide 
and.sewed up in shape somethi~ like : 

. a moccasin. This beat bare feet to 
wade through the snow with. 

"But the boys seemed to be con- · 
tent. 0~ tents were small and thin, 
our blankets were smaller and , 
thinner. I had two of those long, . 
narrow, thin, blankets, one blue and : 
one green, that were not long enough 
to reach from my nose down to my 
feet, and a sadclle blanket. This 
constituted my bed . 

.-, '' A1 one time during the winter we 
beard of a band of Indians that came 

, in . the valley to 'give us an 'en- -
tertainment.' .... 
.. " A scouting party was soon formed, 
and marched in the direction of the 

.. Touchet River to recoMoiter in tha~ 
part of the valley. l well recollect the 
appearance of things that night, · 
where we camped on the Coppei. The ~ 
growid was frozen ~ covered about . 
four inches- deep · with snow, -an~ 
myself and bedfellow raked off the . : 
snow from a small ~. spread our:.•~ 
sadclle blankets, two pair ·of those 
light blue blankets, · and my green 
blanket and retired for the night. 

" Our next move was up Mill Creek 
about 12 miles, or seven miles above 
where Walla Walla now stands. Our 
bill of fare during the winter :was beef 
and pota~s that grew up in that 



few sacks of flour antf ~m; ~.;;na .' 
coffee, but some of the boys wanted : 
more than their share." · / · . ~: : 

i : . .... - . ~,.. 1 1 

. Miller recounts the theft of a sack of 
-sugar and a sack of flour as the 
volunteer soldiers strived to' stave of( 
hunger ·that WU!ter. ·. The ' soldiers 
turned shipwrights . on Mill Cr~;·, 
during January;·:-'and . February/~· 
preparatory to launching a campaign / 
across the Snake River to the north. · :::;. 

"In the latter ·part of February,- \ 
enough lumber was sawed with ;_ 
whipsaws to build six boats and · · 
enough tar nin out of the rich pine 
knots to calk them. On the ninth of · 
March the boats were loaded on two 
wagons, and the command took up its 
line of march •' for Snake River, 
crossing that streiuµ 30 miles below 
the mouth of the Palouse River. 

. "A small band · of Indians was 
camped on the other side who defied . 

our crossing, but the ~ats were·soon .. 
in the river with about six men in each 
boat, and their horses swimming by 
the side. They were soon landed on 
the other shore, where _they made 
quick work of that -band of Indians, 
then captured a (ew cayuse· h_ors~. 
which formed . the _principal .par:-1 of 
our COIDIDi;'larYJle~~t. ·. , .•··.~·,, 

"Our COW¥. was UP. ~e nv~ to th~ •,. 
mouth of. the .}:>alouse, thence ·up·_the_:. 
Palouse seyen iriiles,' about on·e mile :, 
above Palouse Falls. Here; we pitch::. 
ed our tents; 'awaiting the iu:rival. of, 
some provisions that were' on the way ·. 
from Toe-Dalles.·· . ' · ·. · · ·, · . . ··.: !, 

· "On · ' the . '·· 23rd · the comman·d· ~ 
r~s'umed .its.'march over' the desert . 

· from Palouse to the~Colwnbia River, ' 
: beneath: =a.: scorching SW'l, without -: 
water .dr grass for the horses and . 
without provisions for the men.':-~ . ,., 

Three nights later the troops had 
reached deep into the area riow known 
as the Hanford Atomic Project, as 
Mill er continues: 

"The next night we reached the . 
Columbia River at the place now 
called White ~luffs, where we lay by a_ 
few days to recuperate and ·fill our 
larder with horse meat. Nearly half 
the horses belonging to the command · 
gave out curing this ·memorable .,: 
march {from PalolJ:Se River to White 

· Bluffs) .''Some would · leave their '. 
horses lying by the side of the trail, 
others would shoot them to keep them 
from falling into the bands of the .. 

-Indians: · ~-.. 
"This ~ch ·.was -~de pri~·r· i.J~:_:, 

Sherman's great march from Atlanta . 
to the sea (in the Ovil War), through··: 
a country that had no provisions to .. 
forage for but the cayuse, and most of . 
them too poor to skin. At one time · 
during this march, we were five days 
with not a bite to eat but horse meat. 

"On the 30th of March we changed 
our course from the ·eoh.n:nbia River : 
toward the Walla Walla Valley, but 
after foraging a few days in that . 
valley we found only a few sacks of 
potatoes and some camas, On the 9th 
of April a detachment of 12 men 

proV1S1ons. . 
"About six miles from the Umatilla 

River I spied a coyote, and after it I 
went at full speed, shooting at lo!18,· 
range every ·time an opportwuty 
presented itself. After running about 
four miles, and shooting pine times, I 
bagged my game·. Loading'the animal. 
on my horse, I. l_'Valked and led him to: 
the Umatilla ·· Riyer, about three , miles distant, where the boys :were . 
just getting into ~P- We we;re an· 
pleased with the. idea of having a ; 
bountiful supply of fresh meat for : 
'supper, but after boiling that coyot_e •. 
for three hours the boys all declared 1t .• 
to be the toughest job they ever had to.-

. chewapieceofthe'm~ar'. .:· · .. ·1 
· - Relief for the command came with ; 
: the· discovery .of an . ~dla.1:1 ·cache of) 
·food.' In' in early May the, Volunteer,J . . ~, •. . , ., . ·l 
army began to brea1p1p,. ·z • : : -o 

: . . "During the 6.rst.'J)IU'.t Pf May all~ 
that was left of Company H took up;; 
their line of march for The Dalles,-1 
leaving the Walla Walla Valley.) 
without volunteers or Indians. ~ 

"On the first of June, 1858, the,~ 
volunteers were discharged by. i 

· proclamation, and on the 8th of Jun~ I ·} 
arrived at _my place of residence m _j 
linn County." ~;· 
• Miller was married that October to ··d 
Sarah Elizabeth Ping, daughter ofr·· 
Elisha Ping·. Two years later the.1 
families settled in Southeastern_: 
Washington. Miller and his wife .' 
homesteaded on 160 acres on Patit;; 
Creek, within a : half · mile of the."'. 
present city of Dayton.. ' ~ 

In 1864, a posto~ce was established ._; 
there with the name of Touchet and 1 
Miller was appointed its postm~~r,.~. 
a job he:held at his home for rune . 
years. Dayton had got started ~ough, ., 
and soon outstripped anything the ·: 
town of Touchet might have held . The · 
post office was moved there, Miller ~ 
says, "with J. N. Day as my sue-- i , 
cessor in office." ·, 

Miller held political posts in 
Columbia and Garfield counties until ·. 
1890, when his wife died. He moved to 
Eugene, where two sons were. al· 
tending school and in 1891 remamed. 
Miller died Oct. 25, 1914, at his home : 
in Salem. Ore. · 
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HARRY St. GEORGE is proprietor of the St. George hotel, Pomeroy, \V. T . H en ry St , George, his father, came 
from England to the United States in 18.io, He afterwards sent hack for Henrietta Bauman, whom he married upon her ar­
rival in this country. Their son Harry was born in Kew York City, );o\'ember 15, 1850. He attended school in th:i.t city until 
seventeen years of age, and then clerked and kept books for six ye:i.rs in Springfield, .\fass., and in Hartford, Union City, and 
Portl:rncl, Ind. He returned to Kew York, and in 1873 enlisted in the regular army, being annexed to the 2d Infantry. He 
was st:i.tioned in the Southern States and on the Gulf of .\lexico; was in Kew Orleans during the election troubles in 1876 ; 
came to Idaho during the K ez Perce war in 1877; recei\'ed his discharge at Fort Lapwai in December, 1877. H e remained in 
this country engaged in various pursuits, spending considerable time in the Idaho mines. He came to Pomeroy and took charge 
of the Pomeroy hotel, n0w the St. George, September 1, 1881. September 8, 1881, he married :\1-artha J. Pomeroy. The 
house has been enl:i.rged and furnished the past summer at considerable expense. T here are now thirty-six rooms and a large 
dining hall. A view of this hotel is gh·en in this book. Also a ,·iew of the block in which it stand5, from another point. 

·.·,. ::;-,,_-,, __ .:. .. ,~_-. • '_·. ·•._:._:: ·.~.:::~-== :. -: . :--. ;~· .... . ::-.:: -.,"; ._ ......... ,,,.. __ .. 
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JOHN TRACY, who li,·cs on .\!ill creek, about se,·cn miles from \\':ilia \\':ilia, w:is born in Ponumna, Galway county, 
Ireland, on the ninth of April, 1825. In 1849 he emigr:i.ted to Americ:i., and the succeeding six years were spent in Y:irious 
localities as a laborer, until Iv! cnli,ted in the :-:inth L'. S. I nfantry, .\pril 6, 1S55. llis regiment un,lcr Colonel \\'right was 
ordered to the Pacific Coast, and reached Fon \"ancom·er in January, 1856. The country was in the midst of an Indian war 
at the time, and :\fr. Traer sen·ed uncler that famous commander of the :-:inth Infantry during :ill its c:impaign against the 
sa,·agcs in \\'r.shington Terri1ory, until discharged, at \Valla Wall:, in July, 186o. I le particip:ued in those thrilling e,·cnts 
that marked the \\"right cainpaign of 1S58, which spread terror among the e,·il-disposed red skins, who had drh·en Colonel 
Steptoe to disas1er and om of their country. After his discharge from sen ·ice, he located land on .\fill creek, where he now 
resides, IJUt spent a portion of 1861 and 1862 in the mines. In 1S65, October 26, he was married to Eliza J. Hendricks, a 
natiYe of T ennessee, and their children's names :ind dates of their birth arc as follows: J ohn Tracy, Jr., July 6, 1S67; .\fary 
Lucinda, April 5, 1869; Lawrence, January 16, 1870; Thomas, October 16, 1872; Catherine, '.\lay 27, 1S75; Eliza, January 
1, 1876; Edward, October 16, 1878; Ellen, April 24, 18So. '.\fr. Tracy's ranch consists of 440 acres, all of which is incloscd 
and most of it under cuhirntion. The impro\'ements can be best appreciated by referring 10 a dew of the same in this work. 

., -



,-... as an Indian victory - a victory obtained in the 
main through the crass incapacity of Major 
General Wool. By Wool's order Steptoe issued 
a proclamation that no whites should return 
to Walla Walla, except Hudson's Bay people 
and missionaries. October 19th Wool issued 
a general order expressing the hope that 
Wright, "warned by what has occurred, will 
he on his guard against the whites and prevent 
further trouble by keeping the whites out of 
the Indian country." With his eyes partly 
•opened by the sensational events of the season 
Steptoe ventured to suggest that a good, in­
dustrious colony be permitted to settle in the 
Walla Walla valley On this suggestion Wool 
promptly stepped. "The Cascade range," he 
said, "formed, if not an impassable barrier, an 
excellent line of defense; a most excellent line 
of separation between two races always at war 
when in contact. To permit settlers to pass 
The Dalles and occupy the natural reserve is 
to give up this advantage, throw down the 
wall, and advance the frontier hundreds of 
miles to the east, and add to the protective 
labors of the army." 

This much did General Wool against the 
best interests of Walla Walla valley. And at 
the same time he was inveighing against wars 

in the eastern portion of the Territory, be­
tween Indians and whites, the savages west of 
the Cascades were preparing for a bloody series 
of uprisings, as if in mockery of the bombastic 
vaporings of a general who knew less about 
Indians and Indian fighting than the most 
humble private in the ranks of the Oregon 
volunteers. Thus, at the close of 1856 the 
Walla Walla valley was, by military order, 
remanded to barbarism. In 1857 the present 
Fort Walla Walla was established and a force 
in charge of Lieutenant Colonel Steptoe lay 
inactive at the fort. 

When, in 1855, Governor Stevens and 
party met in the Walla Walla valley to treat 
with the Indians, the governor at once re­
quested the military authorities to establish 
a fort in the valley. Says Hazard Stevens 
in his "Life of Isaac I. Stevens :" 

"The second day after reaching the valley 
,,,.--_, Governor Stevens, hearing that Governor Wool 

had just arrived at Vancouver, wrote him a 
letter urging the importance of supplying the 
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HARRY S t. GEORGE is proprietor of the St. George hotel, Pomeroy, \V. T. H enry St. George, his father, came 
from England to the United States in 18+0, He afterwards sent back for H enrietta Bauman, whom he married upon her ar­
rival in this country. Their son H arry was born in New York City, November 15, 1850. H e attended school in that city until 
seventeen years of age, :md then clerked :md kept books for six years in Springfield, )lass., and in H artford, Union City, and 
Portland, Incl. He returned to Kew York, and in 18i3 enlisted in the regular army, being annexed to the 2d Infantry. He 
was stationed in the Southern States and on the Gulf of )lcxico ; was in New Orleans during the election troubles in 1876; 
came to Idaho during the Kez Perce war in 1877 ; received his discharge at Fort Lapwai in December, 1877. He remained in 
this country engaged in rnrious pursuits, spending considerable time in the Idaho mines. H e came to Pomeroy and took charge 
of the Pomeroy hotel, n0w the St. George, September r , 1881. September 8, 1881, he married ) f-artha J . Pomeroy. The 
house has been enlarged and furnished the past summer at considerable expense. There are now thirty-six rooms and a large 
dining hall. A view of this hotel is gh·cn in this book. Also a ,·iew of the block in which it stand,, from another point . 
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RE?IDENCE OF' JOHN TRAGY WALLA 

JOHN TRACY, who Ji,·cs on )!ill creek, about sc,·cn miles from \\'alb \\'alla. was born in Portumna, G:dway county, 
Ireland, on the ninth of April, 1S25. In 1S-19 he t:migratccl to America, oncl the succeeding six years were spent in ,·arious 
localities as a laborer, until h'! enli,ted in the Xinth I,; ... Infantry, .\pril 6, 1S55. I !is regiment under Colonel \Yright was 
ordered to the Pacific Coast, and reached Fort \'ancom·er in January, 1856. The country was in the midst of an Indian war 
at the time, and )fr. Tracy sen·ed under that famous commander of the Xinth I nfantry during all its campaign against the 
sarnges in \\'r,shington Territory, until cli,charged, at \\'alla Walla in July, tS6o. I le participated in those thrilling e\'cnts 
that marked the \\'right cainpaign of 1S5S, which spread terror among the e,·il-disposed red skins, who had dri,·en Colonel 
Steptoe to disaster and out of their country. ;\fter his discharge from ser\'ice, he located land on )fill creek, where he now 
resides, but spent a portion of 1861 and 1862 in the mines. In 1S65, October 26, he was married to Eliza J. Hendricks, a 
nath·e of T ennes,ee, and their children's names and dates of their birth a re as follows: J ohn Tracy, Jr., July 6, 1867; )!ary 
Lucinda, April 5, 1869; Lawrence, January 16, 1870; Thomas, October 16, 1872; Catherine, )lay 27, 1S75; Eliza, J anuary 
1, 1876; Edward, October 16, 1878; Ellen, April 24, 18So. )[r. Tracy's ranch consi~ts of 440 acres, all of which is inclosed 
and most of it under cultirntion. The impro,·ements can be best appreciated by referring t0 a ,·iew of the same in this work. 
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SEWELL TRUAX was born in :\lissisquoi county, Canada, April 23, 1830. His parents were citizens of the 
United States, and ha\"e resided in Franklin county, Vermont, since 1831. He was educated at Norwich University, in Ver­
mont, in the profession of ch-il engineer. At the age of twenty-one he started upon his rambles in the \Vest, stopping a short 
time in Buffalo and Cleveland, and then spent the summer of 1852 in the survey of a railroad line from :Marquette, Michigan, 
on the shore of Lake Superior to an iron mine twenty-five miles distant in the wilderness. In the fall he went to Dubuque, 
Iowa, and entered lhe law office of Mr. Bissell, since Governor of that State. Two weeks convinced him that he would make 
a better engineer than ]a\\1•er, and he resumed his old profession. In the spring of 1853, on his return from a ser\'eying trip 
along the Missouri, between Big and Little Sioux rivers, he encountered a large num,ber of emigrants at Council Bluffs, caught 
the Oregon fever, and the next day, )lay 4, 1853, was on his way to Oregon. He arrived at his destination in August. Until 
1.861 he was U. S. Deputy Sun·eyor in Southern Oregon, had a little experience with Indians in Rogue River valley in 1855-6, 
and in 1861 entered the United States volunteer service as Captain of Company D, First Oregon cavalry, of which regiment be 

subsequently became )lajor. In 1862 his regiment was ordered to \Valla Walla and for a time in 1863 ::\fajor Truax was in 
command of that fort, but the greater portion of 1863-4 was in command at Fort Lap,•,ai, Idaho Territory. For se\·ern~ years 
after the close of the war he was engaged in mercantile business at Lapwai. In 1870 he returned to \Valla Walla, which he 
has since made his residence, most of the time engaged in his profession of engineering. For two years he devoted his time 
and means to the constntction of the \V. \V. & C. R. railroad from Wallula to Walla Walla, being the first Vice President and 
Superintendent of construction. In 1877 he was one of the first to locate upon the high bluffs of Snake rh·er, which owes its 
early and successful de\'elopment largely to that fact, and to the grain chute which he invented, for transportin_g ~he g~ain from 
the top of the bluffs to the river. )lajor Truax was married February 13, 1861, to Sarah E. Chandler, of )bss1squo1 county, 
Canada, born April 11

1 
1839. Their children are: )Iary P., born June 3, 1862, married to B. D. Crocker in July, 1880, 

(Little son, Porter Truax Crocker, born September 27, 1881); Harmon C., born in 1864, die.d February 27, 1867; Edward 
Holden, born )larch 25, 1866; Elenor Hibbard, horn January 12, 1868; Henry Chandler, born in 1870; Harlow Elias, born 

in 1874; Sewell, Jr., born in February, 1876. 
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SEWELL TRUAX was born in :\1issisquoi county, Canada, April 23, 1830. His parents were citizens of the 
United States, and have resided in Franklin county, Vermont, since 1831. He was educated at Norwich University, in Ver­
mont, in the profession of ch·il engineer. At the age of twenty-one he started upon his rambles in the West, stopping a short 
time ir. Buffalo and Cle\'eland, and then spent the summer of 1852 in the survey of a railroad line from )Iarquette, )Iichigan, 
on the shore of Lake Superior to an iron mine twenty-five miles distant in the wilderness. In the fall he went to Dubuque, 
Iowa, and entered the law office of Mr. Bissell, since Go,·ernor of that State. Two weeks convinced him that he would make 
a better engineer than lawyer, and he resumed his old profession. In the spring of 1853, on his return from a serveying trip 
along the Missouri, between Big and Little Sioux rivers, he encountered a large nurq,ber of emigrants at Council Bluffs, caught 
the Oregon fever, and the next day, May 4, 1853, was on his way to Oregon. He arrived at his destination in August. Until 
1.861 he was U. S. Deputy Sun·eyor in Southern Oregon, had a little experience with Indians in Rogue River valley in 1855-6, 
and in 1861 entered the Vnited States volunteer sen·ice as Captain of Company D, First Oregon cavalry, of which regiment he 

subsequently became ::\fajor. In 1862 his regiment was ordered to \Valla \Valla and for a time in 1863 )fajor Truax was in 
command of that fort, but the greater portion of 1863-4 was in command at Fort Lapwai, Idaho Territory. For severa~ years 
after the close of the war he was engaged in mercantile business at Lapwai. In 1870 he returned to \Valla \Valla, which he 
has since made his residence, most of the time engaged in his profession of engineering. For two years he devoted his time 
and means to the constntction of the \V. ,v. & C. R. railroad from Wallula to Walla \Valla, being the first Vice President and 
Superintendent of construction. In 1877 he was one of the first to locate upon the high bluffs of Snake rh·er, which owes its 
early and successful de,·elopment largely to that fact, and to the grain chute which he im•ented, for transportin_g ~he g~ain from 
the top of the bluffs to the rh·er. ::\lajor Truax was married February 13, 1861, to Sarah E. Chandler, of :M1ss1squo1 county, 
Canada, born April 11, 1839. Their children are: :\lary P., born June 3, 18621 married to B. D. Crocker in July, 188o, 
(Little son, Porter Truax Crocker, born September 27, 1881); Harmon C., born in 1864, die_d February 27, 1867; Edward 
Holden, born :\larch 25, 1866; Elenor Hibbard, horn January 12, 1868; Henry Chandler, born in 1870; Harlow Elias, born 

in 1874; Sewell, Jr., born in February, 1876. 
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Judge Thomas C. Shaw 
Judge Shaw was a member of the 

Oregon Mounted Volunteers, 
citizens enlisted from the Willamette Valley 

to punish the perpetrators of the Whitman Massacre. 

n December, 1847 - when all the fall and early winter work had been 
completed and the crops sown, and the people were taking a little rest, the 
immigration of 1847 having all arrived in the Willamette Valley, except a 
few who had been compelled to stop at Dr. Whitman's mi~sion on the Walla 
Walla river in eastern Oregon, and were employed by him in making im­
provements at the mission- our country was beginning to prosper and it 
was fast developing into a splendid stock and fanning country. There being 
peace and pl~nty in the land, it was just the thing to expect that the residents 
of this beautiful country would be ready to say as one did of old, 'soul take 
thine ease.' While we were ready to do so and to enter into the full enjoy­
ment of the fruits of the land, not knowing what had happened some 300 
miles east of us, to our great surprise a courier arrived, bringing us the 
startling intelligence that Dr. Whitman, a missionary under the auspices of 
the Presbyterian church, his wife (who was a refined lady) and some twelve 
or fourteen American citizens (who were engaged at the mission) were, 
without any provocation whatever, on the 27th day of November, 1847, 
ruthlessly murdered in cold blood by the Cayuse Indians, who were then his 
charge. 

"This news threw the country into a great fever and everything you could 

hear was about the war which was inevitable. The Indians had not only kill­
ed the missionaries and those in their emp]oy' but had taken ~evera_l young 
women and girls and abused them in a horrible manner. The first t~mg then 
to be done was to get these girls and young women from the I~d1ans. 

"It was reported to us that the bodies had all been decently mterred by 
those sent to attend to this matter by the Hudson Bay Company' but I was 
shocked when I went to the place called the grave of those wort~y dead, an~ 
fo~nd that the bodies had been disinterred by the wolves, and pieces of their 
bodies were strewn around as if they had been of no ~ore v~l~e than those 
of wild beasts. Dr. Whitman's body was almost entirely d1smterred, and 
what shocked the writer most was to see the beautiful g?lden cu~ls of Mrs. 
Whitman scattered promiscuously over the gro~nd as if the evil one had 
done his best to destroy every vestige of what this good and noble won:ian 
had done for the last ten years, and had succeeded in scattering her beautiful 
golden hair as a trophy to_ th~ wind and sand of ~~e ~all_a_~alla Val~e~. 

:.:~.);;_ 

) ) 
"I must be permitted right here to express my aisgust at t.tus, one ot the 

most revolting and blood-curdling scenes of my life. My blood first ran cold 
then hot, and my rage, and that of my comrades, became almost 
unbearable at times, and the only satisfaction that we could hope to attain, 
was the pleasure of seeing in the engagements that followed with our 
enemies that our unerring rifles had done their work well when we saw 
some red men of the forest tumble to the ground. And we never saw such an 
occurence as this without a sweet sensation of revenge. When we were in an 
engagement we invariably thought of her who had worn that beautiful 
golden hair, and took a great pride in avenging her wrongs, for we well 
remembered that she was one of two noble women that left father, mother, 
brothers and sisters and all else to them that seemed dear, and made the trip 
across the plains in the year 1836, and all for the purpose of carrying the 
good news of the gospel to those red men, who had at first received them 
kindly, but by some unaccountable change in their minds had become the 
murderers of those that would be their benefactors. 

'We found everything around the mission in bad condition. Fences were 
all down, and almost everything of value had been destroyed and ap­
propria ted and there was nothing left to represent the thrift that this mission 
had in the year 1844 when our immigration came by on its way to th1: 
Willamette Valley. As soon as our command arrived we took possession of 
what was left and immediately commenced to build a fort out of the debrif 
that was left. 

"Our officers found it too hard a task to fight and guard the stock that W{ 

had taken, and they ordered it all turned out. This I hated, for I saw some oJ 
the oxen in this herd that hauled the Sager family from the Missouri river tc 
Whitman station. This Sager family was a family that came across th« 
plains in the year 1844. They Jost their father in Green river with the camI 
fever and their mother near Fort Hall with the same dread disease. M) 
father, Capt. William Shaw, brought the family to Dr. Whitman's, anc 

their father and mother being Presbyterians, Dr. Whitman and wife kindly 
agreed to take the children and do the best they could for them, and when 
the massacre took place, John and Frances Sager were murdered, and the 
Sager girls, five I think in number, were taken prisoners by the Indians. 
Frances Sager was the only person in the whole number that was murdered 
that attempted to fight when the Indians set upon Dr. Whitman to murder 
him. This boy being about thirteen or fourteen years of age, drew a small 
pistol and would have dispatched an Indian with it but for the interference 
of some trackers who still had some hopes that they would be spared." 

c?r~f'- ,,to 
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leaders. His op1mons carried weight in its councils and his efforts were an 
element in advancing its success. Five times he was elected to represent his 
district in the general assembly of Washington and he left the impress of his in­
dividuality upon many important legislative measures which were enacted during 
that period. He closely studied the questions and issues of the day and gave his 
aid and support to any measure or movement which he believed ,vould promote 
the interests of the commonwealth and stood with equal firmness in opposition 
to any cause which he believed would be detrimental to the welfare of the 
community at large. His position was never an equivocal one and he loyally 
supported every measure in which he believed. None questioned the integrity 
of his opinions or of his actions. He served as a delegate to both county and 
state conventions and did much to mold public thought and opinion. Mrs. Lloyd 
is a member of the Eastern Star and also of the Rebekah lodge and in these 
organizations has filled all of the chairs. She is a consistent member of th--': 
Presbyterian church, while Mr. Lloyd was a member of the Methodist Episcopal 

church. He was prominent as a man whose constantly expanding powers took 
him from humble surroundings to the field of large enterprises and continually 
broadening opportunities. He was reared upon the western frontier and the 
effort required to live· in those ungenerous surroundings, the necessity to make 
every blow tell and to exercise every inventive faculty developed powers of mind 
and habits which made him a forceful and resourceful business man and citizen. 
The early rising, the daily tasks, the economical habits of the country boy 
prepared him for the struggle that must precede ascendency and step by step 
Mr. Lloyd gained success in business and prominence in public life. 
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Steamers constituted vfr.;­

' navy' during ·1ndian wars 
:Volunteers from Walla Walla 

fought under Painter's command r-------

By VANCE ORCHARD 
Of the Union-Buhetin 

William Charles Painter, a pony soldier 
who came to the Walla Walla country in 1855 
to fight the Indians, was a river gunboat 
Indian fighter 33 years later. ." 

He fought in the Bannock Indian War. of 
1878. It was perhaps the first time in their 
history that Oregon and Washington had a 
"navy"-when a newly built river steamer was 
pressed into service. · · · . 

Three steamers in all were in the effort to 
repulse the Bannocks, reportedly headed 
north to join up with the Yakimas or with 
Chief Moses in Central Washington. ' 

The steamer "Welcome" with 25 men, a .,. 
Gatling gun (Civil War machine gun) and . 
howitzer, left Vancouver the evening'of July 5 
to patrol ar~Wld Wallula. ... 

Another steamer, the .:'Northwest," left 
Wallula three days later on July 8 to paµ-ol 
between ~ere nnd Umatilla. A Gatling was : 
also part of this boat's armament. It was 
commanded by Capt. M.C. Wilkinson ·and 12 · · 
soldiers plus 20 other men hired for the oc-- . 
casion. · 

That same .. day, the newly completed : 
steamer "Spokane" pulled out of Umatilla to 

. patrol downriver. A Gatling and a force of 19 
soldiers and 42 volunteers manned this boat. 
Painter was in charge of the volunteer force 
he had raised in Walla Walla. 

The role of this boat and its mixed crew of 
soldiers and volWlteers was described in the 
book, "Blow ·for the _Landing," by Friti 
Timmen, formerly of Walla Walla and now• 
residing in Kennewick. 

The steamer was only eight months out of 
its shipyards at Cellio when it was pressed 
into military (naval) service. 

The Oregon Steam Navigation Co. had the 
Spokane on the Snake River run between 
Riparia and Lewiston when the Bannocks 
suddenly departed their reservation. 

Gathering some allies as they moved north, 
they hoped to join up with some 3,500 Yakima 
tribesm~n. · · 

•. The Army's Second Infantry, stationed at 
Fort Walla Walla, was dispatched to stop this 
threatened joinup of Indian forces. Gen. 
Frank Wheaton, meeting the boat at Wallula 
with his regulars and Painter's v~lunteers, 
quickly transformed the river steamer into a 
gWlboat, arming it with the hand-cranked 
Gatling, a small cannon and rifles. Sacks of 
flour piled on the deck provided _breastworks 
and the mak~p gunboat shoved off. 

(Courtesy Pervosa M""!"'ial Library, Whitman CoUegel 

WILLIAM C. PAINTER 

Assigned to patrol the Columbia between 
Umatilla and Arlington, the Spokane sur­
prised a band of Bannocks 13 miles below 
Umatilla. The Indians · were' attempting to 
swim some 200 horses·over to the Washington 
shore. They already had 300 over when the 
guns from the Spokane opened fire. The In­
dians on. the north shore hurried off into the 
hills as .the Spokane landed .men to chase 
them and to round up what horses they could. 
· A .few· miles downstream, near Arlington; 
~e Spokane _surprised another band of In­
dians also attempting a river crossing. The 
boat's firepower again came ' into action 
driving off the Indians from both sides of th: 
river, A .. fleet -of canoes on the Oregon shore 

· was _destroyed and more horses rounded up. . 
Several horses and a lot of captured 

."booty," consisting . of provisions, · buffalo 
ro~, saddles and other camp needs of the . 
Indians were taken or destroy~d. The war 
plans· of the Bannocks were .apparently 
broken by_this engagement on the Columbia. · 

As the Spokane steamed back to Umatilla 
following the engagements, · its return was 

viewed 'with envy, curiosity and likely some 
fear of this newest military development by 
h~dreds of Indians silhouetted against the 
hills ?f Oregon and W~gton Territory. 

Pamter drew commendations for his role in 
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Prescott's Don Hollenbaugh did the illustrations for these pages of Carpenter's books. 
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Carpenter concentrates at her typewriter. 

IIK 
ids come to school 

knowing familiar words like 
'play' and 'horse' in Papago 
and a smattering of English 
words they've picked up off 
the reservation. Most 
people believe you only 
learn to read once, but here 
it's in both languages at 
once." 

- Sandy Carpenter 

Story by 

Nadine Munns 

Gerkey 

Of the Union-Bulletin 

Sandy Carpenter sits in her Waitsburg h~~e with sev r I . . - - -
e a of the bilingual books she w rites for Papago Indian children in kizona. 
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\\"I LLI.-\:\[ CI I.-\RLES PAI~TER. 

The days o f chirnlry and knighthood in Eu rope cannot furni sh more inter­
esting or romantic tales than our 011·11 western hi,tory. Into the wild mountain 
fastnesses of t he unexplored 11·est 11·ent bra,·e men whose courage was ofte n called 
forth in encounters with hostile san1gcs. The land 11·as rich in all natural re­
sources, in metals, in agricul tural and commercial poss ibilities, and awaited the 
demands of man to yield up its treasures. Bu t its mountain heights were hard to 
climb, its forests di fficult to penetrate and the magnificent trees, the dense b ushes 
or jagged rocks often sheltered the skulking foe, who resented the encroachment 
of the pale faces upon these "hunting grou11ds." The establishment of homes in 
this beautiful region therefore meant sacrifices, hardships and ofttimes death, but 
there were some men, ho11·e1·er, bra,·e enough to meet _the red man in his own 
familiar haunts and undertake the task of reclaimi ng the district for purposes of 
civilizat ion. The rich mineral s tores of the northwest were thus added to the 
wealth o f the na tion, its magni ficent forests contributed to the lumber industry 
and its fer t ile valleys added to the opportunities of the farmer and stock ra iser ; and 
today the northwest is one o f the most producti,·e sections of the entire coimtry. 
That th is is so is due to such men as \\' ill iam O,a rlcs Painter, whose na me is in­
separably in te rwoven with the history of the region. No story of fiction contains 
more exciting chapters than may be found in h is life record. He was one of the 
most prominent of those who engaged in Indian warfare and for many years he 
was also a leading figure in the agricultural de,·elopment of this section o f the 
state. ·walla ·walla numbered him among her most honored and valued citizens 
and his death was the occasion o f deep and widespread regret. 



William C. Painter was born in St. Genevieve, Missouri, April 18, 1830, 
and there the earliest years of his life were passed. His paternal ancestors came 
from Mercer county, Pennsylvania. His mother, who bore the maiden name of 
Jean Moore, was a daughter of l\Iajor Robert Moore, a veteran of the vVar of 
1812 and well known in connection with the early history of Oregon. In 1850 
the father with his family started for Oregon, but when the Little Blue river 
was reached the father and two of the sons died of cholera. The mother and the 
surviving children continued the journey westward ,vith sore hearts but with ~n­
daunted courage and finally reached· \Vashington county, Oregon, where donation 
land claims were secured. 

There "\Villiam C. Painter resided until 1863 and was prominently identified 
with the early development of that section. At the time of the Indian war of 
1855 he was one of the first to enlist, becoming a member of Company D, First 

Oregon Mounted Volunteers, which command fought the Indians for £out 
days near Walla \Valla, finally routing the red men, who retreated to the Palouse 
country. In this ·and many other engagements of the Indian war Mr. Painter dis­
tinguished ·himself for bravery. He remained with his company until the close of 
hostilities. In 1855 certain young ladies of the Forest Grove Academy, now the 
Tualitin Academy and the Pacific University, presented the company with a flag. 
Mr. Painter's comrades in arms voted that he should become its bearer and 
the starry banner finally came into his exclusive possession and is stilf carefully 
preserved in the Painter household as a priceless relic. Upon its field there are 
but twenty-one stars and on the flag, inscribed in large letters, are the words, 
''Cci. D, First Oregon Vol., 1855-6.'' In the war against the Bannock and Piute 
Indians in 1878, Mr. Painter again engaged in fighting the red men. He was 
appointed by Governor Ferry captain of a company of forty-hvo men and was 
assigned to duty on the gunboat Spokane under command of l\Iajor Cress of 
the regular army. The first engagement in ,vhich he participated was at Long 
Island in the Columbia river below Umatilla, in ,vhich the whites were successful. 
Major Cress, in a letter to l\Ir. Painter written from Jefferson Barracks, Missouri, 
under date of April I 5, 1897, speaks very highly of the assistance which the latter 
rendered. After this engagement, in recognition of his valuable service, he was 
made aid-de-camp on the staff of Governor Ferry, with the rank of lieutenant colo­
nel, and was placed in command of forty-two men. He was then sent to eastern 
Oregon to assist in defending the people against the Indians ,vho had recently 
been defeated by General 0. 0. Ho,vard. He passed south of the retreating 
bands to Camas Prairie with a view of intercepting the retreat. The hostile sav­
ages, learning of his position, by a circuitous route passed around him and es­
caped, but he captured enough horses to pay the entire expenses of his com­
mand. Although no battle was fought in that campaign, it was considered so 
hazardous that an offer of ten dollars per day for guides ,vas not sufficient to c-ause 
anyone to accept and run the risk. In his official report, General 0. 0. Howard, 
quoting Captain John A. Cress, said: ''Captain \Villiam C. Painter and the forty­
two volunteers from \Valla \\.alla deserve praise for good conduct and bravery, 
nol excepting my Vancouver regiment and Captain Gray, with officers and crew 
of the steamer Spokane. who !-loo<l firmly at their posts under fire." 

\,Vhen the country no longer needed his military aid Captain Painter became 
a clerk for Flanders & Felton of \\.allula, and "·hen the senior member was elected 
to congress in 1867, Captain Painter took charge of the business. He also became 
postmaster of \\"allula and the agent for the \Yells Fargo Express Company. 
Returning to Walla \\ralla, he ,vas appointed deputy collector of internal revenue 
for eastern ,vashington and in November, 1870, he resigned that position, al­
though his resignation was not accepted until the following l\Iay. After retiring 
from office he made some unfortunate mill investments, in which he lost every­
thing that he had sa,·ed. \\-ith courageous spirit, ho,vever, he again became a 
wage earner and \\·as thus employed until 1876, when he was appointed receiver 
of the United States land office and occupied that position in most satisfactory 
manner until 1878, when he was elected county auditor. He served for four con­
secutive terms in that position and the \Vaitsburg Times of i\Iarch Ir, 1887, in 
speaking of him at his retirement from office, designated him as "the ·best auditor 
\Va1la \Valla county e,·er had." . He ever regarded a public office as a public 



trust and it is well known that no trust reposed in Captain Painter was ever 
betrayed in the slightest degree. Upon his retirement from the position of county 
auditor he concentrated his attention on farming, having fifteen hundred acres in 
the Eureka flats. While th.us engaged he still occupied the old home on South 
Third street in \Valla \Valla, where the family still reside. He was thus extensivly 
engaged in general agricultural pursuits and continued his farming operations 
until about two years prior to his death. 

On the ilh of January, 1864, Captain Painter was married to Miss Caroline 
l\IitchelJ, the only daughter of Judge I. l\Iitchell, of ~Iultnomah county, Oregon, 
and their children are: Philip l\L, a resident of \Valla Walla county; Charles S., 
of !\Iontana; Maude :\I., the wife of Garrett D'Ablaing of Ellensburg; Harry M., 
a Congregational minister of Seattle; Bonnie Jean, the ,vife of R. F. :\IacLane of 
Walla \,Valla; Marguerite M., the wife of Herbert Gall of Sascatoon, Canada; 
Roy R., deceased; Rex M., of ·walla \,Valla county; Caroline M., the wife of H. 
J. Wolff of Seattle; and Bruce I., of San Francisco. The family circle was 
broken by the hand of death when on the 4th of December, 1900, Captain Painter 
died of paralysis. For some time he was a vestryman of the Episcopal church 
which the family attend. His political allegiance had always been gi\·en to the 
republican party from the time of its organization and he was a most _faithful 
follower of its principles. It is said that at every <lemonstration of a patriotic 
nature Captain Painter was called upon to take his place among the leaders, 
with his battle-scarred Indian war flag. His patriotic sentiments Jed him to 
take a prominent part in the Pioneer Association of Oregon and he always made 
a special effort to be present at its meetings. He was also active among the 
Indian '\Var Veterans and was the first grand commander of the organization. 
For years he belonged to the Ancient Order of United Workmen. He gave 
devoted loyalty to every cause which he espoused and his is a most notable and 
honorable record of a pioneer, a valiant soldier and one of nature's noblemen. 
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L. L. HUNT. 

L. L. Hunt is familiar with the methods of Indian warfare in the northwest, 
as he early became connected with the army in this section of the state. Since 
then he has been active in business along various lines and step by step has pro­
gressed until he is now in possession of a handsome competence that enables him 
to live retired. He makes his home in College Place, \Valla Walla county, ~md 
has important farming interests on section 36, township 7 north, range 35 east. 
His career in many respects has been an eventful one. The width of the continent 
separates him from his birthplace, for he is a native of Maine. He was born on 
the 2d of August, 1855, his parents being George and 1fary Ann (Prescott) 
Hunt, both of whom were representatives of old families that sent forth soldiers 
to the Revolutionary war. Both the father and mother spent their entire lives 
in the Pine Tree state. 

L. L. Hunt was reared under the parental roof until he reached the age of 
· sixteen years, when he left home and went to Boston, Massachusetts, where for 
four years he was engaged in railroading. The opportunities of the west, how­
ever, attracted him and he left New England, making his way to Nevada. Loca­
ting in Carson City, for more than a year he there worked in the timber region, 
and in 1876 he went to San Joaquin county, California, where he engaged in 
driving a team during the following winter. In 1877 he came to Walla Walla, 
where he worked for the government during the Joseph Indian war, driving a~ 
team used for transportation of supplies. A year later he became identified with 
Joe Woodworth in the operation of the old Cayuse stables in Walla Walla. He 
was· connected with the conduct of this business for about three years and then 
turned his attention to farming on the Eureka Flats, becoming one of the large 
operators on the flats. He homesteaded, preempted and also took up a timber 

. claim and he likewise purchased railroad land, owning at one time seven quarter 
· sections. He farmed altogether seventeen hundred acres of rented land and he 

remained on the flats for about twelve years. He next removed to Walla Walla 
but after a year took up his abode at College Place, where he engaged in garden­
ing. Subsequently he organized the L. L. Hunt Fruit & Produce Shipping Com~ 
pany and built up the business to extensive proportions, his interests becoming 
one of the chief industries of this section. He managed his affairs wisely and 
well and prosperity resulted. He now has retired from active business life and 
is enjoying a rest which he has truly earned and richly merits. 

In 1888 Mr. Hunt returned to Hoston for his bride and was there married 
on the 21st of October of that year to Miss Olivia Crosby. She was born in 
Nova Scotia and came to the United States at the age of sixteen years, her parents 
continuing in N om Scotia, where they passed away. l\Ir. Hunt brought his bride 
to the west and they have since been widely and favorably known in this section 
of the state. They are consistent members of the Presbyterian church, in the 
work of which they take an active and helpful interest, and Mr. Hunt is now 
serving as one of the elders of the church. His political endorsement is given 
to the republican party and while living on the Flats he served for two years as 
postmaster. He also belongs· to Trinity Lodge, No. 121, I. 0. 0. F. Both he 
and his wife hold membership in the Pioneers Association and are honored as 
among the early settlers who have contributed in marked measure to the up­
building and progress of this section of the country. Mr. Hunt has led a most 
busy, active and useful Jife. From the time when he became connected with a 
military post on the frontier he has done everything in his power to further the 
interests and development of this section of the country and his business affairs, 
too, have been of a character that have contributed to public progress and im­
provement as well as to personal success. His memory compasses the period 
when the majority of homes in this section of the state were little cabins, when 
few roads had been laid out, when the forests were uncut and the streams un­
bridged. He has lived to witness many changes since those days and in the work 
of transformation has borne his full share. 
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W.S. Clark 
Volunteer companies 

were raised in various communities 
to aid Idaho settlers in fighting 

the renegade Nez Perce Indians. 

On the_ m?~ing of June 19, 1877, a courier reached the city of Walla 
Walla brmgmg the sad news of the engagement on Camas prairie between 
the Nez Perce Indians and Col. Perry's troop of cavalry in which one half of 
Perry's troop were killed. The news caused a great deal of excitement. Word 
a~so came that the citizens of Lewiston were in danger of a raid by the In­
dians and that the settlers were pouring into town from all sides and help 
was much needed. 

Thomas P. Page, county auditor of Walla Walla county started to work 
raising a volunteer company. At one o'clock in the afternoon a meeting was 
called at the court house where the facts were presented and resolutions 
were passed promising to go to the aid of the people of the Lewiston district. 
One hundred names were set down on the roll and all who could get horses 
were to start that night. The quartermaster at the fort gave us rifles and six­
ty rounds of cartridges apiece. At six o'clock that evening the following par­
ty left Walla Walla en route for Lewiston: 

A. Reeves Ayres, John Agu, Ike Abbott, A.L. Bird, Charles Blewett, 
W.S. Clark, Lane Gillam, H.E. Holmes, Albert Hall, Jake Holbrook, Frank 
Jackson, John Keeney, J.H. Lister, Henry Lacy, Wm. McKearn, S.H. Max­
on, Al~c ODell, C.S. Robinson, J.S. Stott, Ben Scott, Albert Small, Frank 
Waldrip, T.P. Page, L.K. Grimm, J.F. McLean. 
. We arrived at Dayton at one o'clock that night and put our horses in the 

livery stable and ourselves to sleep in the haymow overhead. Next morning 
we breakfasted at the hotel, A.R. Ayres, H.E. Holmes and Tom Beall were 
missing. We traveled on to Marengo where a short stop was J;Ilade and the 
troops under Col. Whipple came up. We volunteers took the Indian trail 
across the hills, the regulars followed the wagon road. We stopped two 
hours on the Pataha and then traveled on to Dan Favor's ranch, which was 
about fifteen miles this side of Lewiston. Here we waited about three hours 
for supper, there being some misunderstanding about it. The troops camped 
at the same place. 

9n the morning of the 21st, after paying out bills we traveled on to 
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Lewiston, leaving our horses on this side of the river we crossed over to the 
town where we met Major Spurgeon, the commander at that place, who 
gave us to understand that the settlers nearby were in no immediate danger, 
and that if we cared to go on into the Indian country we could be of good 
service, but would have to be under the command of the military 
authorities. We re-crossed the river to our horses, got dinner and signed our 
names to report to Gen. Howard for eight days service. We then elected our 
officers as follows: T.P. Page, captain; L.K. Grimm, lieutenant, and John F. 
McLean sergeant. We again crossed over to Lewiston, this time with our 
outfits, and were regularly mustered in for the eight days of service. Up to 
this time Ayres, Holmes and Beall had not caught up with us. Some thought 
that they had backed out and gone home, others that they would yet come 
up. 

Major Spurgeon directed us to Fort Lapwai to report to Gen. Howard 
where we arrived at six o'clock in the evening. Here we had supper and after 
drawing on the post commissary for rations, retired. It rained on us all that 
night. The morning of the 22nd we spent in repairing and fixing up our out­
fits. At one o'clock we were again on the march as Gen. Howard's guard, 
the troops going in advance. There were three companies of infantry, two 
of cavalry and one company of artillery, and our little company of 
volunteers. 

As we were starting off from camp we were surprised, as well as pleased 
to see Doc Ayres, Doc Holmes and Ike Abbott, coming up. They were 
forgiven on our learning that they had got lost, being led astray by Beall, 
whose horse gave out, and then he went back home. They joined us in the 
march without waiting to secure any dinner. While we were going up Craig 
Mountain Ike Abott's horse got away from him and he did not catch him for 
several hours. On the evening of the 22nd we made camp on the Craig 
mountain, putting our horses out with those belonging to the troops and 
Sergeant McLean detailed J.H. Lister, Frank Waldrip and myself to guard 
the first part of the night, and Lane Gilliam, A.L. Bird and Frank Jackson 
for the latter part. This was our first guard duty. I thought that night that 
upon me rested the entire burden of herding those three hundred head of 
horses. 

On Saturday June 23rd we started early and traveled along the mountain 
until after noon we reached the great Camas prairie. I was very much sur­
prised to see the extent and richness of the prairie. I am told that timothy 
hay will grow here anywhere. We passed the place where our former citizen 
Lew Day was first attacked by the Indians and we later came to Ben 
Norton's place on the Cottonwood where we camped. Owing to the fact 
that we were in advance of the command Captain Page put a guard on the 
house and barn. Captain Page had placed Henry Lacy as guard over the 
barn and after the command came up Captain Wilkinson started to enter 
the barn and Henry stopped him. The captain told Henry who he was, still 
it did no good, and the captain turned and went off. Henry and Charley 
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Blewett were the youngest members in the company. 

On Sunday morning June 24th, Alec ODell, Lane Gilliam, Al Hall, Jake 
Holbrook, Ben Scott, Ike Abbott, Wm. McI<earn and W.S. Clark got up 
early and started for Mount Idaho nineteen miles distant. We passed the 
place where Lew Day, Mr. and Mrs. Norton and Hill Norton, Joseph 
Moore, John Chamberlain, wife and two children and Miss Bowers were 
overtaken by the Indians. We also saw the place where a load of goods for 
Mount Idaho had been captured by the Indians. We passed through 
Grangeville and on to Mt. Idaho where we arrived at about twelve o'clock. 
We hitched our horses to the fence of a resident who gave them some hay. 
Mr. Brown of the hotel told us that dinner would be at four o'clock. We told 
him we were hungry and couldn't wait. . He wasn't long in getting us 
something to eat. 

During our stay here ODell and one or two others had their horses shod. 
I went into Volmer's store and wrote a letter home. Mr. Scott the manager 
of the store, showed us many courtesies. He and Mr. Volmer were formerly 
from Walla Walla. Mr. Scott said that all who could were preparing to 
leave for Salmon river. We were given an invitation to dinner which we 
gladly accepted. Here we received the following information in regard to 
the depredations of the Indians. Joseph's band from the Wallowa and the 
Salmon River Indians, under White Bird, had been camped on Rocky can­
yon and White Bird creek. The outbreak was on the afternoon of June 13 by 
a small party of Indians, killing Richard Divine, an old man living alone on 
Salmon river. The next morning, the 14th, Henry Elfers, Robert Bland and 
Henry Beckroge were killed between six and seven o'clock. Shortly after 
Samuel Benedict was wounded while out hunting cattle and managed to 
reach his home where the Indians followed and put him to death. The same 
day on White bird they wounded J .J. Manuel and his little girl, killed James 
Baker and at the same time a Frenchman named August Bacon. On the fif­
teenth Mrs. Manuel, William Osborne and Henry Mason were killed and in 
this Joseph is said to have participated. On word reaching Mt. Idaho of 
these depredations people were fearful of the Indians. 

The settlers on Camas prairie shared a similar fate. According to Mr. 
Scott, Lew Day left Mt. Idaho to place the settlers on the prairie on guard 
and give notice to the troops at Lapwai. The Indians overtook Day two 
miles beyond Norton's house. They immediately fired on him hitting him 
twice in the back. Lew turned and went back to Norton's place and found 
Norton and his family just getting ready to go to Mr. Idaho. Norton with 
his wife and boy, Joe Moore, Miss Bowers, Mr. and Mrs. Chamberlain and 
their two children and Lew Day all got into the wagon and started for town, 
the Indians following and firing on them. Four miles this side of Grangeville 
the party all got out of the wagon and Hill, Norton and Miss Bowers made 
their escape and came into Grangeville bringing the first news of the 
slaughter. The team of horses had been shot when they got out of the 
wagon. Norton was killed, Joe Moore had been hit twice, Mrs. Norton had 
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been shot through both legs. Chamberlain and his boy were killed, the 
child's head being crushed between the knees of a powerful Indian. Mrs. 
Chamberlain was shot in the breast with an arrow and a portion of their 
child's tongue was cut off. They both later recovered. Theodore Schwartz 
was wounded. Day died a few days later and Moore some six weeks later. 

We started back to camp about six o'clock that evening and arrived at 
nine. On Monday, June 25, we left our camp on the Cottonwood and con­
tinued our march where we camped. On the road we passed the place where 
about one hundred lodges of Indians had been camped at the lakes, on the 
rocks in the canyons and on the prairie before the outbreak. On the ground 
of Col. Perry's retreat Captain Page picked up some twenty cartridge shells 
within a distance of fifty yards. At Johnson's we were given a camping 
ground to the right of the main column about half a mile from wood and 
water. The boys were dissatisfied and we got permission to camp within the 
enclosure at Johnson's house. H.E. Homes, Ike Abbott and C.S. Robinson 
were put on guard. 

After breakfast on Tuesday morning we left camp to reconnoiter. We 
were in advance of the command that day. Almost on the start we came 
across a dead soldier about two miles from camp. Here we rested to give the 
infantry time to come up. We reached the suµtmit looking down on White 
Bird creek about 12 o'clock. During this morning's ride most of the soldiers 
killed in Col. Perry's fight with the Indians were buried. For several miles 
we kept coming upon dead bodies. 

In the afternoon, with Chapman as guide, we rode along the top of the 
divide between Salmon river and White Bird. It was rough and tiresome 
riding. We saw fresh tracks and Chapman told us we were liable to meet In­
dians anywhere. Presently we discovered three Indian spies across the river 
and soon after we saw the whole band moving further up the mountain. We 
fired a number of shots toward them but they were too far away. 

Next we left the ridge and went down on the bottom to Manuel's on 
White Bird. We went inside the gate and looked at the ruins of the fire. A 
few of the soldiers strayed down to the creek and what was their surprise to 
see sitting in a little shed, which the Indians had spared, a white man whom 
we all soon found to be Jack Manuel, whom we had reported as among the 
killed. He had been wounded in the back of the neck with an arrow and had 
also been shot in the hips. Our next task was to get him out and away to 
safety. We soon fixed a pole in a broken buggy that was standing near and 
by fastening what spare ropes we had to the buggy and to the pommels of 
our saddles we succeeded in getting him away. Finding that we were not 
making headway fast enough our captain sent to Captain Miller for two 
pack mules which we soon had. Then, turning the pole into shafts we soon 
got to camp where we turned Mr. Manuel over to his friends who were to 
take him to Mount Idaho the next day. It had rained all day and we had had 
a hard day's work. 

On June 27th we broke camp and marched to White Bird, the soldiers 
__, 
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burying those they had not had time to bury the previous day. It was here 
on the White Bird side that the terrible battle had taken place. That night we 
were within a short distance of the Salmon river which we intended to cross 
the following day to fight the Indians on the other side. We could see them 
for hours that afternoon riding their horses, and swinging from side to side 
in all kinds of capers. After making camp we got instructions to escort the 
pack train back to Lewiston where they were going for supplies. On 
reaching Lewiston the eight days for which we had enlisted were up and 
believing that the army of General Howard was fully able to meet and con­
quer Chief Joseph and his band we returned to our homes. 

The day after our return came word of the ambushing of Lieut. Rains and 
ten volunteers of the regulars and the killing of Blewett and Foster. 

Colonel Whipple says of this: 
"I marched to Cottonwood, July i, and on the following morning sent 

two citizens named Foster and Blewett to examine the country in the vicini­
ty of direction of Craig's ferry, the place where Joseph and his party swam 
the river, for indications of the presence of the Indians. Toward evening 
Foster returned rapidly to camp and reported that he had seen Indians about 
twelve miles distant coming from the direction of Craig ferry; that they had 
fired a shot or two at him; that he last saw his comrade about that time. I 
directed Second Lieutenant S.M. Rains of my company with ten picked men 
and the Scout Foster, to proceed at once to the point where the Indians had 
been seen for the purpose of ascertaining the strength of the enemy and to 
aid young Blewett. I particularly cautioned Rains not to proceed the com­
mand too far, to keep on high ground, and to report the first signs of the In­
dians. The command was in motion very shortly after the detachment had 
started and firing was soon heard on our front. A rapid gait was taken up 
and after a couple of miles Indians were discovered about half a mile dis­
tant, and on approaching nearer it was found that they were in large force 
and that Lieutenant Rains and every man of his detachment had been killed. 

General Howard writes: ''These were dreadful tidings. This young officer 
was of the same mould as the famous Winterfield of history who was killed 
in just such fashion under Frederick the Great, prompt, loyal, able without 
fear, and without reproach. Frederick lost many brave leaders but only one 
Winterfield. We lost one Rains." 

The citizens of Walla Walla came to know and to admire Lieut. Rains 
very much. Blewett had been killed further around the mountain un­
doubtedly after a run for his life. Blewett had been my next door neighbor 
for a number of years. We were students together in old district number one 
and also at Whitman seminary. We had all regretted leaving Charley but he 
wanted to stay and Colonel Whipple said he would look after him and take 
him into his own mess. He was a likeable boy. As soon as conditions would 
allow we had his remains brought home and given a military funeral. 

) 
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Col. Frank J. Parker 
A scout for General Howard 

during the Nez Perce Indian campaign, 
Col. Parker was correspondent for 

the California Associated Press and Boise Statesman. 

Col. Frank J. Parker, present proprietor of the Statesman, was born in 
Western England, April 28, 1845. At eighteen years of age he came to the 
United States, crossed the continent to California, where he arrived in 1864, 
visited Nevada, passed through Arizona, a portion of Old Mexico, and 
reaching Fort Union, New Mexico, joined the California volunteers 
December 9 of the year that he reached the United States. He served 
through the Apache campaign, was twice wounded in one day, then 
discharged and returned to California. From there he started for the Big 
Bend mines at the headwaters of the Columbia river, from where he went to 
Lewiston, Idaho Territory. For eleven years he followed mining in different 
camps through the mountains with varied success, until the Nez Perce out­
break in 1877, when he became a scout, bearer of dispatches for General 
Howard, and correspondent for the California Associated Press and Boise 
Statesman. His letters through the press, and exploits during that war, 
brought him prominently before the people of Idaho, and his name became 
as familiar in that·country as that of the General who commanded the cam­
paign. It was during this war, that the "Scout's Soliloquy" was penned by 
him, that, finding its way into the New York Graphic, was extensively 
republished by the Eastern press with many flattering comments. It was the 
poetic reflection called forth by the appearance before him of a hideous old 
squaw accompanied by a little three year old naked child, and we give a 
brief extract from the poem: 

SCOUT'S SOLILOQUY 

As published in N. Y." Graphic 

Ahl yet her age her reputation spareth, 
At three years old, pert Venus little careth, 
She puts her hand upon her hip and stareth. 

Could boundaries be neater, posture meeker, 
Could bronze antique, or terracotta beat her, 
Saw ever artist anything completer. 

Hast thou no notion, of what's before thee, 
Of who shall envy or adore thee, 
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Or the dirty siwash that's to rule o'er thee? 

Die young for mercy sake! If thou grow older, 
Thou shalt get lean of calf and sharp of shoulder, 
And daily greedier and daily bolder. 

Just such another as the dame that bore thee, 
That haggard Sycorax now bending o'er thee, 
Oh, die of something fatal I implore thee! 
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At the close of the campaign, General Howard gave to Mr. Parker the 
following in recognition of his services: 

MR. F.J. PARKER: 

HEAD QUARTERS IN THE FIELD, 

JUDITH, BASIN, MONTANA, SEPTEMBER 27, 1877. 

Permit me to thank you for the generous service you have rendered the 
U.S. service during the Nez Perce war of 1877. You have ridden long 
journeys night and day and worked and fought right nobly. I hope to have 
the benefit of your services should another Indian outbreak take me into the 
field. 

0.0. HOWARD 

BRIG. GEN'L COMMANDING ExPEDITION, IN THE FIELD 

The Governor of Idaho, M. Brayman, then gave him the position on his 
staff of Aide-de-camp, with the rank of Lieutenant Colonel, stating on the 
commission that it was given as a reward, "For gallant services in the Nez 
Perce war of 1877 ." In 1878, during the Bannock outbreak, he served again 
as scout and courier for General Howard, but this time as exclusive cor­
respondent for the San Francisco Chronicle. During the last week in 1878, 
he took editorial charge of the Statesman of Walla Walla, ran it a year, and 
then assumed full control. 
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A.B. Roberts 

Roberts, a veteran of the 1855-56 
Yakima Indian Wars, tells about 

his experiences as a volunteer soldier. 

This story is not intended to be a history of the Indian wars of the North­
west Country, but only a statement of the facts, the causes and the res~lts 
of the most serious conflicts which had occurred between the races durmg 
the settlement of this interesting country by the white men. It is a fa~t to be 
noted, that there were more wars and conflicts between th~ races durmg ~he 
settlement of Oregon than in any other portion of the Umted States durmg 
the settlement of the Far West. . 

Beginning with this Cayuse war in 1847 we find the two Rogue river 
wars, the great Yakima war that covered all of Oregon and Washington, the 
Modock war, the Joseph war (Nez Perce) and the Bannock war. 

The greatest of all these wars was the Yakima war of 1855-56. 
Previous to this time the Oregon and Washington settlements were con­

fined to the West side of the great range, the Cascades, but in the win~er of 
1854 the administration took up the idea of opening the Inland Empire or 
the intermountain country for settlement and accordingly called all the In­
dians east of the Cascades and north of the Blue Mountains and as far east 
and to include the Nez Perces to meet in council in Walla Walla in June for 
the purpose of making treaties for the purchase of their lands. To this coun­
cil the Government sent commissioners consisting of Governor I.I. Stevens 
of Washington; General Palmer, Superintendent of Indian Affairs of 
Oregon, and Colonel Cummins of the army. . 

The council was fully attended, the meeting place bemg exactly where the 
city of Walla Walla now stands. To be more particular, it began on the 
north side of Mill Creek about where the N .P. depot stands and after a few 
days was moved to the south side to about the grounds oc~upied by the 
Y.M.C.A. building and the Christian church, where the treaties were co~­
pleted and fully signed, excepting one only of all of the gre~t chiefs. To this 
one name "hangs a tale" worthy of being told at another time. 

Now, to continue this story we must explain the facts that lead up to the 
ignoring of the great treaties of Walla Walla in June, 18~5. . 

Soon after treaties were signed settlers began to locate m the fme valleys 
and the Indians began to realize that the greatest portion of their domain 
was now in the hands of the white man. 

Years ago the West side from California to British Columbia had been 
relinquished and now the intermountain country was gone. 

The first payment was to be made in cash the following September, and 
for 20 years other a~~~ities were to be paid in cash. At o~:~:1'; were 
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taken by the Indians to ignore those treaties, but the other party- the white 
man - was not called to their councils. But the Chiefs of all the tribes of the 
Coast country and all the East side were finally assembled on the Umatilla 
in the early part of September and at that grand council representing all of 
that country in which settlement had begun it was agreed that once more a 
united effort would be made to drive out the white settlers and a refusal of 
the payments and the ignoring of all treaties would be made. Only the great 
War Chief Lawyer and his sub-Chief Lapi of the Nez Perces and 
Winumsnoots and Timothy of the Umatillas held out, and through their 
great influence over their people prevented those two tribes from joining in 
the greatest of hostilities known as the Yakima war of 1855. It is awful to 
think, that if those two, the most powerful of the Inland tribes had joined 
with the great combine of hostile Indians, what the result might have been. 

How did I come into possession of these "state secrets"? I chanced to 
spend many years of my life in the most intimate and friendly terms with 
the two leading Chiefs referred to, both of them being Christian gentlemen, 
educated by the lamented Dr. Whitman, and it may be here remarked that 
the works of that martyr subsequently saved not only Oregon to the United 
States, but saved the unprotected settlements of that period from total an­
nihilation by the combined tribes. 

But to take up the ignoring of the treaties of 1855. 
The intentions and results of that council of Chiefs on the Umatilla were 

not published and the first that our people or Uncle Sam knew of them was 
when the Government agent, Mr. A. J. Bolan, who was sent in September 
to the Yakima country to pay to Kamiakin and his sub-chiefs of that tribe 
their cash annuity which was due at that time as per treaty stipulation, 
when he was foully murdered and his money taken, and about the same 
time Colonel Nathan Olney, agent for the Cayuses, Walla Wallas and 
others, went to those tribes for the same purpose and he was told in plain 
language that the treaties were ignored and that they would not kill him but 
to take back the money and immediately remove all of those settlers who 
had taken claims in the Walla Walla Valley, which he did at once. 

Now the commanding officer of the U.S. troops at Fort Columbia (The 
Dalles) sent Major Haller with the majority of the troops under his com­
mand over to the Yakima country to bring in the murderers of Agent Bolan 
and he was met by Kamiakin, and his troops completely routed and their 
horses and outfits captured and on foot and destitute they reached The 
Dalles and the Indians at their heels firing across the Columbia into the 
villages, when the Oregon volunteers came to their relief. 

Yes, the ball was opened and the greatest Indian war of the Pacific Coast 
had its first battle and the enemy was victorious. 

Now the Governor of Oregon Territory was called upon for volunteers 
and at once within twenty-four hours after the call was posted in Portland 
95 young men left their homes and employment and were at ~ Dalles to 
drive back old Kamiakin and his victorious warriors. (4 / ~ J7 
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It is no part of this narrative, but I just stop long enough to say that we 

have never received the pay offered by our Governor and that we are now 
asking Congress to place us on the pension roll on the same footing with 
those who served in other Indian wars of the Rebellion or Civil War. 

The object of this story is to tell the awful experience and miraculous 
escape of an old friend of mine by the name of Ferguson (Old Shake) who 
with a Mr. Ives, was bringing on some beef cattle for the use of Major 
Hailer's command. Mr. Ferguson or "Old Shake" as he was usually called, 
was one of those characters frequently found in the Far West frontier. He 
was a man of fine education and much ability, one of those who had seen 
better days. But the "call of the west" induced him to join the pioneers who 
made the trails and subdued the hard conditions that confronted those who 
volunteered to develop the farthest and fairest of Uncle Sam's great domain. 
We find him in 1855 at The Dalles, Oregon, a place where no man had the 
right to a home under any government land laws; at The Dalles they were 
merely knocking at the door of the great Inland Empire and helping to open 
it and doing the dangerous work to prepare for a more timid generation. 
And so in line with his duties it was necessary for him to attempt the hazar­
dous work of bringing up supplies to a command of government troops 
who had gone to the savages to capture the murderers of a government 
agent. 

So those two men pushed on with their small herd not having any idea of 
the fate that had befallen Major Haller's command. They were met by a 
band of hostile Indians who swooped down upon them and only the speed 
of their mounts made it possible for them to save their scalps from the 
bloody knife of superior numbers. They fled across to a level open plain 
bordered on one side by a deep canyon with heavy pine timber and small 
brush up to the edge of the level plain. On they flew; the Indians not stop­
ping for the beef cattle but only intent on securing a couple of scalps. "Old 
Shake" was riding a fine mule but it was not as speedy as Ives' extra fine sad­
dle horse. Shots were being fired after the fleeing whites and gradually the 
Indians were overtaking "Old Shake" who had given up all hope of escap­
ing. As bullets were flying in his vicinity he yelled to his companion who 
was some distance in advance 'that's a good shot' and at the same time he 
threw himself from his mule. The Redskins hotly pursuing Ives and thinking 
''Old Shake'' was good and dead paid no more attention to him. 

Finding himself in a bushy canyon "Old Shake" easily rolled into cover 
where he was safe for a time as the Indians after their fruitless chase for Ives 
had no means of locating him. I say fruitless chase; they followed him until 
their horses gave out; Ives' horse was too fast for them. 

Mr. Ives reached The Dalles in safety after a ride of two days and two 
nights and reported the death of "Old Shake" and the circumstances accom­
panying it. "The Indians attacked us," he said, " and captured the cattle; 
they overtook "Old Shake" on his mule; that as he fell from his mule he 
hollered 'I am shot.' Th::ing 'Old Shake' was done for the~:;; turned 
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their attention to me but owing to my fine mount I got away from them." 
About the same time came the report of Major Hailer's defeat and that he 

was returning with his demoralized troops. An Indian war was on and 
Governor Currie of Oregon territory was called on for a regiment of 
mounted volunteers, and, in less than three days from the call, Company A, 
of which I was a member was at The Dalles where we found Major Haller. 
He was on the north side of the Columbia not having as yet been able to 
cross over to the post. The hostile Indians were at his heels; they made their 
presence known by firing occasional shots across into the village. 

We located a camp near the yillage and acted as a guard until other com­
panies of volunteers could be raised and pushed to the front. In five or six 
days the news came that "Old Shake" had made his appearance at Major 
Haller's camp. Glad to learn of my friend's escape I secured a canoe and 
crossed the river to see him. I found him comfortable on a cot in the guard 
tent where he had crawled on hands and knees the previous night about 2 
o'clock; and when he was hailed by the picket on guard who called "who 
comes there," he answered: "Old Shake." The picket ran like wild to the 
guard tent and screamed into the sergeant's ears that "Old Shake's" ghost 
had appeared to him. The sergeant returned with the picket and found 
Ferguson crawling on the ground as he had been for over a week. I sat by his 
bedside and listened to the story of his miraculous escape. He told me that 
as the Indians, some 15 or 20 in war paint, swooped down upon them, they 
made an attempt at escape by flight; that Ives on a fine horse was gradually 
gaining on him and the Indians on their ponies were also gaining on the 
speed of his mule; shots were now being fired at them and some coming 
dangerously near him he saw that his only chance was to fall from him 
mount and feign dead. He did so and the enemy rushed on after his partner 
as he had expected. As soon as they has passed out of sight he rolled into the 
nearby canyon and hid in the brush. At the creek at the bottom of the can­
yon he found a trail which he knew would lead to The Dalles and Simcoe 
trail. He was afraid to follow this trail less his shoe tracks would give him 
away so he pulled off his shoes and threw them away in the brush. Throw­
ing his shoes away was a mistake as his tender feet became sore and he was 
unable to walk. But he struggled on for days or mostly nights living on 
roots and berries and most of the time crawling on his knees-his trousers 
being "foxed" with buckskin as was the almost universal custom in those 
days. He came over the little mountain range some 10 miles north of The 
Dalles and really in sight of that village, and yet he crawled for several days 
before he reached Major Haller's camp. 

From the foregoing story those of the present day can have a glimpse of 
the work of those real old pioneers who opened up this beautiful Inland Em-
pire. ~ //() 
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Lewis McMorris 
Lew McMorris reminisces 

about Christmas day spent at a 
lonely army post in the wilderness in 1856. 

~hristmas meant so little to us who were here in 1856 that there is really 
little~ remember about that day, the first Christmas day ever spent by white 
men m Walla Walla. We had little thoughts of Christmas, little that marked 
the day. We were located here as a post of army men, and we thought little, 
t~at day, w~at the word meant to the millions who were celebrating the 
birth of Chnst throughout the world. 

_Shut out as we were, from the rest of the world, our communications 
with the_ outside civilization severed for the winter, the cold oppressing us 
those bnef days and almost interminable nights, we had nothing to bring to 
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our thoughts the meaning of the word Christmas. 

Men there were among us, and many of them I have no doubt, thought of 
the Christmas they used to spend at home, in the East, by the fireside in 
comfortable homes. Some there were who could no doubt remember lux­
uries of earlier holiday time, when the world, cold then as upon that day in 
1856, was clad with the pure white mantle of snow. But the meaning of the 
snow in boyhood days, when it meant fun and pleasure, was far different 
from the meaning it had for us beleaguered men in our lonely fort, more like 
a prison, in that hard winter. 

There were about 200 of us, if I remember right, stationed here that 
winter. We were under the command of the gallant officer, Colonel Steptoe. 
Four companies of soldiers and about eight or ten of us quartermaster men, 
composed the garrison. There was no communication, in or out, during 
that long, hard winter. 

It was one of the coldest winters I remember in this part of the country. 
For six weeks the snow and bitter, damp chill which accompanied it, was 
unbroken. Feed was scarce for the horses, and amusement for the men was 
almost entirely lacking. With nothing but the snow, stretching on one side 
as far as the eye could reach over the rolling prairie, and ending on the other 
at the top of the not distant mountains, it seemed we were but sailors, toss­
ed on the white billows of the rolling prairies. As far as the eye could see, 
stretched the white, white, nothing but that plain white. Our camp was a 
ship, but we made no progress. The waves of the great white ocean never 
changed. 

Of Indians we had little fear. They were not apt to be troublesome in the 
winter. Indeed, the cold we dreaded was our safeguard and as long as it 
lasted we were in little danger of attack from that quarter. Our danger was 
more likely to result from sickness. But we had very little sickness that 
winter. 

Homesickness7 Well, we were not the kind that got homesick. We never 
thought about home, if we had we would have made poor pioneers. Home 
seemed to us a word, nothing more. If it had any meaning it was only a sug­
gestion of something we had once known, something long past, almost 
forgotten. Home meant little to us hardy fellows and if any of us was 
homesick, he dared not mention it. 

Christmas mail7 No, the Christmas mail of those days in Walla Walla 
was easily handled. In fact, I think the last mail we had that year was early 
in December just after the last government train had left The Dalles, our 
nearest point of succor, had anything happened. No letters were brought us 
to read around a campfire on the night of Christmas eve. We didn't open 
any packages containing presents from loved ones. We had no Christmas 
dinner to remind us of times long since past. Christmas, like home, was a 
word. 

Christmas day that year dawned late. The clouds hung low and the wind 
blew chill up the Valley. Housed in our log huts, roofed with sod and dirt, 
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we shivered about our fires as daylight crept over the mountains and an­
nounced to us that another year had passed, another Christmas had come. 

Nor had we any Christmas of the year before to look back to. That year 
we were stationed at The Dalles and the winter there was cold, and it was 
lonesome. We had no more celebration in that bigger post than we did in 
Walla Walla in 1856. We had no time, no reason, if you will, to think of 
Christmas. 

Our breakfast was the breakfast of a hundred other days. We thought of 
nothing different, we got nothing different and our dinner was the same. It 
was a day of the week, of the month, of the year. It was nothing more. We 
had our routine duties, and ··when we had performed them, we were 
through, we had no Christmas. 

Christmas turkey we had not. Whether we had any extra prairie chicken 
that day-the only wild bird we could shoot-I do not remember. But this I 
know, had there been anything out of the ordinary, I am sure I would have 
remembered it. 

The day was spent by most of the boys in herding the horses through the 
tall rye grass that used to grow as high as your head on the banks of Mill 
Creek. This was all the feed we could get them. Everything else was covered 
with snow. The horses were herded down the creek in the daytime, and 
were returned to the corral at night, where they huddled in the cold of the 
long winter darkness. But it was the only way we could protect them from 
being stolen from us by the Indians. While it was too cold for the Indians to 
fight, I hardly think it ever got too cold for them to steal horses, had they 
been given the opportunity. And even then, of course, we occasionally lost 
an animal. This was the occupation that busied the men on Christmas day 
of 1856. They could not sit around and tell stories, listen to any music or 
happy laughter of little relatives, the horses must be fed. And we had no 
thought of Christmas. 

You think perhaps, that it would have to be indeed a strange condition 
that would make you forget Christmas and the thoughts of homecomings at 
other times. The conditions were strange, to you. To us they were a matter 
of fact. We were there. We were doing our duty, we were carrying out the 
orders we had. And our orders did not mention Christmas. You cannot 
understand, probably you will never be placed in that position, but 
Christmas that first year was anything but the Christmas of present days. 

There were no buildings in Walla Walla then. We were camped on the 
east bank of Mill Creek, on Main street, as the town is now laid out. 
Thoughts of brick buildings, brilliantly lighted streets, paved and swept, 
never occurred to us. Why should they. Where the biggest stores now 
stand, where most of the Christmas presents and good things to eat are now 
purchased, was that year snow, white snow. No we never thought street 
cars would run down past what was then our camp. We never realized that 
the shade of big buildings would some day fall across the ground where we 
were camped. We never gave it a thought whether even there would be a ci-
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ty, or a town here. And least of all were our thoughts of Christmas. 
Oh, I don't mean to say there were none of us who thought of Christmas 

that day. I don't mean to intimate that there were none of us who did not 
think of home and wonder what loved ones were- doing as we ate our plain 
fare. I do not mean to say there were not many who had a thought of 
mother in a distant eastern home, or a sweetheart waiting for him when this 
land of promise should open up and give forth its bounty. There were many 
of us, no doubt, who thought all these things. But they were too good 
soldiers to think of them long, or to talk of them at all. 

We were not the kind, I have said, to get homesick. And during that long 
winter there was not a complaint, not a whimper, from one of those hardy 
sons who were there that the country might some day be open to you. In 
silence the hardships were endured, or if they were mentioned, it was only 
to pass them off as a joke, to make light of the things that were bringing 
premature old age upon that little band of men. They laughed at the dangers 
from their dark skinned foes. They joked away any suggestion of possibili­
ty. And when things, sometimes, grew so dark that jokes were out of place, 
silence succeeded. 

There were no men in the army that having put their hand to the plow, 
wanted to tum back. Hardy sons of the western frontier, they were there to 
open the country, to make possible the settlement of this greatest valley of 
the Northwest and of the world. They were doing a great work, doing a 
work that no one else could do, and they were doing it well. 

Small wonder, is it then, that they had no thought of Christmas. If the 
day was mentioned I do not remember it. It was simply one of those days of 
our long, cold stay. Simply another space from dawn to darkness, simply a 
part of the week, routine of life that had to be endured. That was all. 
Christmas as you mean it now was not related by even ever so slight a 
thread, to the Christmas of 1856. Little romance, little of interest, just a day 
of the 365, just a part of the year, just another notch in the stick by which 
we kept time. That was Christmas day of 1856. 
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SAMUEL LOVE GILBREATH. 

Samuel Love Gilbreath, an honored pioneer of Columbia county, Washing­
ton, became a resident of Old ·walla Walla county when there were few white 
settlers within its limits, and took up a homestead three miles from the city 
of Dayton, although it was a number of years later that the town was laid out. 
He was a successful farmer, loyal friend and a public-spirited citizen, ind his 
demise was the occasion of sincere regret. He was borr~ in McMinn county, 
Tennessee, March 25, 1825, and was of Scotch descent. He was a representa­
tive of one of the old families of the south, being a grandson of Archibald 
Rowan, the third governor of Tennessee. His education was that afforded by · 
the common schools and he remained in his native state until he became of 
age. He then determined· to try his fortune in the far west and, crossing the 
plains, settled 

0

in Yamhill c~unty, Oregon. For a number of years he farmed 
there and then went into the cattle business, which occupied his attention until 
1855, when the Cayuse Indian war broke out. He enlisted for six months' 
service in the First Oregon Mounted Cavalry Regiment, which did good work in 
putting down the uprising both in Oregon and Washington. He was later for 
six months assistant wagon master and one of his cf.uties was the gruesome task 
of hauling the bodies of the dead hack to The Dalles, from which point they 
were shipped to relatives in the Willamette valley. 

Following his marriage in 1859 Mr. Gilbreath drove a herd of cattle to Old 
Walla Walla county, Washington. At that time the city of Walla Walla com­
prised but a very few buildings and the· settlers in the county were few and 
far between. He took up a homestead three miles southwest of the present 
city of Dayton and built a log cabin with puncheon floors, which remained the 
family home for a number of years. There were many hardships to be endured 
in those early days but the lot of the pioneer was lightened by the spirit of hos­
pitali~y and cooperation which prevailed. Travelers were welcomed at every log 
cabin and the service of each settler was at the disposal of the others. Mr. 
Gilbreath worked hard and gave careful attention to his business affairs and 
as time passed his resources increased. The first crude buildings upon his farm 
were at length replaced by substantial and commodious structures and the place 
was brought to a high state of development. At the time of his death he owned 
two hundred acres of fine orchard and alfalfa land, of which his widow has 
since sold one hundred and twenty acres, still owning eighty acres, which is 
valued at a high price per acre. 

Mr. Gilbreath was married in 1859, in Oregon, to Miss Margaret H. Fan­
ning, of Albany, and they became the parents of thirteen children, ten of .whom 
survive, namely: Nancy E., a teacher; Mary, the wife of J. 0. Mattoo_n; Lee, 
a resident of Columbia county; Joseph, a resident of Seattle; Susie, the wife 
of E. E. Martin; Rose, who is teaching in Seattle; Charles, a resident of Walla 
Walla; Grace, the wife of T. O. Morrison; James, an instructor m tne um­
\'crsity of Washington; and· Fred, a graduate of West Point and a captain in 
the United States army, now with the American embassy in London. 

:\fr. C.ilhrcalh was a prominent factor in public affairs in the early days and 
was chosen the first county commissioner of Old Walla Walla county and 
the first sheriff of Columbia county. He was a firm believer in the value of 
hi~hl'r <'duration nnd !-cnt gevcral of his children to college. In many ways his 
in0m.·1H..·e was felt in the a<h-anccment of his community, and personally he was 
held in the highl'~t c~tccm hc:<.·ause of his tmswe.rving integrity and his great 
capacity for fricmh:hip. I Ii:,; wife had the distinction of being the first white 
woman to take up her rc:;idcncc in the four counties comprised within Old 
\\'alla \\'a\la county, an,\ she, ton, pro\'t•tl her <.·mm,g-c nnd perseverance in per­
formin~ chrrrf ully awl l·Oil'il·ntly the many an,l a r<luous duties that fell to the 
Int of the pionc<'r wife ancl mother. 
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SAMUEL LOVE GILBREATH. 

Samuel Love Gilbreath, an honored pioneer of Columbia county, Washing­
ton, became a resident of Old \Valla Walla county when there were few white 
settlers within its limits, and took up a homestead three miles from the city 
of Dayton, although it was a number of years later that the town was laid out. 
He was a successful farmer, loyal friend and a public-spirited citizen, ~nd his 
demise was the occasion of sincere regret. He was bori:i in McMinn county, 
Tennessee, March :25, 1825, and was of Scotch descent. He was a representa­
tive of one of the old families of the south, being a grandson of Archibald 
Rowan, the third governor of Tennessee. His education was that afforded by · 
the common schools and he remained in his native state until he became of 
age. He then determined· to try his fortune in the far west and, crossing the 
plains, settled · in Yamhill co_unty, Oregon. For a number of years he farmed 
there and then went into the cattle business, which occupied his attention until 
1855, when the Cayuse Indian war broke out. He enlisted for six months' 
service in the First Oregon Mounted Cavalry Regiment, which did good work in 
ptttting down the uprising both in Oregon and Washington. He was later for 
six months assistant wagon master and one of his c\uties was the gruesome task 
of hauling the bodies of the dead back to The Dalles, from which point they 
were shipped to relatives in the Willamette valley. 

Following his marriage in 1859 Mr. Gilbreath drove a herd of cattle to Old 
Walla Walla county, Washington. At that time the city of Walla Walla com­
prised but a very few buildings and the· settlers in the county were few and 
far between. He took up a homestead three miles southwest of the present 
city of Dayton and built a log cabin with puncheon floors, which remained the 
family home for a number of years. There were many hardships to be endured 
in those early days but the lot of the pioneer was lightened by the spirit of hos­
pitali_ty and cooperation which prevailed. Travelers were welcomed at every log 
cabin and the service of each settler was at the disposal of the others. Mr. 
Gilbreath worked hard and gave careful attention to his business affairs and 
as time passed his resources increased. The first crude buildings upon his farm 
were at length replaced by substantial and commodious structures and the place 
was brought to a high state of development. At the time of his death he owned 
two hundred acres of fine orchard and alfalfa land, of which his widow has 
since sold one httndred and twenty acres, still owning eighty acres, which is 
valued at a high price per acre. 

Mr. Gilbreath was married in 1859, in Oregon, to Miss Margaret H. Fan­
ning, of Albany, and they became the parents of thirteen children, ten of .whom 
survive, namely : Nancy E., a teacher; Mary, the wife of J. 0. Mattoon; Lee, 
a resident of Columbia county; Joseph, a resident of Seattle; Susie, the wife 
of E. E. Martin; Rose, who is teaching in Seattle; Charles, a resident of Walla 
Walla; Grace, the wife of T. 0. Morrison; James, an instructor m toe uni­
versity of Washington; and· Fred, a graduate of West Point and a captain in 
the United States army, now with the American embassy in London. 

~Tr. Cilhrcath was a prominent factor in public affairs in the early days and 
was chosen the first county commissioner of Old Walla Walla county and 
the first sheriff of Columbia county. He was a firm believer in the value of 
hi~lu:r c-ch1<.·ation and sent several of his children to college. In many ways his 
inflm·nce was f clt in the nch-anccmcnt of his community, and personally he was 
hcl<l in the highe~t c::-:tccm hl·(.·ause of his tmswe.rving integrity and his great 
capadty for frictHh:hip. 1 l is wif c had the distinction of being the first white 
woman to take up her rc$hlcnrc in the four counties comprised within Old 
\\'alb. \\'a11a county, :rn1t sh(.', ton, {ll'll\'t•<I her <.'mtrnge nnd perseverance in per­
formini,: chrrdully a111l l·Oidl·ntly tht: many an1l arduous duties that fell to the 
Int of the pion~l'r wif c ancl mother. 
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WILLIAM MARTIN. 

Among Walla Walla county's venerable and highly respected citizens is 
numbered William Martin, a retired farmer who is now living in Hill township. 
Moreover, he has lived on the Pacific coast for sixty-five years and is familiar 
with every phase of its growth and development from Indian· fighting to the 
latest methods of crop production. He was born in Indiana, September 30, 1833, 
and is a son of Jesse and Catherine (Harris) Martin, the former a native of 
Ohio, while the latter was born in Kentucky~ At an early date they became 
residents of Indiana and afterward established their home in McLean county, 
Illinois. In 1844 they removed to Missouri, where they resided until 185i, 
when they started across the plains for California, whither their son William 
had preceded them. They located in Thurston county, Washington, and there 
continued to reside until called to their final rest. They had a ·family of ten 
children but only three are now living. 

William Martin was reared and educated in Missouri, where he resided 
until 1852, when at the age of nineteen years he came to the Pacific coast coun­
try. He outfitted with an ox team and wagon and started upon the long jour­
ney to California, attracted by the discovery of gold on the Pacific coast and 
the business opportunities whiGh it opened up. He was six months in crossing 
the plains and then concluded to locate in Oregon, but after spending three 
months in Oregon City went to Thurston county, Washington, where he was 
employed in a sawmill for three years and a half. On the expiration of that 
time he took up a claim. Upon that land, which was entirely wild and unde­
veloped, he built a little log cabin with a clapboard roof and began Ii fe there in 
true pioneer style, experiencing the hardships and privations _incident to the set­
tlement of the frontier. Upon that place he lived for several years and his 
labors wrought a marked change in its appearance, for he broke the sod, tilled 
the fields and in course of time gathered good harvests. He afterward pur­
chased more land in that locality. The years were fraught not only with much 
hard labor but with other experiences of pioneer life. In 1855 and 1856 Mr. 
Martin was engaged in fighting the Indians and became familiar with all of the 
treacherous methods of Indian warfare. Later he c~ncentrated his efforts upon 
farming and as the years passed his labors were crowned with a substantial 
measure of success. ~ 

On December 14. 1856, Mr. Martin was united in marriage to Miss Ann E. 
Yantis, who was born in Missouri in 1840 and l;>y whom he had five children, 
as follows: John F.; J. A.; Catherine, who is the wife of L. H. Koontz, of Pasco, 
Washington; William E.; and one who died in infancy. 

It ·was in 1872 that Mr. Martin brought his family to the Walla Walla valley, 
where he has since lived, covering a period of forty-five years. Here he was 

engaged in the stock business until 1880 and then removed to Walla Walla and 
turned his attention to mercantile pursuits. In 1886 he entered a railroad office 
at Wallula, where he remained for nine years, and at the end of that time located 
on a ranch on Snake river, living there for three years. The following year was 
spent in Walla Walla and he next owned and occupied a ranch on Hudson Bay 
in Oregon for three years. On selling that place he returned to Washington 
and has lived in Touchet since 19or. He purchased a store in Touchet which 
he carried on for some time but at length sold that property and retired from 
active business life, so that he is now enjoying a rest which he has truly earned 
and richly deserves. ·He owns seven acres of land in the village of Touchet, 
upon which he has a comfortable and attractive residence and is now pleasantly 
situated there. 



Michael Kenney 
The 18S8 expedition of Colonel Steptoe 

and his subsequent defeat by the Indians 
took place near present-day Rosalia, Washington, 

as recounted by Mr. Kenney. 

Mi~ael ~enney was born at Castlecomer, Ireland, September 21, 1831. 
He amved m New York, July, 1853, having made the journey on a sailing 

vessel which required seven weeks. At that time he remembers that there 
was but one trans-Atlantic steamer. 

New York, the metropolis of America, was a small place then. On Forty­
second street there were only two small houses. 

America made a favorable impression on the new-comer, except the New 
York su?'mer, _which was _altogether too warm. On one occasion he got up 
at two o dock m the mommg and took a plunge in the Hudson for comfort. 
Although he felt the heat severely, he went to work in the Fall at carpentry 
and received $3.00 a week for his services. 

February, 1854, he enlisted at-Governor's island, in the United States ar­
my. Uncle Sam's fighting force was in its infancy then. It consisted of two 
regiments of Dragoons and one regiment of mounted riflemen. The latter 
was organized to fight Indians in Texas. 

Mr. Kenney with others who had enlisted were taken to Jefferson bar­
racks, Missouri, and later to Fort Leavenworth, where their numbers were 
increased by more recruits. From this place, under the command of Col. 
Steptoe, the force started westward with Salt Lake City its destination 
where it arrived in September and spent the winter. The city was surround: 
ed by a wall eight or nine feet high and about two and one-half miles long 
by one and one-half miles wide. 

'We had our first experience with Indians in Utah," remarked Mr. Ken­
ney. 

. "In ~853 an eminent entomologist, under military escort, Captain Gun­
nison m command, went on a searching expedition into Southern Utah to 
c~Ilect bugs fo~ the cabinets of some Eastern institution. The entire party, 
with the exception of three soldiers, were killed by Indians. Colonel Steptoe 
went out to chastise the Indians for. these murders. Near Sand Pete the chiefs 
ga~e up three I~dians; these were tried at Salt Lake City by a Monnon jury, 
which brought m a verdict of manslaughter. 

"In May our forces were divided. Fifty of our men, under Lieutenant 
Maurey, went to San Antonio, New Mexico, headquarters for the First 
Dragoons, Colonel Steptoe, with two companies of artillery, went to San 
Francisco, t fifty dragoons, of which I was one, 0e to Fo~t-~e. 
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Oregon. We arrived there in July, 1855. We experienced some real Indian 
warfare here with the Rogue River Indians. We met the red men twice in 
battle, at Cow Creek on October 31, and at the Big Bend in May or June, 
both desperately fought battles. . 

"Three chiefs had a conference with Col. Buchanan, about five miles dis­
tant from Big Bend. Two acceded to the Colonel's wish to go upon a reser­
vation he had selected, but the third openly refused. The consenting chiefs 
asked that Troop C would meet them about three miles from the command, 
that they might have a conference with Captain A.J. Smith. The request 
was granted and the troops moved to the appointed place for the council 
and camped. A friendly Indian notified the captain soon after dark that the 
Indians intended making a night attack on the camp. 

''Lieutenant Switzler selected a place to make a stand for a battle on a 
height, and we traveled all night, carrying our camp par~phernalia on our 
backs to the place, which we reached early in the morning. 

"The Indians came to our new stand and wanted to mingle with the 
troopers, but Captain gave orders to keep all Indians out of the camp. 

"Indians were gathering from every direction. About seven o'clock they 
opened fire on us, which did not cease, except in the dar~ess of night, until 
we were reinforced by Troop G from Colonel Buchanan s command. 

''The Indians climbed up in the great oak trees near us and fired, while the 
Indians on the ground loaded and passed the guns to the men up in the trees. 

"One man passed the enemy's cordon by crawling on hand and knees 
through the thick underbrush at night and reached the command. Company 
G was sent to our relief. At its coming the Indians retreated and ceased 
hostilities. 

'We had been surrounded by Indians and cut off from water for forty­
eight hours. The Indians had evidently been severely punished, too, for 
they came in next day and surrendered. They were marched to Port Orford, 
where a coast steamer waited to take the Rogue River Indians and some 
tribes that lived on the immediate coast, to Fort Yamhill. The Rogue River 
Indians could not be induced to go aboard the steamer; they were afraid of 
the water. They willingly marched along the beach, a distance of 100 mi~es, 
to the Grand Ronde reservation, set apart for them, where, for nearly fifty 
years they have maintained the most friendly relations with their white 
neighbors." 

At Fort Yamhill, Mr. Kenney states, Phil Sheridan was quartennaster and 
Dr. Gleeson, after whom one of the principal streets in Portland was nam­
ed, the physician. Later Fort Yamhill was named Sheridan in honor of t~e 
distinction won by General Sheridan. The winter of 1856-7 was spent at this 
place. Mr. Kenney and Mr. McEvoy arrived on the present_ si~e of Walla 
Walla in 1857. It was occupied then by the Cantonment, consisting of a few 
log huts on the present site of East Main street, west of Palouse, those on the 
south were the homes of the officers and the ones on the north, ba{"',.ks for 
the soldiers. These huts were built the fall of 1856 by the soldiers there 
was no feed obtainable for the horses h~re at that time, they were sent to 
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Vancouver, then occupied by officers of the Hudson Bay Company, for the 
winter and Mr. Kenney was one of the number sent on this errand. In this 
valley noted far and near for its many productive fields of grain and hay, 
then it was necessary to wait until the grass grew in the spring to bring the 
horses back, on account of the lack of forage. At this time the Americans 
and British were surveying the boundary line between Washington territory 
and British America. May 6, 1858, an expedition to Colville started, com­
posed of 152 men in command of Col. Steptoe, who had been ordered to 
this place by the department commander to settle some trouble between the 
miners there and the Indians, and to locate a camp for the surveying parties 
for the winter. 

Peace had been established here at the Indian council, held in 1855 and 
Col. Steptoe had no anticipation of meeting hostile Indians. Chief Timothy 
and Sub-Chief Levi, both Nez Perce Indians accompanied the expedition as 
guides; rendered most valuable aid. Orders were given that all sabers be left 
at home; guns were taken as all soldiers are supposed to carry a gun. Two 
howitzers were taken, Mr. Kenney thinks probably more for show than use. 

There were no ferries nor bridges then and crossing Snake river was a 
problem that confronted the troops. At this critical point Timothy ~astered 
the difficulty. The crossing was to be made from the home of T1mot~y's 
tribe. The squaws took the s~ldiers, saddles, blankets, food, etc., into 
canoes, and rowed them across the river, which is estimated to be a quarter 
of a mile wide at this point. The Indian men on their cayuses compelled the 
horses to swim across. The crossing was accomplished in a single day. 

"In the forenoon of Sunday, May 16, (at Rock Creek) the Indians first 
showed themselves. The command stopped, and Colonel Steptoe talked 
with the chiefs. They did not want the troops to go into their country and 
positively refused to take the command across the Spokane River, and 
made a most warlike demonstration during the holding of the conference. 

"Naked Indians, in war paint, on horses having a coat of paint, circled 
around the troops, giving the war whoop. One had the audacity to spit in 
Captain Taylor's face. 

"As it was impossible to reach the intended destination without the 
canoes to cross the Spokane River, Colonel Steptoe started on a retreat 
homeward Monday. A priest from Coeur d'Alene Mission overtook the 
command shortly after it started, and told the Colonel that the Indians in­
tended to attack him; that he could control the Coeur d' Alenes, but the 
others he had no influence over. 

"Indians appeared soon after we started. About eight o'clock, as we 
struck Pine Creek (five miles from present-day Rosalia), the Indians in the 
timber attacked us in the front, on the right and on the left. Lieutenant 
Gaston, at the head, gave the command to charge up the hill. The whole 
command followed, covering the pack train. The howitzers were taken off 
t~}"'ules and turned upon the Indians with such a leaden hail, ~ith aid of(a 
Ct\_ ! from the troops, that the hostiles retreated. The howitzers we 
again packedJ11?;,"'and the retreat resumed." __ ., _ _ . _ , 

When asked if he could give an estimate of the warriors engaged, Kenney 
replied, "I could not. The hills were full of them. There were the Palouse, 
Colville, Spokane, Yakima and other tribes. 

"As the troop moved down into Cash Creek, Lieutenant Gaston, Com­
pany E, commanded the left wing; Captain Taylor, Company C, the right 
wing and rear; Col. Steptoe, with Lieutenant Gregg, Company H, were in 
front with the pack train. The Indians tried to circle in between us and the 
pack train. It was a running fight for two hours. At the end of this time 
Lieutenant Gaston was killed. News was brought to Col. Steptoe five 
minutes later that Captain Taylor was killed. Captain, Taylor's bodv was 

brought in, but two men were killed and three wounded in doing it. 
''The men with Lieutenant Gaston were unable to get his body. Their 

revolvers were empty, their rifles were strapped on their backs and they had 
no sabers. · 

"A camp was made on a hill commanding Cash Creek. Captain Taylor 
was buried here, amid the flying bullets of the Indians. One man was 
wounded who was assisting in the burial. 

"About noon the Indians made camp, probably to get dinner, but return­
ed in a few hours and continued the battle, trying several times to charge the 
camp, but were repulsed. 

"About 2:00 o'clock the ammunition gave out with some of the men on 
the outer post. A messenger was sent to the camp for more, when it was 
discovered that the three cases ordered to be brought had been left at Walla 
Walla. When this discovery was made, Lieutenant Wheeler, who succeeded 
Captain Taylor, sent out among the troops and gathered up all the ammuni­
tion among the men, and found that there were three bullets to each man 
and six over. I was sent to distribute the six to the men at the front. 

"A council of war was called about 2:30 o'clock by Colonel Steptoe. No 
sabers and no ammunition meant annihilation or retreat. Retreat was the 
alternative. 

''The Indians drew off about dusk. The howitzers were buried where the 
trampling horses destroyed all trace of the work. Five or six mules were 
loaded each with one sack of flour. One man was detailed to lead a mule 
and another to drive the animal. Men were ordered to leave blankets, all 
clothing except what they wore and everything else that could lighten the 
burden of the horses. 

''Nine men, of whom I was one, kept watch on the Indians while the com­
mand made ready for the retreat, which began at moonrise, about 9:00 
o'clock. When the escape had been safely effected, a messenger was sent to 
us to leave our post and follow. We went to the camp, saddled our horses 
and joined the retreating column. 

''The Indians wanted the pack train more than they wanted us, and I con­
sider that Colonel Steptoe's judgment in leaving it behind was all that saved 
us. Besides its value to them, they did not watch our moveme{ 'S long as 
they could see the animals at the camp. 

, . . r.:7_ ' 'ti I 'I ') 



( 

"It was pitch dark some of the time that night, and had it not been for the 
guidance of the Nez Perce chiefs we would not have reached safety. This 
was not the only service our Nez Perce friends did for us. We reached Snake 
River Tuesday night and slept that night. Wednesday morning the Indians 
rowed us across the river in their canoes, spending the entire day in this 
work. They also swam our horses across, by their superior knowledge of 
horseflesh and possibilities. We could not compel, coax or persuade a horse 
to take the water, but our Nez Perces had little difficulty in accomplishing 
the feat. The horses were tired and hungry, and a swim of nearly a mile was 
a task they rebelled against." 

'Were the Indians ever recompensed for this work?" 
''No. They never received a dollar for this hard work. 
"At a camp on Alpowa Creek Wednesday, we had our first meal since 

Monday morning. Each of us was given a quart of flour. On pieces of can­
vas and flat stones we mixed some water with this and baked it on stones 
around the camp fire; some twisted the dough around dry twigs and cooked 
it before the fire. It had no salt or baking powder, but it tasted as good to 
me as any bread I ever ate. 

"Captain Dent met us the next day with a six-mule team and provisions. 
We made a camp at the present site of Pomeroy and we had a good meal. 

''What do you think of some of the criticisms reflecting on the bravery of 
Colonel Steptoe?" 

"I consider them unjust and most unreasonable. His retreat was not 
cowardly, but was the only thing he could do and he did it well. I have the 
first one yet to hear say that Steptoe was a coward, of all the men who 
fought under him; none others are capable of judging. 

"Critics who have reached our land, once a savage wild, by way of the 
palace car, and fight Indian battles in the comfortable chairs of the modem 
parlor, don't have very hard fighting. If these latter day heroes and heroines 
were fighting as we were, without ammunition, 100 miles from everywhere, 
in a strange country, surrounded by the Lord knows how many Indians, 
then thev would have some experience." 

( ( 



J.J. Rohn 
Colonel Wright's expedition to punish 

the hostile Indians of the Inland Empire 
for the attack on Steptoe's troops earlier that year 

is the subject of].]. Rohn's account. 

"0 ur forces consisted of 150 dragoons and our attack on the Indians: who 
numbered close to 500, was a success in every particular. There was simply 
nothing to the skirmish for as we rode into the redmen, we rushed, ~outed 
and scattered them in all directions before one could say Jae~. Robinso~. 
Best of all we didn't lose a man during the engagement. In additio~ to their 
home made implements of war many of the Indians were armed with Hud­
son Bay rifles and why they didn't put up a stiffer fight is somet~ing that 
will always remain a mystery to me. When the fight started the Indians were 
rigged out in all kind of fancy trappings; the head-d~ess~ of ?1any 
presented a novel sight, in fact, the Indian warriors we met m this particular 
engagement, looked altogether as if they were equipped for a Fourth of July 
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parade. After the skirmish was over and the majority of Indians had made 
their escape the battle ground was littered with feathers and Indian fancy 
trinkets of almost every description. Accompanying our troop was a 
number of friendly Cayuse Indians who were not slow in picking up the 
trappings left behind by the routed foe. Incidentally these friendly Cayuses 
also did a little scalping. Every dead Indian they ran across was scalped by 
them. Especially did one Indian, well known throughout the country at that 
time as 'Cut Mouth John', do much effective work in the scalping line 
among the dead of our enemies. The Indians made much ado about the 
scalps that fell to them so easily and that evening they celebrated on a big 
scale by holding a 'scalp' dance." 

The troopers saw a dust a -few days later, up in the mountains near Liber­
ty lake. It was caused by the Indians driving a band of horses. The troopers 
were sent after them. The Indians fled leaving all the loose horses. These 
were driven down to a corral where the Indians shut them up when they 
desired. There were more than a thousand of these horses. The Nez Perce 
Indians were given 130 of these and some of the officers took some of them 
the rest 986 were shot to death in the corral. It took two days to accomplish 
this slaughter of the innocents. 

This was not all of the lesson. Seven Indian storehouses fitted with wheat 
were burned. It was a terrible lesson but it settled the peace question and the 
Indians have been friends of the white man ever since. 

On the return trip Mr. Rohn with a detachment of 25 men was sent to the 
Steptoe battlefield and secured the remains of the slain and conveyed them 
to this place and they were buried in the military cemetery just west of Ft. 
Walla Walla. Captain Taylor was the only one of the slain that was buried 
on the battlefield. 

Later the remains of Captain Taylor and Lieutenant Gaston were remov­
ed to the military cemetery at West Point. 

Two howitzers buried by the troopers before the retreat, were dug up and 
brought here by Mr. Rohn and men. It is not known what became of them 
although it is claimed that one is in Spokane. 

( 



On March 1, 1843, Captain Bonneville travelled through Dayton to get to Fort Nez Perces (Walla Walla) 

at Wallula. In his records, he remarks on the beauty of the area. Later, in October of 1843, Samuel 

Parker along with Marcus Whitman travelled through Columbia County on their return trip to the fort 

after talking to Chief Lawyer of the Nez Perce about the "book of heaven". 

On July 13, 1858, a pack train moved through the area that was later to become Columbia County. The 

thirteen packers were led by W.J. Linday. They had an army escort of fifty men from Company F, of the 

Ninth Infantry, led by Second Lieutenant Nathaniel Wickliff. The men had ridden from Fort Walla Walla 

and were bringing supplies to Colonel Wright. Wright's column was moving along the Snake River near 

Rock Creek in pursuit of Spokane, Cayuse, and Palouse Indians after Colonel Steptoe's defeat. The 

packers and their escort reached the area of the confluence of Patit Creek with the Touchet River (near 

Dayton's Main Street Bridge). The young lieutenant ordered the men to make camp in a clearing near 

some trees on the south bank of the Touchet River opposite the mouth of Patit Creek. 

At about 5:00 PM, seventy Cayuse Indians came down the hill from the north bank of the Touchet River. 

According to source, this attack was near the old Brooklyn Mills. The Indian formation rode along the 

Patit River firing at the soldiers and packers camp. Wickliff moved his men from the camp and formed a 

skirmish line along the river bank and began exchanging fire with the Indians. 

The packers had their cargo packs and animals in the trees, and from the campground they observed 

that the attacking Indians were circling and firing. They noticed that the Cayuse passed nearby the Patit 

with each circuit they made. The packers were armed with Navy Colt cap and ball revolvers and they 

saw an opportunity to spring an ambush on the Cayuse who were occupied with the soldiers. The men 

snuck under the river banks, waded over the Touchet River and emerged on the Indians as they made 

one of their wheeling turns, rising from behind the bank of the Patit and emptying their .30 caliber Navy 

Colt pistols into their attackers at short range. At the end of the fight, the Indians rode back whence 

they had come, leaving eleven Indians dead and quite a number of dead ponies. 

Wickliff's troop suffered two killed and three wounded. Their Jaeger rifles no doubt contributed to the 

Indian casualties. 

The junior officer was appointed to his commission from civilian life on June 18, 1855 to the 9th Infantry. 

Less than a month later the green lieutenant was in combat. Source: Army Appointments, General 

Orders - No. 10, War Dept., Adjutant General's Office, Washington DC, July 19, 1855. After the war, he 

served as a subaltern to John Mullan as a first lieutenant as part of his military Road Expedition in 1861. 

- Special Orders #SO, 1861. 

In August, construction of Fort Taylor was overseen by Captain E.D. Keyes and Lt. John Mullan. The two 

men were assisted by a company of dragoons and five companies of artillery. Thirty Nez Perce scouts 

faithfully accompanied the expedition, wearing US Army uniforms. The secondary mission of the group 

~ was to survey a military reservation near the fort. 



.~ Timbers were cut and shaped for the buildings and foundations. Most of the construction was of native 

stone. When George Hunter and his Grange Association built a warehouse in 1875 at Grange City, they 

used the remnants of these massive (12 inch x 12 inch) timbers. When the warehouse was moved to 

Starbuck, the same timbers provided the foundations of the Oregon Railroad and Navigation Company 

building which their rail line served. 

-ppage 87-89 Starbuck 1882-1982. W. F. Fletcher, Ye Galleon Press, Fairfield, WA, 1982. 





JOHN SINGLETON. 

John Singleton was one of the earliest of ·walla vValla's pioneers, arnvmg 
here in 1857, and to the time of his death he was prominently, actively and help­
fully associated with the work of development and progress in this section of 
the state. He was born in County Cork, Ireland, in 1824, and was educated under 
private tutors. On the 22d of April, 1847, he was married in Queens county, 
Ireland, to Miss Frances Jane Gowan and two years later they crossed the 
Atlantic to the United States, settling in New York, where he at once enlisted 
for service in the army. He was sent to Texas as quartermaster's clerk under 
.:\Iajor Bilger and the command was stationed in the Alamo at San Antonio, 
Texas, his office being in the very room where Colonel Davy Crockett was killed. 
He remained in Texas in the service of the government for six years and was 
then honorably discharged, after which he returned to \Vashington, D. C. Sub­
sequently he occupied a clerical position for six months in the old arsenal. He 
then went to Daltimore, Maryland. In 1856 Mr. Singleton again enlisted in the 
army for service on the Pacific coast, believing that the change of climate would 
Lencfit his failing health. He made his ,vay westward by way of the Isthmus 
of Panama and thence northward to Vancouver, \Vashington, where he was 
stationed for ten months. His company afterward took part in the war with 
the Yakima Indians, having several sharp engagements with them in the Cas­
cade mountains. His command was led by Captain 'Winder and the Indians 
Ly Chief Camiachan. .-\fter subduing the red men Captain \Vinder's command 
built a fort and remained in the Cascades for about a year, but later was trans­
ferred to The Dalles, Oregon, and in the spring of 1857 arrived at Fort Walla 
\Valla, where l\Ir. Singleton remained in the service until 1861, when he was 
honorably discharged, his term having expired. While he was still engaged in 
military duty here the Indians from several tribes joined in hostilities to prevent 
Captain l\Iullen opening a military road across the Rocky and Coeur d'Alene 
mountains to the Columbia river. l\fr. Singleton was in Colonel Steptoe's com­
mand, which met the allied tribes in the memorable engagement of Steptoe 
Butte, which was of several days' duration. The whites, being greatly outnum­
bered. suffered a disastrous defeat and were driven back to the Snake river in 
great disorder. In this engagement Mr. Singleton ha·d a very narrow escape 
from death. He became separated from his comrades in the retreat and after 
wandering around nearly all night came upon a band of friendly Kez Perce 
Indians, who conducted him to the Clearwater river, ferried him across and 

directed him to the camp of his company, who had reported to his wife that he 
had died. Colonel Wright soon came up from The Dalles with a thousand 
men, and being thus reenforced, the troops began an active campaign against 
the Indians. In a short time the American army had scattered, captured or 
killed the entire tribe. Some were hanged in the mountains but the most noted 
leaders were brou.ght to '\Valla vValla, where seven of them were hanged in the 
public square in the rear of the garrison. During his service in Fort Walla 
Walla, Mr. Singleton did most of the work of keeping the records of the post, in 
the performance of which duty he was compelled to use an old-fashioned quill 
pen. 

Mrs. Singleton had purchased a squatter's right from Captain Pierce, and 
on Mr. Singleton's discharge he retired to the homestead, which has beeti the 
place of residence of the family continuously since. It is said that the money 
which Captain Pierce obtained for his squatter's right enabled him to open the 
Orofino mining district, of which he was the first prospector. 

Mr. Singleton died at the old home on December: 28, 1893, and there his 
widow and two daughters still reside. Mrs. Singleton is now in her· ninetieth 
year but for some time past has been an invalid. To Mr. and Mrs. Singleton 
were born six children : _Catherine, who is the widow of Thomas Tierney and 
resides in San Francisco; Frank E.; William H., who is deceased; Elizabeth and 
Eudora M., who are at home; and Esther Belle, who gave her hand in marriage 
to J. W. Brooks, a prominent attorney of Walla Walla. 



FRANK SINGLETON. 

There are few residents of Walla Walla who can claim connection with the 
city from 1857. The memory of Frank Singleton, however, harks back to the 
period when this was a frontier fort and the work of progress and civilization 
had scarcely been begun in all this ~ection of the country. The Indians were more 
numerous than the white settlers and only here and there had some venture­
some spirit penetrated into the western wild~rness to plant the seeds of civilization. 
Frank Singleton, who is now extensively interested in mining and is engaged 
in the real estate business in Walla Walla, was but six years of age at the time 
of his arrival in WashinJ?ton. He was born in San Antonio, Texas, November 7, 

1850, and after the removal of the family to the northwest pursued his educa­
tion in the public and parochial schools of Walla Walla. On reaching manhood 
he engaged in the live stock business, with which he was prominently identified 
for many years. At one time he was a heavy holder of farm lands, but in 1916 
he sold his farm north of Prescott, comprising six hundrcli acres, which was 
the last of his farm possessions. For the past twelve years he has been prom­
inently identified with mining and has large holdings in mining property. For 
six years he has been engaged in the real estate business in Walla Walla and has 
negotiated many important realty transfers. In a word, he is a progressive 
business man, alert and energetic, his activities guided by sound judgment, while 
his laudable ambition has brought to him gratifying success. 

In July, 1907, Mr. Singleton was united in marriage to l\Irs. Martha White, 
who in her maidenhood \Vas l\Iiss Kidwell, a daughter of James Kidwell, who 
in 1863 cast in his lot with the pioneer settlers of Walla Walla. By her former 
marriage Mrs. Singleton had two sons: \Valter, \vho is engaged in farming in 
\,Valla Walla county; and Vivian, who is a farmer of Franklin county. Mr. 
and Mrs. Singleton are widely and favorably known in the city and surround­
ing country, having an extensive circle of friends, while the hospitality of the 
best homes is freely accorded them. With every phase of pioneer Ii fe and of 
the later development and progress of the Gounty th,:1 · are familiar, having 
been interested witnesses of the gro~vth and upbuilding of ~is section o!_, the 
state from early pioneer times. · &~ ff .,,. ~ 6 



WILLIA)[ C. PA1);TER 

W ILLIA:\I CHARLES PAINTER. 

The days of chivalry and knighthood in Europe cannot furnish more inter­
esting or romantic tales than our own western history. Into the wild mountain 
fastnesses of the unexplored west went brave men whose courage ,ms often called 
forth in encounters with hostile savages. The land was rich in all natural re­
sources, in metals, in agricultura l and commercial possibilities, and awaited the 
de·mands of man to yield up its treasures. But its mountain heights were hard to 
climb, its forests difficult to penetrate and the magnificent trees. the dense bushes 
or jagged rocks often sheltered the skulking foe, who resented the encroachment 
of the pale faces upon these "hunting grounds." The establishment of homes in 
this beautiful region therefore meant sacrifices, hardships and ofttimes death, but 
there were some men, howe,·er, bra,·e enough to meet the red man in his own 
familiar haunts and undertake the task of reclaiming the district for purposes of 
civilization. The rich mineral stores of the northwest were thus added to the 
wealth of the nation, its magnificent forests contributed to the lumber industry 
and its fertile valleys added to the opportunities of the farmer and stock raiser ; and 
today the northwest is one of the most productive sections of the entire country. 
That this is so is due to such men as "William Charles Painter, whose name is in­
separably interwoven with the history of the region. No story of fiction contains 
more exciting chapters than may be found in his life record. He was one of the 
most prominent of those who engaged in Indian warfare and fo r many years he 
was also a leading figure in the agricultu ral development of this section of the 
state. ·walla \,Valla numbered him among h~r most honored and valued citizens 
and his death was the occasion of deep and widespread regret. 



William C. Painter was born in St. Genevieve, Missouri, April 18, 1830, 
and there the earliest years of his life were passed. His paternal ancestors came 
from Mercer county, Pennsylvania. His mother, who bore the maiden name of 
Jean Moore, was a daughter of Major Robert Moore, a veteran of the ·war of 
1812 and well known in connection with the early history of Oregon. In 1850 
the father with his family started for Oregon, but when the Little Blue river 
was reached the father and two of the sons died of cholera. The mother and the 
surviving children continued the journey westward with sore hearts but with un­
daunted courage and finally reached· Washington county, Oregon, where donation 
land claims were secured. 

There William C. Painter resided until 1863 and was prominently identified 
with the early development of that section. At the time of the Indian war of 
1855 he was one of the first to enlist, becoming a member of Company D, First 

Oregon Mounted Volunteers, which command fought the Indians for four 
days near \,Valla Walla, finally routing the red men, who retreated to the Palouse 
country. In this 'and many other engagements of the Indian war Mr. Painter dis­
tinguished himself for bravery. He remained with his company until the close of 
hostilities. In 1855 certain young ladies of the Forest Grove Academy, now the 
Tualitin Academy and the Pacific University, presented the company with a flag. 
Mr. Painter's comrades in arms voted that he should become its bearer and 
the starry banner finally came into his exclusive possession and is still carefully 
preserved in the Painter household as a priceless relic. Upon its field there are 
but twenty-one stars and c:in the flag, inscribed in large letters, are the words, 
"Co. D, First Oregon Vol., 1855-6." In the war against the Bannock and Piute 
Indians in 1878, Mr. Painter again engaged in fighting the red men. He was 
appointed by Governor Ferry captain of a company of forty-two men and was 
assigned to duty on the gunboat Spokane under command of Major Cress of 
the regular army. The first engagement in which he participated was at Long 
Island in the Columbia river below Umatilla, in which the whites were successful. 
Major Cress, in a letter to Mr. Painter written from Jefferson Barracks, Missouri, 
under date of April 15, I8gi, speaks very highly of the assistance which the latter 
rendered. After this engagement, in recognition of his valuable service, he was 
made aid-de-camp on the staff of Governor Ferry, with the rank of lieutenant colo­
nel, and was placed in command of forty-two men. He was then sent to eastern 
Oregon to assist in defending the people against the Indians who had recently 
been defeated by General 0. 0. Howard. He passed south of the retreating 
bands to Camas Prairie with a view of intercepting the retreat. The hostile sav­
ages, learning of his position, by a circuitous route passed around him and es­
caped, but he captured enough horses to pay the entire expenses of his com­
mand. Although no battle was fought in that campaign, it ·was considered so 
hazardous that an off er of ten dollars per day for guides was not sufficient to cause 
anyone to accept an<l run the risk. In his official report, General 0. 0. Howard, 
quoting Captain John A. Cress, said: ''Captain 'William C. Painter and the forty­
two volunteers from \Valla \Valla deserve praise for good conduct and bravery, 
not excepting my Vancouver regiment and Captain Gray, with officers and crew 
of the steamer Spokane, who stood firmly at their posts under fire." 

·when the country no longer needed his military aid Captain Painter became 
a clerk for Flanders & Felton of \Vallula, and when the senior member was elected 
to congress in 1867, Captain Painter took charge of the business. He also became 
postmaster of \Yallula and the agent for the \Yells Fargo Express Company. 
Returning to \Valla \,Valla, he was appointed deputy collector of internal revenue 
for eastern \Vashington and in November, 1870, he resigned that position, al­
though his resignation was not accepted until the following May. After retiring 
from office he made some unfortunate mill investments, in which he lost every­
thing that he had saved. \Vith courageous spirit, however, he again became a 
wage earner and was thus employed until 1876, when he was appointed receiver 
of the United States land office and occupied that position in most satisfactory 
manner until 1878, when he was elected county auditor. He served for four con­
secutive terms in that position and the 'Waitsburg Times of March II, 1887, in 
speaking of him at his retirement from office, designated him as "the ·best auditor 
Walla Walla county ever had." He ever regarded a public office as a public 



trust and it is well knO\vn that no trust reposed in Captain Painter was ever 
betrayed in the slightest degree. Upon his retirement from the position of county 
auditor he concentrated his attention on farming, having fifteen hundred acres in 
the Eureka flats. While th.us engaged he still occupied the old home on South 
Third street in Walla \Valla, where the family still reside. He was thus extensivly 
engaged in general agricultural pursuits and continued his farming operations 
until about two years prior to his death. 

On the 7th of January, 1864, Captain Painter was married to Miss Caroline 
1\fitcheU, the only daughter of Judge I. Mitchell, of l\Iultnomah county, Oregon, 
and their children are: Philip M., a resident of Walla Walla county; Charles S., 
of 1fontana; Maude :\I., the wife of Garrett D' Ablaing of Ellensburg; Harry M., 
a Congregational minister of Seattle; Bonnie Jean, the wife of R. F. ~facLane of 
Walla Walla; Marguerite M., the wife of Herbert Gall of Sascatoon, Canada; 
RoyR., deceased; Rex M., of \Valla ·walla county; Caroline :vr., the wife of H. 
J. \Volff of Seattle; and Bruce I., of San Francisco. The family circle was 
broken by the hand of death when on the 4th of December, 1900, Captain Painter 
died of paralysis. For some time he was a vestryman of the Episcopal church 
which the family attend. His political allegiance had always been gi,·en to the 
republican party from the time of its organization and he was a most faithful 
follower of its principles. It is said that at every demonstration of a patriotic 
nature Captain Painter was called upon to take his place among the leaders, 
with his battle-scarred Indian war flag. His patriotic sentiments led him to 
take a prominent part in the Pioneer Association of Oregon and he always made 
a special effort to be present at its meetings. He was also active among the 
Indian War Veterans and was the first grand commander of the organization. 
For years he belonged to the Ancient Order of United Workmen. He gave 
devoted loyalty to every cause which he espoused and his is a most notable and 
honorable record of a pioneer, a valiant soldier and one of nature's noblemen. 

½11~ //le, 
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COLO NEL WILLIAM HA YENS MILLER. 

Colonel William Havens Miller, whose life was spent in the military service 
of his country, was under all circumstances an officer and a gentleman. He was 
born at Tuscaloosa, Alabama, January 31, 1849, and on the 14th of June, 1872, 
was graduated from the United States Military Academy at West. Point and 
was assigned to duty with the First Cavalry. vVhile with that regiment he par­
ticipated in all the Indian wars in the Rocky mountains and on the Pacific coast 
and won frequent promotion in recognition of his efficiency and gallantry. 
Among the important campaigns in which he took part were: the Modoc war, 
which lasted from November, 1872, until June, 1873; the Nez Perce war, from 
June to October, 1877; the Bannock campaign, from June to September, 1878; 
and a minor engagement at Meacham's, in the Blue mountains of Oregon, in 
August, 1878. H e was promoted to first lieutenant in the First Cavalry, l'.Iarch 
4, 1879. From May, 1877, to March, 1887, he served as quartermaster in the 
field and in garrison and during the greater part of that time, or from August 
15, 1878, to March 31, 1887, he was regimental quartermaster. On the 28th of 
F ebruary, 189c, he was brevetted first lieutenant for "gallant services in action 
against Indians at the Lava Beds, Cali fornia, April 17, 1873, and gallant and 
meritorious conduct during the Modoc war." In 1896-7 he was employed in the 
designing and building of Fort George Wright, a military post at Spokane, Wash­
ington, being in charge of the work until December, 1898, at which time the post 


